
Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee Meeting 
Wednesday, April 25, 2018 

  
 
John A. Cherberg Building, Capitol Campus 
Senate Hearing Room 3 
Olympia, WA 98504 
2:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Call to Order: Welcome & Member Introductions 
      

 
• Approval of the Meeting Minutes      ACTION 

January 17, March 19, and April 10, 2018 
 

• Director’s Report        INFORMATION 
Betty Lochner, GET Director 
 

• GET Investment Update       INFORMATION 
Chris Phillips, Washington State Investment Board   
 

• DreamAhead Development Update     INFORMATION/ACTION 
Luke Minor, GET Senior Associate Director 
 

• SB 6087 Implementation Update      DISCUSSION/ACTION 
Betty Lochner and Luke Minor 
 

• Public Comment 
 

• Adjournment  
 
 
 
 
 

Next Regularly Scheduled Meeting: 
September 19, 2018 

John A. Cherberg Building, Olympia 
Senate Hearing Room 3 

2:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 

 
 



GET Committee Meeting
April 25, 2018

1



Welcome

Approve Meeting Minutes
• January 17, 2018
• March 19, 2018
• April 10, 2018

2



Director’s Report
Betty Lochner
GET Director

• Updates
• GET Enrollment Statistics
• GET Distributions and Non-Penalty Refunds

3



Director’s Report
2017-18 Enrollment Statistics
(as of April 20, 2018)

• New enrollments (applications received): 3,705
• 43% of total new enrollments goal

• New units purchased/contracted: 485,042
• 35% of total unit sales goal

• Total contributions received: $52 million
• Total includes payments on existing 

custom monthly plan accounts

4



Director’s Report
Distributions for Current College Students
(for payment of higher education expenses – as of April 20, 2018)

• 2017-18 academic year:
• Total dollars distributed: $111 Million
• Total students using units: 13,100

• Since program inception:
• Total dollars distributed: $1.11 Billion
• Total students who have used units: 51,900

5



Director’s Report
Non-Penalty Refund Update
(September 2, 2015 – April 20, 2018)

• Number of requests received and processed:
• Non-penalty refunds: 22,982
• Outgoing rollovers: 2,522

• Estimated dollar value of processed requests:
• Non-penalty refunds: $436 Million
• Outgoing rollovers: $61 Million

• Overall account statistics:
• Remaining total active accounts: 95,800
• Remaining purchased units: 15.4 Million

6



Washington State 
Investment Board

Chris Phillips
Institutional Relations Director

GET Investment Report
April 25, 2018



Cash
9.58% Fixed 

Income
33.57%

Equity
56.86%

GET Market Values, Asset Allocation, Targets and Ranges
March 31, 2018

Page 8

Total $2,165,484,184
Cash $207,372,814
Fixed Income $726,850,660
Equity $1,231,260,709

30.0%
40.0%

0.0%

50.0%

70.0%

20.0%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%

Allocation

Fixed Income Public Equity Cash

Actual Allocation
Mar. 2017
Mar. 2018

2018 Range



GET Net Contributions and Growth of Assets
March 31, 2018

Page 9

33.5
56.3

57.5

86.1

12.9 0.7

-1.5 -5.5

-245.7

-48.4 -31.7

983
862

1,337

1,735
1,958

2,246
2,509 2,637

2,188 2,136 2,165

-300

-250

-200

-150

-100

-50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

-3,000

-2,500

-2,000

-1,500

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 in

 M
ill

io
ns

As
se

t S
iz

e 
in

 M
ill

io
ns

Net Contributions

Growth of Assets



Total Return

Equity Return 

Fixed Income Return

GET Performance
March 31, 2018

Page 10
Fixed Income Benchmark: Bloomberg Barclays Intermediate Credit and a historical blended return
Equity Benchmark: MSCI ACWI IMI w/U.S. Gross and a historical blended return

-0.97%

8.94%
5.72% 6.30% 5.55%

-0.85%

9.13% 
5.64% 6.16% 5.41% 

1.63%
5.61% 5.12% 4.63% 4.82%

1st Qtr. 2018 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

GET College Tuition Program Passive Benchmark CPI (inflation) + 3.25%

-0.84%

15.34% 
8.80% 9.85% 

6.61% 

-0.83%

15.37% 
8.61% 9.67% 

6.52% 

1st Qtr. 2018 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Equity Equity Benchmark

-1.37%

1.09% 
1.67% 1.22% 

3.68% 

-1.36%

1.10% 
1.67% 1.20% 

3.23% 

1st Qtr. 2018 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Fixed Income Fixed Income Benchmark



Contact Information

Page 11

Web Site: http://www.sib.wa.gov

Address:
2100 Evergreen Park Drive SW
P.O. Box 40916
Olympia, WA 98504-0916

Phone Number:
(360) 956-4600

http://www.sib.wa.gov/


DreamAhead Update
Luke Minor
GET Senior Associate Director

• Review progress on developing a 
direct-sold 529 college savings 
plan

12



DreamAhead Update

Development Update
• Opened DreamAhead for a soft-launch on April 24.

• Completed plan materials, website, and enrollment platform 
development and user testing.
• DreamAhead website: www.dreamahead.wa.gov

• Reviewing user experience and making any necessary 
enhancements prior to full-rollout.

• Continuing GET-DreamAhead rollover interface development.  
• Feature not offered until SB 6087 90-day 

incentivized rollover window opens.

13

http://www.dreamahead.wa.gov/


DreamAhead Update

Development Update
• Review DreamAhead Program Details Booklet

14



DreamAhead Update

New Paradigm
• Washington now offers both a 529 prepaid tuition program and 

a 529 college savings plan.

• In the coming months, GET Committee and offices will need to 
start transitioning to be inclusive of multiple plans.

• Reminder: Committee has been renamed statutorily to 
“Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings.”

• Selected umbrella brand for GET and DreamAhead is: WA529

• Landing page: https://wastate529.wa.gov/

15

https://wastate529.wa.gov/


DreamAhead Overview
Doug Magnolia
Sumday Administration

Chelsea Power
Sumday Administration

• Review DreamAhead 
user experience

16



SB 6087 Discussion

17

Betty Lochner
GET Director

Luke Minor
GET Senior Associate Director

• Continue discussing SB 6087 
implementation



Phase Bill 
Section Directive

1 1(23); 
2(8)

Provide a 90-day window for eligible GET customers to roll 
over to DreamAhead at a “unit cash value price.”

2 2.9(a)(i) Increase the number of units for eligible GET customers with 
an average unit purchase price above $117.82.

3 2.9(a)(ii)
If the funded status is higher than 125%, add up to 15% more 
units to all eligible GET customer accounts, in order to draw 
the funded status down to 125%.

SB 6087 Discussion
Reminder of Key Bill Directives

18



SB 6087 Discussion
Reminder of considerations for implementing 
“Phase 1” (Incentivized GET to DreamAhead Rollover)

• The Washington State Investment Board (WSIB) has secured 
authority to adjust GET’s asset allocation to ensure sufficient 
liquidity to facilitate rollovers out of GET.

• After April 15, the Committee is to establish a “unit cash value 
price” and set a 90-day incentivized rollover window.

• GET must notify eligible customers of their options no later 
than 30 days before the 90-day rollover window opens 
(potentially before a “unit cash value price” is set).

19



SB 6087 Discussion
Today’s Objectives

• Determine measurement date for the Unit Cash Value.

• Discuss timing of GET to DreamAhead 90-day incentivized 
rollover window. 

• Discuss timing of temporary GET refund policy in context of 
implementing SB 6087. 

• Currently set to expire 60 days after DreamAhead opens 
(June 23, 2018, if using April 24 soft-launch date).

• Review SB 6087 communication plan to GET customers.

20



SB 6087 Implementation

21

2018

March-April May-June July-August Sept-Oct Nov-Dec

Normal 
Operations

SB 6087 
Directives
(For 
illustrative 
purposes 
only – Dates 
TBD)

Committee 
Meeting 
(4/25)

Bill takes 
effect (4/15)

90-Day Committee 
Decision Period (by 7/14)

30-Day
Notice 
(TBD)

90-Day Rollover Period
(TBD)

18-19 Fall 
Distributions 
Begin (8/1)

17-18 GET 
Enrollment Ends 

(5/31)

$113 Price Cutoff 
(6/25)

Phase 2 (TBD)

18-19 GET  
Enrollment 

Opens (11/1)

Committee 
Meeting/ 2018 
GAVR Finalized

(11/6)

DreamAhead 
Soft Launch 

(4/24)

Committee 
Meeting/ 

2018 Price 
Setting
(9/19)

Special 
Valuation 
for Phase 
3 (TBD)

Phase 3 
Begins 
(TBD)

Fiscal year-end 
activities (CAFR, etc.)

(7/1 – 8/31)

On-Going Customer Communication



SB 6087 Discussion
SB 6087 Communication Plan 
(contingent on timing of 90-day window selected by Committee)

22

Timing Tactic(s)

By May 1 • Launch new webpage on GET site (www.get.wa.gov/sb6087). 
Page will be updated regularly over the next several months.

• Email and secure messages to all customers with units 
purchased prior to July 1, 2015.

• General message posted to GET customer account portal.

By May 11 • Mail postcards to all customers with units purchased prior to 
July 1, 2015.

Before June 1 • Send follow-up mailed letter and email, and update to SB 6087 
webpage announcing unit cash value price.

Beyond June 1 • Several more emails and secure messages. 

http://www.get.wa.gov/sb6087


Public Comment
Share Your Thoughts

• Process

• Sign-up sheet

• Three minutes per individual

• You can submit written comments 
• Send to GETInfo@wsac.wa.gov and 

include the subject line: “GET 
Committee Statement.”

23

mailto:GETInfo@wsac.wa.gov


Next Regular Meeting

September 19, 2018
John A. Cherberg, Olympia

Senate Hearing Room 3
2:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m.

24



Adjournment

25



1 
 

GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION (GET) PROGRAM 
 Committee Meeting Minutes 

January 17, 2018 
John A. Cherberg Building, Capitol Campus 

Senate Hearing Room 3 
 

WSAC staff in attendance: 
Betty Lochner, GET Director 
Luke Minor GET Senior Associate Director 
Don Bennett, WSAC Deputy Director 
Dan Payne, GET Communications Specialist 
Christina Crawford, GET Lead Contact Center Specialist 
Katie Gross, GET Communications Specialist 
 
Guests in attendance: 
Rick Brady, Office of the Attorney General 
Daniel Masterson, Office of Program Research 
Lily Sobolik, Office of Program Research 
Alicia Kinne-Clawson, Senate Caucus Staff 
Anthony Hemstead, Office of the State Treasurer 
Shawn Myers, Office of the State Treasurer 
 
WELCOME 
Mike Meotti, Executive Director of the Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC) and 
Chair of the GET Committee called the meeting to order. The other GET Committee members in 
attendance were Treasurer Duane Davidson, citizen member Beth Berendt, and Director of the 
Office of Financial Management (OFM), David Schumacher.  
 
APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 15, 2017 MINUTES 
Berendt noted a minor correction to the minutes. Program staff will make this update. Berendt 
motioned to approve the meeting minutes from November 15, 2017, with the noted correction. 
Davidson seconded the motion. The minutes were approved unanimously.  
 
CHAIR’S REPORT 
No report from the Chair.  
 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Betty Lochner, GET Director, provided an overview of enrollment and distribution statistics. The 
2017-2018 enrollment period opened on November 1, 2017 and will run through May 31, 2018. 
Since November 1, customers have opened 2,200 new accounts and purchased or contracted for 
260,000 new units. The program has received $24 million in incoming contributions, which 
includes payments on existing custom monthly plans. Lochner reminded the Committee that 
most enrollments come in between March and May.  
 
Lochner stated that the program has distributed $87 million for over 12,000 students so far for 
the 2017-2018 academic year and $1.08 billion for over 51,000 students since program inception.  



2 
 

 
Lochner provided a statistical overview of the non-penalty refunds. Refund activity has remained 
fairly steady over the last few months and rollover activity has modestly decreased. Between 
November and December, GET received 550 refund and rollover requests. For comparison, for 
the same time span, GET received 4,200 requests in 2015 and 700 requests in 2016. Since 
September 2, 2015, staff have processed 25,000 refund and rollover requests for a total of $485 
million. There are currently 96,000 active GET accounts that hold 15.5 million units.  
 
Treasurer Davidson expressed gratitude to the staff for a smooth reopening.  
 
CUSTOMER ACCOUNT OPTIONS 
Discussion ensued regarding the ‘cohort’ accounts – the group of customers who own units that 
were purchased at higher prices between 2011 and 2015. With the non-penalty refund window 
still open, and a new enrollment period open with a lower unit price, many customers in this 
group could get more units if they refunded their accounts and purchased new $113 units. 
 
Luke Minor, GET Senior Associate Director, spoke about the current considerations around 
these accounts. As shared in November, the non-penalty refund policy allows customers to 
receive the greater of their contributions or the current payout value. There are currently three 
groups that GET customers generally fall into: 
 

1. Those that only own units that were purchased at a price lower than the current unit price. 
a. These customers would not stand to gain by refunding and repurchasing. 

2. Those that have purchased units at a variety of prices. 
a. Customers in this group may or may not benefit via a refund-repurchase decision, 

and will want to closely review their account and evaluate their options. 
3. Those that only own higher-priced units.  

a. Customers who only own higher-priced units, in most cases, could see additional 
benefits of refunding and repurchasing. 

 
Many customers who own higher-priced units are eligible to get their contributions back. 
Currently, customers can request a refund, deposit the refund check into their bank account, open 
a new GET account, and buy new units with the proceeds from their refund. 
 
There has been concern expressed about the number of steps it takes a customer to complete this 
process. Staff are launching a planned system upgrade that uses multi-factor authentication. This is 
an added layer of security found on many banking sites that verifies someone’s identity. The plan 
is to migrate all customers to this by March. What this means for the refund process is that the 
program can now substitute multi-factor authentication for a notary and customers will now be 
able to submit refund forms electronically without the need to print, notarize and mail the form. 
Staff continue to look for ways to simplify the refund-repurchase process for customers. 
 
Additionally, staff are examining the feasibility of implementing a semi-automated process for a 
group of 12,000 accounts that contain only higher-priced units, have not requested transfers or 
distributions yet, and only own lump sum units. This group has fewer variables to consider in 



3 
 

performing the appropriate calculation, and staff think that this group could be handled via a 
certain level of automation. 
 
Staff are also developing a detailed communication plan on how to share options with all 
customers and have identified key target groups that will require different types and frequency of 
messaging. The timing of the communications plan is contingent on several factors: 

• Savings plan contract and solidifying target launch date; 
• Outcome of feasibility assessment of semi-automated process; and 
• Outcome of legislative proposals. 

 
Senate Bill (SB) 6087 creates an incentive for customers to roll their funds from GET to the new 
savings plan. Staff are tracking this bill so they know what to share with customers. The bill does 
not specify an effective date, but staff assume it would be 90 days after the session ends.  
 
Meotti noted that a meeting has been requested with the sponsors of SB 6087 and staff from 
WSAC, the Office of the State Actuary, the Washington State Investment Board, and OFM. The 
purpose of the meeting is to discuss options around providing more clarity on the timing of the 
valuation date and other activities required by the bill.   
 
Meotti also noted that the goal is to open the 2018-2019 GET enrollment period with the 
program functioning in its original design, with all temporary policies ended. Customers will be 
well informed of temporary policy end dates, and both GET and DreamAhead will be in full 
swing, providing two clear investment vehicles for Washington residents.   
 
Minor noted that customers are still receiving communications regarding their accounts, 
including quarterly account statements. Once staff have more clarity on the items noted earlier, 
they will be able to begin pushing out messaging related to account options. In the meantime, 
staff have compiled distribution lists, are ordering needed materials, are drafting content for 
messages, and will provide updates to the Committee.  
 
SAVINGS PLAN DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 
Don Bennett, WSAC Deputy Director, provided an update on developing the DreamAhead 
College Investment Plan. Since July 2017, WSAC has been working with BNY Mellon on plan 
design and a finalized contract is imminent. Work on investment offerings, fee structure, 
technical and dashboard components, and administrative and operational construction continues. 
The Office of the Chief Investment Officer (OCIO) continues to provide project oversight and a 
QA Coordinator tracks progress and provides monthly reports. In early December, the Office of 
Cyber Security (OCS) approved the security design review of the IT infrastructure. 
 
Minor noted that marketing and communications development continues, including the 
DreamAhead website, marketing materials, brand assets, and disclosures. The DreamAhead 
trademark application will be filed once the contract signed. 
 
GET and DreamAhead will be marketed under the umbrella of Washington College Savings 
plans (www.wastate529.wa.gov/). Customers will be encouraged to choose the savings vehicle 
that works the best for them.  

http://www.wastate529.wa.gov/


4 
 

Bennett noted that the contract issues that were discussed at the November meeting have been 
addressed. WSAC and BNY Mellon’s legal counsel have been part of this contract process and 
Bennett stated he is comfortable with this contract.  
 
Bennett noted that the next steps include signing the contract, continued development of the 
items Minor noted, IT system integration, and user testing. WSAC remains on track for 
launching DreamAhead in spring of 2018.  
 
Meotti noted that the key features of the DreamAhead were determined months ago and that the 
contract has been vetted a number of times. At the November meeting, the Committee authorized 
the Chair to sign the contract, once finalized. Meotti plans to sign the contract once mailed to 
him. There were no questions. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comment.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Berendt motioned to adjourn the meeting. Davidson seconded the motion. The meeting 
adjourned at 2:34 p.m.  
 



1 
 

GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION (GET) PROGRAM 
Committee Meeting Minutes 

March 19, 2018 
John A. Cherberg Building, Capitol Campus 

Senate Hearing Room 4 
 

 

WSAC staff in attendance: 
Betty Lochner, GET Director 
Luke Minor, GET Senior Associate Director 
Don Bennett, WSAC Deputy Director 
Marc Webster, Director of External Affairs 
Dan Payne, GET Communications Specialist 
Christina Crawford, GET Administrative Assistant 
 
Guests in attendance: 
Matt Smith, State Actuary 
Rick Brady, Office of the Attorney General 
Chris Phillips, Washington State Investment Board 
Anthony Hemstad, Office of the State Treasurer 
Shawn Myers, Office of the State Treasurer 
Daniel Masterson, Senate Staff 
Allyson Tucker, Washington State Investment Board 
Breann Boggs, Office of Financial Management 
Megan Mulvihill, Office of Program Research 
Graham Dyer, Office of the State Actuary 
 
WELCOME & MEMBER INTRODUCTIONS 
Mike Meotti, Executive Director of the Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC) and 
Chair of the GET Committee, called the meeting to order at 1:59 p.m. and welcomed those in 
attendance.  The other Committee members present were Treasurer Duane Davidson, 
Washington State Treasurer and Beth Berendt, citizen member.  
 
REVIEW AND DISCUSS IMPLEMENTATION OF SENATE BILL 6087 
Betty Lochner, GET Director, stated that this meeting will include information and discussions 
surrounding the different steps of implementing SB6087 and that no decisions are expected to be 
made today. 
 
Don Bennett, WSAC Deputy Director, noted that SB6087 has three phases: 

Phase 1:  The Rollover Window 
By July 14, 2018 (90 days after the effective date), the Committee must set the 90-day rollover. 
 
Phase 2:  GET Refund/Repurchase 
Once the 90-day rollover window closes (Phase 1), and before March 1, 2019. 



2 
 

 
Phase 3:  GET Funded Status Adjustment 

Once the GET Refund/Repurchase adjustment is complete (Phase 2), and before March 1, 2019. 

Discussion around the three phases ensued: 
 
 Phase 1:  

• This should be implemented in a timely fashion. Some customers may begin to use units 
on August 1 and may want to take advantage of the incentive to roll to DreamAhead 
before using units. 

• The penalty free refund is already in place, until 60 days after DreamAhead opens, 
Committee should consider whether the penalty refund window should be extended to 
overlap the 90-day window. 

• Considerations for developing a customer communications plan was shared and included: 
o Potential time-line based on information available.   
o Concerns about waiting to communicate details with customers include the 

possibility that there may be changes in the market. 
o Possible methods of communication. 

• Expected timeline for GET to implement IT-related changes. 
• Washington State Investment Board (WSIB) needs to appeal to their board for a 

temporary asset allocation. 
• Concerns were voiced about rushing both the process and customers, leaving room for 

error. 
• How the process will impact the June 30th actuarial valuation. 

Phase 2: 
• Committee members and program staff revisited previous discussion surrounding 

automating the process for cohort group to refund/repurchase 
o This was ultimately decided against after consulting with legal counsel. 
o SB6087 directs us to automate this process. 

• Accounts with rebased units 
o Verbiage was placed in bill: “the average price you paid for your units.” 

Phase 3: 
• This will be a snapshot in time. 
• This will be a transparent process. 
• The funded status of the GET Program may not actually decrease to 125% due to 

verbiage in SB6087 that states no account holder can receive more than a 15% increase. 
• Implementation of SB6087 is contingent on the opening of DreamAhead. 
• Treasurer Davidson asked for an update on how the GET enrollment year was going 

o Approximately 3,100 new accounts have been opened since November 1, 2017. 
o This is 20% higher than the last enrollment period. 

• Members feel another special meeting should take place before the meeting scheduled on 
April 25. 



3 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comment. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Meotti motioned to adjourn the meeting and Davidson seconded the motion.  The meeting 
adjourned at 3:47 p.m. 



1 
 

Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee 
Committee Meeting Minutes 

April 10, 2018 
 John A. Cherberg Building, Capitol Campus 

Senate Hearing Room 4 
 

  
WSAC Staff in Attendance: 
Betty Lochner, GET Director 
Luke Minor, GET Senior Associate Director 
Don Bennett, WSAC Deputy Director 
Dan Payne, GET Communications Specialist 
Christina Crawford, GET Administrative Assistant 
  
Guests in Attendance: 
Matt Smith, Office of the State Actuary 
Chris Phillips, Washington State Investment Board 
Rick Brady, Office of the Attorney General 
Patrick Martinell, Washington State Investment Board 
Breann Boggs, Office of Financial Management 
Megan Mulvihill, Office of Program Research 
Graham Dyer, Office of the State Actuary 
Lily Sobolik, Office of Program Research 
Chelsea Power, BNY Mellon 
Doug Magnolia, BNY Mellon 
Heidi Behler, Citizen 
  
  
WELCOME & MEMBER INTRODUCTIONS  
Mike Meotti, Executive Director of the Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC) and 
Chair of the GET Committee called the meeting to order at 2:01 p.m. and welcomed those in 
attendance.  The other Committee members present were Treasurer Duane Davidson, 
Washington State Treasurer, David Schumacher, Director of the Office of Financial 
Management and Beth Berendt, citizen member. 
  
Meotti stated that additional special meetings may be scheduled to address key decisions 
regarding the implementation of SB 6087. 
 
Betty Lochner, GET Director, noted there are two main agenda items:   

• An update on The DreamAhead College Savings Plan, scheduled to launch by May 1. 
• Chris Phillips, from the Washington State Investment Board and Matt Smith, State 

Actuary, will both be providing information to the Committee on considerations for 
implementing SB6087.  

  
 
 



2 
 

  
DREAMAHEAD UPDATE  
Luke Minor, Senior Associate Director, provided an update on the current status of the 
DreamAhead College Savings Plan: 

• The plan development is making great progress as WSAC and BNY Melon staff strive 
for good user experience and intuitive functionality. The plan offers diverse investment 
options and staff continue to determine how DreamAhead and GET can work together.  

• Weekly project check-ins are being held between WSAC and BNY Mellon staff, as the 
soft launch gets closer. IT staff are working through security design and review, and are 
developing the rollover interface (from GET to DreamAhead) while taking SB 6087 into 
consideration.  

• While a soft launch is scheduled by May 1, a hard launch date that includes marketing 
and advertising has not been set.  

•  BNY Mellon and WSAC teams are currently conducting user acceptance testing. 
• Plan design is nearing completion, and the program disclosures are undergoing final legal 

review. 
• The DreamAhead logo trademark has been filed, the program brochure has been finalized 

and sent to printer, the program details booklet is under final review, and website content 
and functionality is being finalized.   

  
SENATE BILL 6087 DISCUSSION 
Lochner reviewed the phases of customer communication regarding SB 6087:  

• Phase 1: Provide a 90-day window to those customers who are eligible to roll to the 
DreamAhead plan at a “unit cash value price”.   

• Phase 2: Increase the number of units for eligible GET customers with an average unit 
purchase price above $117.82. 

• Phase 3:Once phase 1 and phase 2 are completed (if the funded status remains higher 
than 125%), add up to 15% more units to all eligible GET customer accounts, in order to 
reduce the funded status to 125%. 

  
Minor stated that of those eligible for the incentive, approximately one third of current GET 
accounts are already eligible to use units, one third will become eligible this fall and one third 
will become eligible in the next five years.   
  
Minor noted that part of the challenge will be to determine how many customers who are eligible 
to use units may take advantage of the incentive.   
  
Phillips stated the following considerations for implementing Phase 1: 

• The Washington State Investment Board (WSIB) will need to adjust GET’s asset 
allocation to ensure sufficient liquidity to facilitate rollovers out of GET. 

• After April 15, the Committee is to establish a “unit cash value price” and set a 90-day 
incentivized rollover window.  

• GET must notify eligible customers of their options no later than 30 days before the 90-
day rollover window opens (potentially before a “unit cash value price” is set).  

  
 



3 
 

Discussion ensued surrounding the following: 
• Legal counsel will be consulted on what appropriate notification to customers includes.  
• SB 6087 goes into effect on April 15. WSIB meets on the April 19 and the GET 

Committee meets on April 25.  
• GET and WSIB staff would need approximately two weeks to complete the necessary 

valuations used to determine the amount of the unit cash value price. 
  
Chris Phillips and Patrick Martinell, from WSIB, provided clarity about their role and what they 
can and can’t provide for GET in this process.   
  
Once the unit cash value price has been set, the GET fund will be comprised of two co-mingled 
pools of assets; those that are staying and those that are departing. The assets that stay in the fund 
should maintain the existing asset allocation to whatever extent possible, as they are being 
managed against plan liabilities. The risk/return of these assets is best reflected by a 60% equity, 
40% fixed income allocation. 
 
Departing assets should be sold and converted to cash to meet anticipated outflows. WSIB will 
only be holding these assets for a short period while all transfers are completed. There is no need 
to maintain any market exposure.   
 

Phillips stated that since WSIB cannot know the precise split between staying and departing 
assets ahead of time, WSIB will raise cash in accordance with the GET program’s projection on 
departing assets. There was brief discussion around different projection scenarios. 
 
Matt Smith & Graham Dyer, from the Office of the State Actuary, stated their plan to assist the 
GET Committee in modeling possible rollover amounts from GET to the DreamAhead plan due 
to SB 6087.  
 
The GET Committee will inform WSIB’s temporary change to GET’s asset allocation and the 
temporary asset allocation will provide sufficient liquidity for rollovers. The current valuations 
and research builds on work that was completed during the 2018 legislative session. Smith noted 
that the main factors to consider are the possible unit cash value price range compared to the 
standard unit payout value, customer behavior (not knowing how many will response to the 
incentive), and the fact that there are no prior models to base the projections on.   
  
Discussion ensued surrounding how much cash the fund will need to have available to support 
the estimated rollovers as a result of SB 6087.  Very rough assumptions were made by OSA, as 
there is not enough time to take into account all variables and situations.   
  
After some discussion of several scenarios, and agreement that the amount available is better to 
be overestimated rather than underestimated, Meotti suggested allocating 50%, or $1 billion, of 
the GET fund to cash, and adjusting as needed. 
  
Treasurer Davidson motioned to direct the WSIB to be prepared to have one billion dollars 
available in cash for rollovers. Schumacher seconded the motion.  Motion passed with three ayes 
from Meotti, Schumacher and Davidson.  Berendt abstained from voting. 



4 
 

 
 
 PUBLIC COMMENT 
 No public comment. 
 
  
ADJOURNMENT 
Meotti motioned to adjourn the meeting and Schumacher seconded the motion.  The meeting 
adjourned at 3:18 p.m. 
  
  
  
  
 
 



 

GET Prepaid College Tuition Program 

Quarterly Report – December 31, 2017 

 

 

Portfolio Size, Allocation, and Assets Under Management ..................................................................... 1

Performance ............................................................................................................................................. 2

 

 
 

 
 

Washington State Investment Board



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended December 31, 2017

Total $2,217,791,070

Cash $100,680,319

Fixed Income $843,875,003

Equity $1,273,235,749

Note: For comparison purposes in the chart above, fixed income and TIPs were added together for the prior year.

Assets Under Management

Actual Asset AllocationPortfolio Size 

12.5 14.9

15.7
18.0 10.8

‐2.3 ‐2.6 ‐2.8

‐104.8
‐57.3

‐17.1

980 832
1,241

1,587
1,807

2,156
2,471 2,586

2,393
2,094

2,218

‐300

‐250

‐200

‐150

‐100

‐50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

‐3,000

‐2,500

‐2,000

‐1,500

‐1,000

‐500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 
in
 M

ill
io
n
s

A
ss
e
t 
Si
ze
 in

 M
ill
io
n
s

Net Contributions

Growth of Assets

Fixed 
Income
38.05%

Equity
57.41%

Cash
4.54%

30.0%

40.0%

0.0%

50.0%

70.0%

20.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%
Allocation

Fixed Income Public Equity Cash

Actual Allocation

Dec. 2016
Dec. 2017

2
0
1
7
 R
an

ge

Page 1 of 2



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended December 31, 2017

Equity Return *

Benchmark: MSCI ACWI IMI w/U.S. Gross and a historical blended return

Fixed Income Return *
Benchmark: Bloomberg Barclays Intermediate Credit and a historical blended return

Total Return *

*  The return numbers above are net of manager fees and other expenses that can be directly debited from the account for portfolio 

management but do not include the WSIB management fee.

5.82% 

24.37% 

10.04% 
11.52% 

5.67% 5.80% 

24.32% 

9.87% 
11.34% 

5.57% 

4th Qtr. 2017 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Equity Equity Benchmark

3.32%

14.84%

6.84% 7.37%

5.33%

3.33% 

14.80% 

6.77% 
7.22% 

5.11% 

1.45%

5.37% 4.87% 4.66% 4.85%

4th Qtr. 2017 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

GET College Tuition Program Passive Benchmark CPI (inflation) + 3.25%

0.12% 

3.92% 

2.71% 

1.46% 

4.38% 

0.11% 

3.67% 

2.74% 

1.49% 

3.90% 

4th Qtr. 2017 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Fixed Income Fixed Income Benchmark

Page 2 of 2



 

GET Prepaid College Tuition Program 
Quarterly Report – March 31, 2018 

 
 

Portfolio Size, Allocation, and Assets Under Management ..................................................................... 1 

Performance ............................................................................................................................................. 2 

 

 
 

 
 

Washington State Investment Board 



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended March 31, 2018

Total $2,165,484,184

Cash $207,372,814

Fixed Income $726,850,660

Equity $1,231,260,709

Note: For comparison purposes in the chart above, fixed income and TIPs were added together for the prior year.

Assets Under Management

Actual Asset AllocationPortfolio Size 

33.5 56.3
57.5

86.1

12.9 0.7

-1.5 -5.5

-245.7

-48.4
-31.7

983 862
1,337

1,735
1,958

2,246 2,509 2,637
2,188 2,136 2,165

-300

-250

-200

-150

-100

-50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

-3,000

-2,500

-2,000

-1,500

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Co
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

s 
in

 M
ill

io
ns

A
ss

et
 S

iz
e 

in
 M

ill
io

ns

Net Contributions
Growth of Assets

Fixed 
Income
33.57%

Equity
56.86%

Cash
9.58%

30.0%

40.0%

0.0%

50.0%

70.0%

20.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%
Allocation

Fixed Income Public Equity Cash

Actual Allocation

Mar. 2017
Mar. 2018

2018 Range

Page 1 of 2



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended March 31, 2018

Equity Return *
Benchmark: MSCI ACWI IMI w/U.S. Gross and a historical blended return

Fixed Income Return *
Benchmark: Bloomberg Barclays Intermediate Credit and a historical blended return

Total Return *

*  The return numbers above are net of manager fees and other expenses that can be directly debited from the account for portfolio 
management but do not include the WSIB management fee.

-0.84%

15.34% 

8.80% 9.85% 

6.61% 

-0.83%

15.37% 

8.61% 9.67% 
6.52% 

1st Qtr. 2018 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Equity Equity Benchmark

-0.97%

8.94%

5.72%
6.30%

5.55%

-0.85%

9.13% 

5.64% 
6.16% 

5.41% 

1.63%

5.61%
5.12%

4.63% 4.82%

1st Qtr. 2018 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

GET College Tuition Program Passive Benchmark CPI (inflation) + 3.25%

-1.37%

1.09% 
1.67% 1.22% 

3.68% 

-1.36%

1.10% 
1.67% 1.20% 

3.23% 

1st Qtr. 2018 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Fixed Income Fixed Income Benchmark

Page 2 of 2



Program Details Booklet
April 2018



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  2

DreamAhead College Investment Plan 
Program Details Booklet 
April 2018 

Notices

Program Details Booklet
This Program Details Booklet has been identified by the Committee on Advanced Tuition Payments and 
College Savings as the Offering Material (as defined in the College Savings Plans Network Disclosure 
Principles, Statement No. 6, adopted July 1, 2017) intended to provide substantive disclosure of the terms 
and conditions of an investment in DreamAhead. 

If you or the Beneficiary are not a Washington State resident, before investing you should consider whether 
you or the Beneficiary’s home state offers a Qualified Tuition Program that provides its taxpayers with 
favorable state tax and other state benefits such as financial aid, scholarship funds and protection from 
creditors that may only be available through an investment in the home state’s Qualified Tuition Program, 
and which are not available through an investment in DreamAhead. Since different states have different tax 
provisions, this Program Details Booklet contains limited information about the state tax consequences of 
investing in DreamAhead. 

Keep in mind that state-based benefits should be one of many appropriately weighted factors to consider 
when making an investment decision. In addition, you should periodically assess, and if appropriate, adjust 
your 529 Plan investment choices with your time horizon, risk tolerance, and investment objectives in 
mind.

None of the Program Administrators insures or guarantees Accounts or investment returns on Accounts. 
Investment returns are not guaranteed. Your account may lose value.

This Program Details Booklet contains important information you should review before opening an 
Account in DreamAhead, including information about the benefits and risks of investing. Please read it 
carefully and save for future reference. Capitalized terms used in this Program Details Booklet are defined 
in the Glossary (beginning on page 63).

Accuracy of Information in Program Details Booklet
The information in this Program Details Booklet is believed to be accurate as of the cover date but is 
subject to change without notice. No one is authorized to provide information that is different from the 
information in the most current form of this Program Details Booklet, and participants in DreamAhead will 
agree that they have relied solely on the information contained in this Program Details Booklet, and the 
amendments and written supplements to this Program Details Booklet.

Other Important Information
529 Plans are intended to be used only to save for Qualified Expenses. DreamAhead is not intended to 
be used, nor should it be used, by any taxpayer for the purpose of evading federal or state taxes or tax 
penalties. Taxpayers should seek tax advice from an independent tax advisor based on their own particular 
circumstances.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  3

Getting Started ........................................................................................................... 4

Summary ................................................................................................................... 5

My Account ................................................................................................................ 7

Opening My Account ........................................................................................................... 9

Contributing to My Account ................................................................................................. 8

Maintaining My Account .................................................................................................... 14

Using My Account .............................................................................................................. 17

Closing My Account ........................................................................................................... 20

Fees  .........................................................................................................................21

Year of Enrollment Portfolio Fee Structure Tables ................................................................22

Static Portfolio Fee Structure Tables ....................................................................................23

Service-based and Other Fees ..............................................................................................23

Approximate Cost for a $10,000 Investment ........................................................................24

Important Risks You Should Know About ................................................................... 26

Investment Choices ................................................................................................... 30

Investments Overview ....................................................................................................... 30 
Year of Enrollment Investment Option ................................................................................ 31 
Static Investment Option ....................................................................................................36

Portfolio Profiles .................................................................................................................37

Underlying Fund Descriptions ............................................................................................42

Descriptions of Principal Risks by Fund Company................................................................48

Additional Investment Information ....................................................................................53

Investment Performance ..................................................................................................... 55

Important Federal Tax Information ............................................................................ 56

General Information ................................................................................................. 59

Plan Administration ................................................................................................. 62

Glossary ................................................................................................................... 63

Agreement  ............................................................................................................... 67

Table of Contents



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  4

Getting Started
Getting started with DreamAhead is easy. Just follow these steps: 

1. Read this Program Details Booklet in its entirety and save it for future reference. 
It contains important information you should review before opening an Account, 
including information about the benefits and risks of investing. 

2. Gather your information:

a. Your Social Security number and date of birth

b. Your permanent address

c. Your Beneficiary’s Social Security number and date of birth (if applicable)

d. Your email address

e. Your checking or savings account number and your bank’s routing number (if you 
want to contribute electronically with a bank transfer) 

3. Go online to www.dreamahead.wa.gov and click on Open an Account. The easy-to-
follow directions will guide you through the enrollment process. Enrolling online is 
fast, convenient, and secure. In as little as 10 minutes, you can be fully signed up and 
saving for college. Or, if you prefer, you can complete and mail the Enrollment Form 
that is downloadable from the forms section of the site.

Created by logan
from the Noun Project



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  5

This Program Details Booklet provides you with 
important information that can help you decide 
whether to open a DreamAhead College Investment 
Plan Account.  You can find the key terms used 
throughout this Program Details Booklet in the 
Glossary, beginning on page 63. This Summary 
provides highlights of the features of DreamAhead 
and tells you where you can find more information 
about each topic.

About DreamAhead
DreamAhead is one of two qualified tuition 
programs administered and distributed by the 
Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and 
College Savings (Committee). DreamAhead 
is designed to help individuals and families 
throughout the U.S. save for college in a tax-
advantaged way, and offers valuable advantages 
including tax-deferred growth, generous 
contribution limits, attractive Investment Options, 
and professional investment management. The 
Committee also offers a 529 prepaid college 
tuition program, known as the Guaranteed 
Education Tuition (GET) program, that is only 
open to Washington residents. GET assesses 
different fees and withdrawal limitations than 
DreamAhead.  For additional information 
on GET, please visit www.get.wa.gov.

What’s Inside
My Account (p. 7)
DreamAhead is open to U.S. citizens or resident 
aliens throughout the U.S. You, as the Account 
Owner, maintain complete control over the 
Account and can open Accounts for any number 
of Beneficiaries, including yourself. This section 
will guide you through the details of opening 
a DreamAhead Account, contributing to your 
Account, maintaining your Account, using your 
savings to pay for Qualified Expenses, and closing 
your Account. To open an Account, you must 
complete your Enrollment online or send us a 
completed Enrollment Form, which is a contract 
between you, as the Account Owner, and the 
Committee, establishing the obligations of each.

Fees (p. 21)
DreamAhead has no commissions, loads, or sales 
charges. The Total Annual Asset-Based Fee varies 
from 0.266% to 0.400%, depending upon the 
Portfolio(s) you choose. In addition, we charge an 
Annual Account Maintenance Fee of $35 to each 
Account. We also charge certain transaction-based 
fees that may apply to your Account. In this section, 
you can find a detailed description of the Fees 
associated with your DreamAhead Account.

Important Risks You Should Know About  
(p. 26)
As with any investment, there are risks involved 
in investing in DreamAhead, including the risk of 
investment losses; the risk of changes in federal 
and state laws, including federal and state tax laws; 
the risk of Program changes, including changes in 
Fees; and the risk that contributions to DreamAhead 
may adversely affect the eligibility of you or your 
Beneficiary for financial aid or other benefits. 
To learn more about the risks, please thoroughly 
read and carefully consider the information in 
this section and throughout this Program Details 
Booklet, and ask your tax, legal and investment 
advisors about these risks.

Investment Choices (p. 30)
When you enroll in DreamAhead, you choose to 
invest using at least one of two different investment 
approaches, based upon your investing preferences 
and risk tolerance.  You can choose between the 
Year of Enrollment Investment Option or the Static 
Investment Option, or a mix of both. 
•	 Year of Enrollment Investment Option 

This option offers Portfolios designed for 
different Enrollment Years (anticipated year of 
enrollment at college) in two-year increments. 
In addition, the Year of Enrollment Investment 
Option has three risk tolerances (Conservative, 
Moderate or Growth) to choose from. In each 
Portfolio, your money is moved automatically 
to progressively more conservative 
investments as your Beneficiary approaches 
the targeted Year of Enrollment. Each Portfolio 
invests in one or more Underlying Fund(s) 
managed by Fidelity, JP Morgan, Schwab and/
or Vanguard.  

Summary



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  6

•	 Static Investment Option 
This option offers seven (7) Portfolios. Unlike 
the Portfolios in the Year of Enrollment 
Investment Option, if you invest in a Static 
Portfolio, the composition of investments 
within the Portfolio remains fixed over time, 
subject to periodic re-balancing back to the 
Portfolio guidelines and any changes in 
investment policy made by the Committee. 
Each Portfolio invests in one or more 
Underlying Fund(s), each of which is managed 
by either Fidelity, JP Morgan, Schwab and/or 
Vanguard. If you invest in a Static Portfolio, 
your assets will not shift to more conservative 
investments over time unless you specifically 
direct us to move your assets to another 
Portfolio. 

You may change your Investment Options for 
balances currently in your DreamAhead Account 
up to two times per calendar year, or if you change 
your Beneficiary. You can apply new contributions 
to your existing Portfolio selections, or to new 
Portfolios. This section also provides details on how 
to view investment performance of each Portfolio.

Important Federal Tax Information (p. 56)
As a 529 Plan, DreamAhead offers federal tax 
benefits, including tax-deferred earnings. Any 
earnings withdrawn from your Account are 
free of federal income tax when applied toward 
Qualified Expenses. If you take a Non-Qualified 
Distribution, any earnings are subject to federal 
and applicable state income taxes and an additional 
10% federal tax penalty (Distribution Tax).  If you 
take an Other Distribution, any earnings may be 
subject to federal and applicable state income 
taxes, but not the Distribution Tax. Learn more 
about tax considerations associated with investing 
in DreamAhead by thoroughly reviewing this 
section. Before you invest, you should consult an 
independent tax advisor regarding the application 
of tax laws to your particular circumstances.

General Information (p. 59)
In this section you will learn about the rights 
and obligations associated with your Account, 
considerations related to changes to your Account, 
this document, and state and federal laws, and 
claims against your Account.

Plan Administration (p. 62)
This section summarizes the administration of 
DreamAhead.
•	 The Committee administers and provides 

oversight of DreamAhead and the GET 
Program.

•	 The Washington Student Achievement 
Council supports DreamAhead and the GET 
Program, based on the Committee’s direction. 

•	 Sumday Administration serves as the 
Program Manager of DreamAhead. Sumday 
Administration and its affiliates have overall 
responsibility for DreamAhead’s day-to-
day operations, including recordkeeping, 
customer service and administrative services.

•	 Sumday Administration’s affiliate Lockwood 
provides investment advisory services to the 
Committee for DreamAhead.

•	 Sumday and Lockwood are affiliates of BNY 
Mellon.

Glossary (p. 63)
This section provides definitions of terms contained 
in this Program Details Booklet. Note that terms 
defined in the glossary (other than you and your) 
appear with initial capital letters when referenced 
in this document.

Agreement (p. 67)
In this section, we ask you to review and 
acknowledge your rights and responsibilities 
in connection with your enrollment in the 
DreamAhead College Investment Plan. You must 
review this agreement in detail prior to completing 
an Enrollment in the Program. Upon enrolling in 
the Program you will be prompted to acknowledge 
your understanding of, and agreement with the 
terms, conditions and information contained in the 
Program Details Booklet and the Agreement.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  7

different Beneficiaries.  Different Account Owners 
may also have an Account for the same Beneficiary 
within DreamAhead, but contributions to an 
Account will be limited 
if the total assets held 
in all Accounts for that 
Beneficiary, taking into 
account the proposed 
contribution, exceed 
or would exceed the 
Maximum Account 
Balance limit. Please 
see Contributing To 
My Account — Maximum Account Balance Limit 
on page 12. The Beneficiary may be of any age; 
however, the Beneficiary must be an individual and 
not a trust or other entity.  A Beneficiary does not 
have to be named at Enrollment when the Account 
Owner is a tax-exempt organization as defined in 
the Code, and the Account has been established as a 
general scholarship fund.

Control Over the Account
Although other individuals or entities may make 
contributions to your Account, you, as the Account 
Owner, retain control of all contributions made 
as well as all earnings credited to your Account. A 
Beneficiary who is not also the Account Owner has 
no control over any of the Account assets. Except 
as required by law, only you may direct transfers, 
rollovers, selection of Investment Options, 
investment changes, withdrawals, and Beneficiary 
changes as the Account Owner. Prior to other 
individuals or entities making contributions to your 
Account, you warrant that you will communicate 
to them the risks and material information of 
investing in DreamAhead that are disclosed in this 
Program Details Booklet.

Documents in Good Order
To process any transaction in DreamAhead, all 
necessary documents must be in good order, 
which means signed and verified when required 
and properly, fully, and accurately completed, as 
determined by the Program Administrators.

Account Owner/Custodian
To participate in DreamAhead, you must complete 
the online Enrollment process or the Enrollment 
Form and open an Account either online or by 
mail. You must be a U.S. citizen (or a resident 
alien), or an entity that is organized in the U.S., 
be 18 years or older, and have a valid permanent 
U.S. residential address. You may also open an 
Account as a custodian for a child under the 
Uniform Gift to Minors Act / Uniform Transfer 
to Minors Act (UGMA/UTMA). By signing the 
Enrollment Form or completing your online 
Enrollment, as applicable, you consent and agree 
that your Account is subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Program Details Booklet.

Successor Owner
You may designate a Successor Owner (to the 
extent permissible under applicable law) to 
succeed to all of your rights, title, and interest in 
your Account upon your death. You can make 
this designation online during Enrollment, on the 
Enrollment Form, or in writing. We must receive 
and process your request before the Successor 
Owner designation can be effective. You may 
revoke or change the designation of a Successor 
Owner at any time online or by submitting a 
Manage Successor Owner Form. You can access 
forms at www.dreamahead.wa.gov or by calling 
us at 1-844-529-5845.

Beneficiary
You can set up an Account for the benefit of 
your child, grandchild, spouse, yourself, another 
relative, or even someone not related to you. 
Each Account can have only one Beneficiary at 
any time. You may have multiple Accounts for 

My Account

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ Who can be an Account Owner

 ▸ Successor Owners

 ▸ Beneficiaries

Opening My Account 

A Beneficiary can 
be of any age and 

can be a child, 
grandchild, other 
relative or even 

someone not 
related to you.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  8

Minimum Contributions
To open an Account, you must make an initial 
contribution of at least $25 per Portfolio. After 
that, all transfers (contributions, withdrawals, and 
monthly transfers) must be at least $5 per Portfolio 
from which funds are contributed or withdrawn. 
The Committee has the discretion and reserves the 
right to waive the minimum contribution.

You can make your initial and any additional 
contributions by check, Electronic Funds Transfer/
Automated Clearing House (EFT or ACH), an 
Automatic Investment Plan (AIP) which is a 
recurring monthly investment, payroll deduction, 
rolling over assets from another Qualified Tuition 
Program, moving assets from an UGMA/UTMA 
account or Coverdell Education Savings Account, 
or by redeeming U.S. Savings Bonds. We will not 
accept contributions made by cash, money order, 
travelers checks, foreign checks, checks dated 
more than 180 days from the 
date of receipt, checks post-
dated more than seven (7) 
days in advance, checks with 
unclear instructions, starter 
or counter checks, credit 
card or bank courtesy checks, 
third-party personal checks over $15,000 (per day), 
instant loan checks, or any other check we deem 
unacceptable. No stocks, securities, or other non-
cash assets will be accepted as contributions. 

You can allocate each contribution among any of the 
Portfolios. However, the minimum allocation per 
selected Portfolio is $5. For example, if you make a 
$100 contribution to your Account to be allocated 
among 3 Portfolios, a minimum of $5 must be 

allocated to each of the Portfolios you selected. You 
can make subsequent contributions to different 
Portfolio(s) than the selection(s) you make during 
your online Enrollment or on your Enrollment 
Form.

Contribution Date
Except for AIP and EFT contributions and 
payroll direct deposits, we will credit any money 
contributed to your Account on the same Business 
Day if we receive the contribution in good order and 
prior to the close of the New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE), normally 4 p.m., Eastern Time.  Note that 
certain contributions may take time to be received 
by DreamAhead including checks mailed to us and 
EFT transfers from your bank. We will credit the 
contribution on the next succeeding Business Day 
if we receive it in good order after the close of the 
NYSE. 

Allocation of Future Contributions
At the time of enrollment, you must select how you 
want your contributions allocated. You must also 
select how you want your subsequent contributions 
allocated at the time of each investment unless 
you have created an AIP. You may move existing 
DreamAhead assets to different Portfolios up to two 
times per calendar year. You may also move assets 
at the same time you change your Beneficiary.

Contributions by Check
You may make your initial contribution by 
check. The initial minimum contribution of $25 
must accompany your 
Enrollment Form. Any 
additional contributions 
you make by check 
must be at least $5 per 
investment Portfolio 
selected. Checks must 
be made payable to DreamAhead. Third-party 
personal checks up to $15,000 (per day) must be 
payable to you or the Beneficiary and properly 
endorsed by you or the Beneficiary to DreamAhead.

My Account
Contributing to My Account 

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ Different Ways to Contribute to your Account

 ▸ Automatic Investment Plans

 ▸ Payroll Deductions

 ▸ Rollovers from other 529 Plans

You can open 
a DreamAhead 
Account with 

as little as $25. There are several 
different ways to 

make contributions 
to your Account.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  9

Automatic Investment Plan (AIP)
You may contribute to your Account by 
authorizing us to receive monthly automated 
debits from your checking or savings account, 
if your bank is a member of the Automated 
Clearing House (ACH), subject to certain 
processing restrictions. You can begin an AIP 
either when you enroll by completing the 
AIP section of the online Enrollment process 
or the paper Enrollment Form, or after your 
Account has been opened, either online or in 
writing by submitting the appropriate form. AIP 
contributions must equal at least $5 per Portfolio 
per month. Your AIP authorization will remain 
in effect until we have received and processed 
your notification of its termination.

You may terminate your AIP at any time. Any 
changes to, or termination of, an AIP must 
occur at least three (3) Business Days before a 
scheduled debit from your bank account and will 
become effective as soon as we have received and 
processed your request.

There is no charge for enrolling in an AIP. Debits 
from your bank account will occur prior to the 
day you indicate, provided the day is a regular 
Business Day. If the day you indicate falls on a 
weekend or a holiday, the AIP debit will occur on 
the next Business Day.

The start date for an AIP must be at least three 
(3) Business Days from the date of submission of 
the AIP request. If a start date for an AIP is less 
than three (3) Business Days from the date of 
the submission of the AIP request, the AIP will 
start on the requested day in the next succeeding 
month.

Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT)
You may also contribute by EFT (also known as 
ACH). Each contribution must be in an amount 
of at least $5 per Portfolio selected. You may 
authorize us to withdraw funds by EFT from 
a checking or savings account for both initial 

and/or additional contributions to your Account, 
provided you have submitted certain information 
about the bank account from which the money 
will be withdrawn, subject to certain processing 
restrictions. You can complete transactions through 
the following means: by providing EFT instructions 
in the online Enrollment process or on the paper 
Enrollment Form, by submitting EFT instructions 
online after enrollment at www.dreamahead.wa.gov 
or in writing by submitting the appropriate form. 
Debit requests that we receive in good order:
•	 before 1 p.m., Pacific Time, will generally be 

given a trade date of the second Business Day 
after the date of receipt and will be effected 
at that day’s closing price for the applicable 
Portfolio. If your bank processes our request 
for withdrawal from your bank account on the 
first Business Day after the date of receipt, the 
EFT debit from your bank account will occur 
on the second Business Day after we receive 
the request.

•	 after 1 p.m., Pacific Time, will generally be 
given a trade date of the third Business Day 
after the date the request is received, and will 
be effected at that day’s closing price for the 
applicable Portfolio. If your bank processes 
our request for withdrawal from your bank 
account on the second Business Day after the 
date of receipt, the EFT debit will occur on 
the third Business Day after we receive the 
request.

We do not charge a fee for contributing by EFT.

Limitations on AIP and EFT Contributions
We may place a limit on the total dollar amount 
per day you may contribute to your Account by 
EFT and will reject contributions in excess of that 
limit.  If you plan to contribute a large dollar amount 
to your Account by EFT, you should contact a 
Customer Service Representative at 1-844-529-5845 
to inquire about the current limit prior to making 
your contribution. An EFT or AIP contribution may 
fail because the bank account on which it is drawn 
contains insufficient funds or because you did not 
provide correct and complete banking instructions 
(Please see Failed Contributions on page 13). If 
we cannot process your AIP or EFT contribution 
because the bank account on which it is drawn 
contains insufficient funds, because of incomplete 
information or inaccurate information, or if the 
transaction would violate processing restrictions, we 

An Automatic Investment Plan 
allows you to set up contributions 

to your Account by making 
monthly automated debits from 

your checking or savings account.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  10

reserve the right to suspend processing of future 
AIP and EFT contributions. All bank accounts used 
to make AIP or EFT contributions must be in the 
name of the Account Owner or Beneficiary, (only if 
authorized by the Beneficiary).

Payroll Direct Deposits
You may be eligible to make automatic, periodic 
contributions to your Account by payroll 
deduction (if your employer offers this service). 
You may set up payroll deduction for subsequent 
contributions after your Account is opened. The 
minimum payroll deduction contribution is $5 
per paycheck. We will only permit contributions 
by payroll deduction from employers able to meet 
our operational and administrative requirements. 
You must complete payroll deduction instructions 
by downloading and completing the Payroll 
Deduction Form at www.dreamahead.wa.gov. You 
will need to print these instructions and submit 
them to your employer.  Payroll direct deposits that 
we receive in good order:
•	 before 1 p.m., Pacific Time, will generally be 

given a trade date of the first Business Day 
after the date of receipt and will be effected 
at that day’s closing price for the applicable 
Portfolio.

•	 after 1 p.m., Pacific Time, will generally be 
given a trade date of the second Business Day 
after the date the request is received, and will 
be effected at that day’s closing price for the 
applicable Portfolio.

Gift Contributions
Third parties may make gift contributions to your 
Account via two channels:  
•	 Paper	Form. Giftors can download and 

complete a paper gifting form, attach a check 
for the gift amount and mail to DreamAhead. 
The form can be found at www.dreamahead.
wa.gov/forms/. We do not charge a Fee for 
gifts made using a paper form. 

•	 E-Gifting. Online gifting can be performed 
if you or the Beneficiary creates an online 
gifting page for your Account. Third parties 
can then contribute via the E-Gifting link. We 
may assess Fees for E-Gifting.

Rollover Contributions
You can make your initial investment by rolling 
over assets from another Qualified Tuition Program 
to DreamAhead for the benefit of the same 
Beneficiary. You can also rollover assets from your 
Account or another Qualified Tuition Program to a 
Beneficiary who is a Member of the Family of your 
current Beneficiary.  (Please see Options for Unused 
Contributions: Changing a Beneficiary, Transferring 
Assets to Another of Your Accounts on page 14). 
A rollover for the same Beneficiary is restricted to 
once in each 12-month period. 

Incoming rollovers can be direct or indirect. A 
direct rollover is the transfer of money from one 
Qualified Tuition Program directly to another. 
An indirect rollover is the transfer of money to 
you from an account in another state’s Qualified 
Tuition Program; you then contribute the money 
to your Account. To avoid federal income tax 
consequences and the Distribution Tax, you must 
contribute an indirect rollover within 60 days of 
the distribution. You should be aware that not all 
states permit direct rollovers from Qualified Tuition 
Programs. In addition, there may be state income 
tax consequences (and in some cases state-imposed 
penalties or fees) resulting from a rollover out of a 
state’s Qualified Tuition Program. 

Refunded Distributions
In the event the Beneficiary receives a refund from 
an Eligible Educational Institution, those funds will 
be eligible for re-contribution to your Account if:
•	 The Beneficiary of your Account is the same 

beneficiary receiving the refund; and
•	 The re-contribution is made within 60 days of 

the date of the refund.

The re-contributed amount will not be subject to 
federal income tax or the Distribution Tax. For tax 
purposes, please maintain proper documentation 
evidencing the refund from the Eligible Educational 
Institution.

Moving Assets From an UGMA/UTMA 
Account
If you are the custodian of an UGMA/UTMA 
account, you may be able to open an Account in 
your custodial capacity, depending on the laws 
of the state where you opened the UGMA/UTMA 
account. These types of accounts involve additional 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  11

restrictions that do not apply to regular 529 Plan 
accounts. We are not liable for any consequences 
related to your improper use, transfer, or 
characterization of custodial funds.

In general, your UGMA/UTMA custodial Account 
is subject to the following additional requirements 
and restrictions:
•	 You must indicate that the Account is an 

UGMA/UTMA Account by completing the 
appropriate information during online 
Enrollment or checking the appropriate box 
on the paper Enrollment Form;

•	 You must establish an Account in your 
custodial capacity separate from any Accounts 
you may hold in your individual capacity;

•	 The actions you take in connection with the 
Account, including your authorization of the 
distributions, will be governed by applicable 
UGMA/UTMA law;

•	 You will not be able to change the Beneficiary 
of the Account (directly or by means of a 
Rollover Distribution), except as may be 
permitted by applicable UGMA/UTMA law;

•	 You will not be permitted to change the 
Account Owner to anyone other than a 
successor Custodian during the term of the 
custodial account under applicable UGMA/
UTMA law;

•	 You must notify us when the custodianship 
terminates, and your Beneficiary is legally 
entitled to take control of the Account by 
completing the appropriate form. At that 
time, the Beneficiary will become the Account 
Owner and will become subject to the 
provisions of DreamAhead applicable to non-
UGMA/UTMA Account Owners;

•	 Any tax consequences of a distribution from 
an Account will be imposed on the Beneficiary 
and not on the Custodian; and

•	 We may require you to provide 
documentation evidencing compliance with 
the applicable UGMA/UTMA law.

In addition, certain tax consequences described 
under Important Federal Tax Information starting 
on page 56 may not be applicable in the case of 
Accounts opened by a custodian under UGMA/
UTMA. Moreover, because only contributions 
made in cash form may be used to open an Account 

in DreamAhead, contributions from an existing 
UGMA/UTMA account to an Account would 
require liquidation of non-cash assets held by the 
existing UGMA/UTMA account, which would 
generally be a taxable event. Please contact a tax 
advisor to discuss the consequences of transferring 
assets held in an existing UGMA/UTMA account 
and what the implications of a transfer may be for 
your specific situation.

Moving Assets From a Coverdell Education 
Savings Account (ESA)
You may fund your Account by moving assets 
from a Coverdell ESA. Please indicate this on the 
paper Enrollment Form or paper Contribution 
Form for any additional contributions that result 
from the liquidation of ESA assets. Unlike UGMA/
UTMA accounts, the Beneficiary may be changed 
to a Member of the Family of the beneficiary of an 
ESA. Making distributions from an ESA to fund an 
Account for the same Beneficiary is not a taxable 
transaction. Prior to moving assets from a Coverdell 
ESA, you should consult your tax advisor for more 
information.

Redeeming U.S. Savings Bonds 
(Series EE or Series I Bonds)
You may fund your Account with proceeds from 
the redemption of certain U.S. Savings Bonds. 
In certain cases, you may redeem U.S. Savings 
Bonds for this purpose without paying tax under 
the education tax exclusion. Please visit www.
savingsbonds.gov to determine if you are eligible 
for this exclusion.

Additional Form Requirements for 
Rollovers, ESAs, and Series EE or Series I 
Bonds
Rollover contributions and other transfers to 
your Account must be accompanied by a Rollover 
Form as well as any other information we may 
require, including the information required for 
certain contributions described below. To roll over 
assets into an Account in DreamAhead, you must 
complete a Rollover Form and an Enrollment Form.

When making a contribution to your Account 
with assets previously invested in an ESA or assets 
received from a redemption of Series EE and Series 
I bonds, or through a rollover from anther Qualified 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  12

Tuition Program, you must indicate the source of 
the contribution and provide us with the following 
documentation:
•	 In the case of a contribution from an ESA, 

an account statement issued by the financial 
institution that acted as custodian of the 
account that shows basis and earnings.

•	 In the case of a contribution from the 
redemption of Series EE or Series I U.S. 
Savings Bonds, an account statement or Form 
1099-INT issued by the financial institution 
that redeemed the bond showing interest 
received upon the redemption of the bond.

•	 In the case of a rollover, either you or the 
previous Qualified Tuition Program must 
provide us with a statement issued by the 
distributing program that shows the basis and 
earnings portions of the distribution.

Please visit the DreamAhead website at  
www.dreamahead.wa.gov or contact a Customer 
Service Representative at 1-844-529-5845 for any 
of the forms you may need. Until we receive the 
documentation described above, as applicable, we 
will treat the entire amount of the contribution as 
earnings in the Account receiving the transfer.

Year End Contributions
We will generally treat contributions sent by U.S. 
mail as having been made in a given year if checks 
are received and processed on or before December 
31 of the applicable year, provided the checks are 
subsequently paid by the bank on which they are 
drawn. It is important, therefore, to ensure that 
checks sent by U.S. mail are postmarked with 
sufficient time to allow for processing.

With respect to EFT contributions, for tax purposes 
we will generally treat contributions received by 
us in a given year as having been made in that year 
if you submit them on or before December 31 of 
that year and the funds are successfully deducted 
from your checking or savings account at another 
financial institution. 

We will generally consider contributions made 
through an AIP as received in the year the AIP debit 
has been deducted from your checking or savings 
account at another financial institution. (Please see 
Automatic Investment Plan (AIP) above).

Regardless of the calendar year for which a 
contribution is deductible, the date of the 
contribution (and thus the price of the Units 
purchased with the contribution) will be determined 
as discussed above the applicable contribution 
method.  

Trusts, Corporations, and other  
Entities as Account Owners
An Account Owner that is a trust, partnership, 
corporation, association, estate, or another 
acceptable type of entity must submit 
documentation to DreamAhead to verify the 
existence of the entity and identify the individuals 
who are eligible to act on the entity’s behalf. 
Examples of appropriate documentation include a 
trust agreement, partnership agreement, corporate 
resolution, articles of incorporation, bylaws, 
or letters appointing an executor or personal 
representative. You must submit this documentation 
when establishing an Account. We will not be able 
to open your Account until we receive all of the 
information required on the Enrollment Form and 
any other information we may require, including 
the documentation that verifies the existence of the 
Account Owner. If the Account Owner is an agency 
or instrumentality of a state or local government, 
or tax-exempt organization as defined in Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code, has established the Account 
as a general scholarship fund, and is therefore not 
required to name a Beneficiary and is not subject 
to the Maximum Account Balance limit, the 
organization must provide verification (e.g., an IRS 
determination letter) of its exempt status when the 
Account is established. 

Maximum Account Balance limit
You or others can contribute to your Account at any 
time, as long as the contribution would not cause 
your Account to exceed the Maximum Account 
Balance of $500,000 for a Beneficiary. All accounts 
for the same Beneficiary under all Qualified Tuition 
Programs sponsored by the State are counted toward 
the Maximum Account Balance regardless of the 
Account Owner. Earnings may cause the account 
balances for a Beneficiary to exceed the Maximum 
Account Balance and no further contributions will 
be allowed at that point.  If, however, the market 
value of your Account and other applicable accounts 
for the same Beneficiary falls below the Maximum 
Account Balance, additional contributions will be 
accepted. 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  13

If a contribution is made to an Account that 
would cause the aggregate value of all accounts 
for the same Beneficiary to exceed the Maximum 
Account Balance, the entirety of the contribution 
amount will be returned to you or the contributor, 
as applicable. If you are enrolled in an AIP, the 
AIP may be discontinued. Should we increase the 
Maximum Account Balance limit, we will accept 
additional contributions up to the new Maximum 
Account Balance limit.

Excess Contributions
We will return the entirety of any contribution 
received that would cause the Account balance 
to exceed the Maximum Account Balance (as 
determined by the close of business on the day 
prior to our receipt of your contribution) to the 
contributor, without adjustment for gains or 
losses. If a contribution is applied to an Account 
and we later determine the contribution to 
have caused the aggregate market value of the 
account(s) for a Beneficiary in all Qualified Tuition 
Programs sponsored by the State to exceed the 
Maximum Account Balance, we may refund the 
excess contributions and related earnings to the 
contributor. Any refund of an excess contribution 
may be treated as a Non-Qualified Distribution. The 
risk of market loss, tax implications and any other 
expenses as a result of such a refund will be solely 
your responsibility.

Failed Contributions
If you make a contribution by check, EFT, or AIP 
that is returned unpaid by the bank upon which it 
is drawn, you will be responsible for any losses or 
expenses incurred by the Portfolios or DreamAhead 
and we will charge your returned contribution a 
fee of $25. DreamAhead has the right to reverse 
any contribution previously credited due to 
nonpayment.

Confirmation of Transactions
We will send you a separate confirmation notice 
with respect to each transaction in your Account(s), 
except for Account assets being automatically 
moved within the Year of Enrollment Options as 
your Beneficiary ages. Each notice will instruct you 
to log on to your Account to view your transaction 
details. Alternatively, if you have elected to 
receive paper notices, we will mail you summary 
statements on a quarterly basis. Each statement 
will indicate: the dollar amount of the transaction, 
the unit cost of the Portfolios, the number of 
Units you own in each Portfolio as a result of the 
transaction and the date of the transaction. If 
you receive a statement that you believe does not 
accurately reflect your instructions — for example, 
the amount invested differs from the amount you 
contributed, or the contribution was not invested 
in the particular Portfolio(s) you selected — you 
have 60 days from the date of the confirmation 
or quarterly statement to notify us of the error. 
(Please see Maintaining My Account — Correcting 
Errors on page 15).

We use reasonable procedures to confirm that 
transaction requests are genuine. You may be 
responsible for losses resulting from fraudulent 
or unauthorized instructions received by us, 
provided we reasonably believe the instructions 
were genuine. To safeguard your Account, please 
keep your information confidential. Contact us 
immediately at 1-844-529-5845 if you believe 
there is a discrepancy between a transaction 
you requested and the confirmation or quarterly 
statement you received, or if you believe someone 
has obtained unauthorized access to your Account. 
We may refuse contributions if they appear to be an 
abuse of DreamAhead.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  14

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ Account Statements

 ▸ Changing Beneficiaries

 ▸ Changing Investments

 ▸ Changing Account Owners

My Account
Maintaining to My Account 

Account Statements
You may choose to receive electronic statements 
or paper statements.  You will receive quarterly 
and annual statements.  Quarterly statements will 
include: 
•	 contributions to your Account;
•	 exchanges within your Account;
•	 withdrawals made from your Account;
•	 transaction and maintenance fees you 

incurred;
•	 market performance; and
•	 the total value of your Account at quarter end.

If you receive your statements electronically, we will 
email you a notice that your statement is available 
with instructions on how to retrieve it.  If you 
choose to receive your statements in paper form, an 
annual fee of $10 will be charged to your Account.

Your Account statement is not a tax document 
and you should not submit it with your tax forms. 
However, you could use the Account statement(s) 
to determine how much you paid or contributed 
during the previous tax year.

You may request duplicate copies of Account 
statements to be provided to another party. Your 
statements are also available online at www.
dreamahead.wa.gov/ for a period of at least 
eighteen (18) months. 

Options for Unused Contributions: 
Changing a Beneficiary, Transferring 
Assets to Another of Your Accounts
Your Beneficiary may choose not to attend an 
Eligible Educational Institution or K-12 School or 
may not use all the money in your Account for 
Qualified Expenses. In either case, you may name 
a new Beneficiary or take a distribution of your 
Account assets. Any Non-Qualified Distribution 
from your Account will be subject to applicable 
income taxes and the Distribution Tax. In addition, 
certain Other Distributions may be subject to 
applicable income taxes. Please see Using My 
Account beginning on page 17.

You can change your Beneficiary at any time. 
To avoid negative tax consequences, the new 
Beneficiary must be a Member of the Family of the 
original Beneficiary. Any change of the Beneficiary 
to a person who is not a Member of the Family of 
the current Beneficiary is treated as a Non-Qualified 
Distribution subject to applicable federal and state 
income taxes and the Distribution Tax. An Account 
Owner who is an UGMA/UTMA custodian will not 
be able to change the Beneficiary of the Account, 
except as may be permitted under the applicable 
UGMA/UTMA law. Please see Opening My Account 
— Moving Assets from an UGMA/UTMA (Uniform 
Gifts to Minors Act/Uniform Transfers to Minors 
Act) Account, beginning on page 10.

To initiate a change of Beneficiary, you must 
complete and submit a Change Beneficiary Form 
(and an Enrollment Form if you do not already have 
an Account for the new Beneficiary). We will make 
the change upon our receipt and acceptance of the 
signed, properly completed form(s) in good order. 
We reserve the right to suspend the processing of a 
Beneficiary transfer if we suspect that the transfer 
is intended to avoid DreamAhead’s exchange 
and reallocation limits and/or tax laws. Also, a 
Beneficiary change or transfer of assets may be 
denied or limited if it causes one or more Accounts 
to exceed the Maximum Account Balance limit 
for a Beneficiary. There is no fee for changing a 
Beneficiary.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  15

We will invest your assets in accordance with 
your chosen allocation for the new Beneficiary’s 
Account. This change may result in a loss in the 
value of your Account depending on market 
fluctuations during the time of the change. You 
can also transfer assets in the Account to a new 
Portfolio(s) when you change the Beneficiary for 
the Account.

Changing Investment Strategy
You can change the investment strategy for each 
Beneficiary – i.e., make an exchange of existing 
Account assets among Portfolios — up to two 
times per calendar year without changing the 
Beneficiary. You can initiate this transaction online 
or by downloading a form from our website at 
www.dreamahead.wa.gov/.

Because you may make no more than two 
exchanges per year per Account, it is important 
that you select a Portfolio(s) that will meet 
your comfort level for risk in a variety of 
market conditions, while also considering your 
investment time horizon.

Change of Account Owner
Subject to the limitations included in this 
Program Details Booklet, you may transfer 
ownership of your Account to a new Account 
Owner. All transfers to a new Account Owner 
must be requested in writing and include any 
information that may be required by us. However, 
ownership or control of your Account may not be 
sold, transferred, used as collateral, or pledged 
or exchanged for money or anything of value. 
We may require affidavits or other evidence to 
establish that a change in ownership or control of 
your Account is valid, is non-financial in nature 
or for any other reason. Ownership or control 
of your Account may also be transferred under 
an appropriate court order, such as pursuant to 
divorce proceedings; or by operation of law such 
as a will. In all cases, the new Account Owner is, 
and must agree to be, bound by the terms and 
conditions of the Program Details Booklet and 
Enrollment Form. Transferring an Account to 
a new Account Owner may have significant tax 
consequences. Before doing so, you should check 
with your tax advisor regarding your particular 
situation. For information about changing the 
Custodian of an UGMA/UTMA Account, please 

see Opening My Account — Moving Assets from 
an UGMA/UTMA (Uniform Gifts to Minors 
Act/Uniform Transfers to Minors Act) Account,  
beginning on page 10.

Recovery of Incorrect Amounts
If an incorrect amount is paid to or on behalf of you 
or your Beneficiary, we have the right to recover 
this amount from you or your Beneficiary, and to 
adjust any remaining balances to correct the error. 
The processing of adjustments resulting from 
clerical errors or other causes that are de minimis 
(insignificant) in amount can be waived at our 
discretion.

Correcting Errors
There is a 60-day period for making corrections. 
If, within 60 calendar days after issuance of any 
Quarterly Account statement you make no written 
objection to us regarding an error in the Account 
that is reflected on that statement, the statement 
will be deemed correct and binding upon you and 
your Beneficiary. If you do not write us to object 
to a statement within that time period, you will 
be considered to have approved it and to have 
released the Program Administrators from all 
responsibility for matters covered by the statement 
or confirmation. Each Account Owner agrees to 
provide all information that we need to comply 
with any legal reporting requirements.

Disclosure Relating to Internet Access
You have the option to perform Account-related 
transactions and activity electronically via the 
Internet. You can securely access and manage 
Account information — including quarterly 
statements and tax forms — virtually 24 hours a 
day at www.dreamahead.wa.gov/ once you have 
created an online username and password.

If you choose to open an Account electronically or 
register for online access to an existing Account, 
you can also choose to access documents relating to 
your Account via our website.

Please note that if you elect to receive documents 
electronically, the only way to get paper copies 
of these documents will be to print them from 
a computer. You should not elect to conduct 
transactions electronically if you do not have 
regular and continuous Internet access.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  16

The information concerning the Portfolios may 
be available on our website. We expect to post on 
our website any updated information concerning 
the Portfolios and Underlying Funds as well as 
updates to the Program Details Booklet at least 
annually. These materials and information also 
may be supplemented throughout the year. We 
will make any supplements available on our 
website. We may archive documents and cease 
providing them on the website when they become 
out-of-date.

You should consider printing any information 
posted on our website before it is removed. If you 
have elected electronic delivery, we may, from 
time to time, notify you by email that documents, 
including Account statements, have been 
delivered. However, email notification is not a 
substitute for regularly checking your Account at 
www.dreamahead.wa.gov/. We intend to archive 
the transaction history for Accounts after a rolling 
48-month period, and Account statements after a 
rolling 18-month period, after which they may not 
be available through our website. Accordingly, you 
should print any Account information before we 
remove it. After we archive these documents, you 
will be able to obtain a copy for a fee by contacting 
a Customer Service Representative at 1-844-529-
5845.

You will be required to provide your username 
and password to access your Account information 
and perform transactions on our website. Keep 
your password private. We will honor instructions 
from any person who provides correct identifying 
information, and we are not responsible for 
fraudulent transactions we believe to be genuine 
according to these procedures. Accordingly, you 
bear the risk of loss if unauthorized persons 
obtain your username and password and conduct 
any transactions on your Account. You can reduce 
this risk by checking your Account information 
regularly. You should avoid using passwords that 
can be guessed and should change your password 
frequently. For security purposes, our Customer 
Service Representatives will not ask you for your 
password. It is your responsibility to review your 
Account information and to notify us promptly 
of any unusual activity. You can withdraw your 
consent to receiving documents electronically 
at any time by contacting a Customer Service 
Representative at 1-844-529-5845 or by making the 
change online.

We cannot guarantee the privacy or reliability of 
email, so we will not honor requests for transfers 
or changes received by email, nor will we send 
Account information through email. All transfers 
or changes made electronically should be made 
through our secure website. Our website uses 
generally accepted and available encryption 
software and protocols, including Transport Layer 
Security. This is to prevent unauthorized people 
from eavesdropping or intercepting information 
sent by or received by us. This may require that 
you use certain readily available versions of web 
browsers. As new security software or other 
technology becomes available, we may enhance our 
systems.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  17

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ How to use your Account

 ▸ Qualified Distributions

 ▸ Non-Qualified Distributions

My Account
Using to My Account 

General
You can request a distribution from your Account 
online or by mail. You can close your Account 
at any time by submitting appropriate forms by 
mail. Distributions from your Account are either 
Qualified Distributions, Non-Qualified Distributions 
or Other Distributions as determined under IRS 
requirements. As the Account Owner, you are 
responsible for satisfying the IRS requirements for 
proof of Qualified Distributions, which includes 
retaining any paperwork and receipts necessary to 
verify the type of distribution you received. We will 
not provide information to the IRS regarding the 
type of distribution you 
receive.

Distributions may be 
subject to federal and/or 
state tax withholding. For 
purposes of determining 
whether a distribution is 
taxable or subject to the 
Distribution Tax, you must 
determine whether the 
distribution is made in connection with the payment 
of Qualified Expenses, as defined under the Code 
and discussed under Qualified Distributions below 
or fits within one of the exceptions to treatment as a 
Non-Qualified Distribution as discussed under Other 
Distributions on page 18 below.

Method of Payment
We pay distributions to the following payees:
•	 Account Owner by check or by Electronic 

Funds Transfer (EFT) using the Automated 
Clearing House (ACH) to an established bank 
account;

•	 Beneficiary by check or by Electronic 
Funds Transfer (EFT) using the Automated 
Clearing House (ACH) to an established 
bank account; or

•	 Eligible Educational Institution by check.

Timing of Distribution Request
We process distribution requests received 
in good order before the close of the NYSE 
(generally 1 p.m., Pacific Time) on a Business 
Day based on the Unit Values of the Portfolios 
underlying the Account for that day. We process 
requests received in good order after the close of 
the NYSE using the Unit Values of the Portfolios 
underlying the Account for the next Business 
Day.

Procedures for Distributions
Only you, as the Account Owner may direct 
distributions from your Account. Qualified 
Distributions are made payable to the 
Account Owner, the Beneficiary, or an Eligible 
Educational Institution; and may be requested 
online. You may also call a Customer Service 
Representative at 1-844-529-5845 to receive 
a Withdrawal Form or download the form on 
our website at www.dreamahead.wa.gov/. 
Complete and submit the form to us in good 
order and provide such other information or 
documentation as we may require from time to 
time.

We will generally process a distribution from 
an Account within three (3) Business Days 
of accepting the request. During periods of 
market volatility and at year-end, distribution 
requests may take up to five (5) Business Days 
to process. Please allow ten (10) Business Days 
for the proceeds to reach you. We charge a Fee 
for distributions made by federal wire or by 
overnight express mail.

Qualified Distributions
Distributions for Qualified Expenses are 
generally exempt from federal income taxes and 
the Distribution Tax.

A distribution 
from your Account 

can be made 
payable to you, 

your Beneficiary 
or the Eligible 
Educational 
Institution.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  18

Non-Qualified Distributions
A distribution that does not meet the requirements 
for a Qualified Distribution or Other Distribution 
will be considered a Non-Qualified Distribution by 
the IRS. The earnings portion of a Non-Qualified 
Distribution will be subject to federal income taxes 
(and may be subject to other taxes) and will be 
taxable to the person receiving the distribution. 
In addition, Non-Qualified Distributions are 
subject to a Distribution Tax. The person receiving 
the distribution would need to comply with 
IRS requirements, including filing applicable 
forms with the IRS. Although we will report the 
earnings portion of all distributions, it is your 
final responsibility to calculate and report any tax 
liability and to substantiate any exemption from tax 
and/or penalty.

Temporary Withdrawal Restriction
If you make a contribution by check, EFT, or AIP 
(assuming all are in good order), we will defer the 
approval of a distribution of that contribution 
from your Account for ten (10) Business Days after 
deposit. For all third parties and gifts, the hold 
period is twenty (20) Business Days. Please note 
that there will be a hold placed on distribution 
requests for thirty (30) calendar-days after any of 
the following occur:
•	 you complete an initial enrollment in 

DreamAhead;
•	 you change your banking information; or
•	 you change your address.

For assistance, please contact a Customer Service 
Representative at 1-844-529-5845 Monday - 
Friday, 6 a.m. to 5 p.m. Pacific Time.

Other Distributions
The distributions discussed below are not subject 
to the Distribution Tax. Except for a Rollover 
Distribution, a Refunded Distribution or an ABLE 
Rollover Distribution, the earnings portion of each 
distribution discussed will be subject to federal 
and to any applicable state income taxes. (Please 
see Important Federal Tax Information— Transfers 
and Rollovers on page 56). You should consult a tax 
advisor regarding the application of federal and 
state tax laws if you take any of these distributions.

•	 Death of Beneficiary. In the event of the 
death of the Beneficiary, you may change 
the Beneficiary of your Account, authorize a 
payment to a beneficiary of the Beneficiary, 
or the estate of the Beneficiary, or request 
the return of all or a portion of your Account 
balance. A distribution due to the death of 
the Beneficiary, if paid to a beneficiary of the 
Beneficiary or the estate of the Beneficiary, 
will not be subject to the Distribution Tax 
but earnings will be subject to federal and 
any applicable state income tax. If not paid 
to a beneficiary of the Beneficiary or the 
Beneficiary’s estate, the distribution may 
constitute a Non-Qualified Distribution, 
subject to federal and applicable state 
income taxes at the distributee’s tax rate 
and the Distribution Tax. If you select a new 
Beneficiary who is a Member of the Family 
of the former Beneficiary, you will not owe 
federal income tax or the Distribution Tax. 
Special rules apply to UGMA/UTMA custodial 
accounts.

•	 Disability of Beneficiary. If your Beneficiary 
becomes Disabled you may change the 
Beneficiary of your Account or request the 
distribution of all or a portion of your Account 
balance. A distribution due to the Disability 
of the Beneficiary will not be subject to the 
Distribution Tax, but earnings will be subject 
to federal and any applicable state income tax 
at your tax rate. If you select a new Beneficiary 
who is a Member of the Family of the former 
Beneficiary instead of taking a distribution, 
you will not owe federal income tax or the 
Distribution Tax. Special rules apply to 
UGMA/UTMA custodial accounts.

•	 Receipt of Scholarship. If your Beneficiary 
receives a qualified scholarship, you may 
withdraw Account assets up to the amount 
of the scholarship without incurring the 
Distribution Tax. A qualified scholarship 
includes certain educational assistance 
allowances under federal law as well as 
certain payments for educational expenses 
(or attributable to attendance at certain 
educational institutions) that are exempt 
from federal income tax. The earnings portion 
of a distribution due to a qualified scholarship 
is subject to federal and any applicable state 
income tax at the distributee’s tax rate.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  19

•	 Tuition Assistance. You make take a 
distribution up to the amount of the Tuition 
Assistance, as described in the Code, without 
incurring the Distribution Tax, although the 
earnings portion of the distribution will be 
subject to federal income taxes and may be 
subject to other taxes.

•	 Attendance at Certain Specified U.S. 
Service Academies. If your Beneficiary 
attends the United States Military Academy, 
the United States Naval Academy, the 
United States Air Force Academy, the United 
States Coast Guard Academy, or the United 
States Merchant Marine Academy, you may 
withdraw up to an amount equal to the costs 
attributable to the Beneficiary’s attendance 
at the institution without incurring the 
Distribution Tax. The earnings portion of the 
distribution will be subject to federal and any 
applicable state income tax at the distributee’s 
tax rate.

•	 Use of Education Credits. If you pay 
Qualified Expenses from an Account, 
you will not be able to claim American 
Opportunity, Hope, or Lifetime Learning 
Credits for the same expenses. Furthermore, 
expenses used in determining the allowed 
American Opportunity, Hope, or Lifetime 
Learning Credits will reduce the amount of 
a Beneficiary’s Qualified Expenses to be paid 
from your Account as a Qualified Distribution 
and may result in taxable distributions. 
These distributions will not be subject to the 
Distribution Tax.

•	 Rollover Distribution. For a distribution 
to qualify as a Rollover Distribution, you 
must reinvest the amount distributed from 
your Account into another Qualified Tuition 
Program within 60 days of the distribution 
date. Rollover Distributions may be subject 
to certain state taxes but are generally 
exempt from federal income taxes and the 
Distribution Tax. 

•	 Refunded Distribution. Refunds received 
from an Eligible Educational Institution that 
are recontributed to an Account and qualify as 
a “Refunded Distribution” will not be subject 
to federal income tax or the Distribution Tax. 

•	 ABLE Rollover Distribution. To qualify 
as an ABLE Rollover Distribution, you must 
reinvest the amount distributed from your 
Account into a Qualified ABLE Program 
within 60 days of the distribution date. 
ABLE Rollover Distributions may be subject 
to certain state taxes but are generally 
exempt from federal income taxes and the 
Distribution Tax. 

Records Retention
Under current federal tax law, you are responsible 
for obtaining and retaining records, invoices, or 
other documentation adequate to substantiate: (i) 
expenses which you claim are Qualified Expenses, 
(ii) the death or Disability of a Beneficiary, (iii) the 
receipt by a Beneficiary of a qualified scholarship 
or Tuition Assistance, (iv) the attendance by 
a Beneficiary at certain specified U.S. service 
academies, or (v) the use of American Opportunity, 
Hope, or Lifetime Learning Credits.

Tax Treatment of Distributions
Please read Important Federal Tax Information 
starting on page 56.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  20

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸  When DreamAhead May Close Your Account

 ▸  Account Restrictions

My Account
Closing my Account

No Assets in Your Account
If you distribute all of the assets in your Account, 
we will not close your Account. You may reactivate 
your Account with any type of contribution 
within eighteen (18) months of the date of the last 
withdrawal. Beyond the eighteen (18) month time 
frame, you must complete a new Enrollment and 
reestablish your Account at that time.

Unclaimed Accounts
Under certain circumstances, if there has been no 
activity in your Account, or if we have not been able 
to contact you for a period of time, your Account 
may be considered abandoned under the State’s 
or your state’s unclaimed property laws. Under 
the Washington Uniform Unclaimed Property Act 
(Chapter 63.29 RCW), this time period is generally 
three (3) years. If the funds remain abandoned, they 
may, without proper claim by the Account Owner, 
be transferred to the Washington State Department 
of Revenue as unclaimed property. Your state may 
have different laws and time periods associated 
with handling unclaimed property. For more 
information on the State’s unclaimed property 
law, please see the Washington State’s Department 
of Revenue website at http://ucp.dor.wa.gov/
aboutUCP.aspx.

Involuntary Termination of Accounts
DreamAhead is not intended to be used, nor 
should it be used, by any taxpayer for the purpose 
of evading federal or state taxes or tax penalties. 
We may refuse to establish or may terminate 
an Account if we determine that it is in the best 
interest of DreamAhead or required by law. If 
we reasonably believe that you provided false 
or misleading information to the Program 

Administrators, an Eligible Educational Institution 
or a K-12 School in establishing or maintaining 
an Account, or that you are restricted by law from 
participating in DreamAhead, we may close your 
Account.

In addition, we may terminate an Account if the 
balance or fair market value of the Account is 
less than $25 for a period of at least eighteen (18) 
months.

Assets redeemed as a result of closing your Account 
will be valued at the Unit Value next calculated 
after we decide to close your Account, and the risk 
of market loss, tax implications, penalties, and any 
other expenses, as a result of the liquidation, will be 
solely your responsibility.
 
Account Restrictions
In addition to rights expressly stated elsewhere 
in this Program Details Booklet, we reserve the 
right to (1) freeze an Account and/or suspend 
Account services when we have received reasonable 
notice of a dispute regarding the assets in an 
Account, including notice of a dispute in Account 
ownership or control or when we reasonably 
believe a fraudulent transaction may occur or has 
occurred; (2) freeze an Account and/or suspend 
Account services upon the notification of the death 
of an Account Owner until we receive required 
documentation in good order and reasonably 
believe that it is lawful to transfer Account 
ownership to the Successor Owner; (3) terminate 
and make full distribution of an Account, without 
the Account Owner’s permission, in cases of 
threatening conduct or suspicious, fraudulent, 
or illegal activity; and (4) reject a contribution for 
any reason, including contributions to an Account 
or Accounts that we believe are not in the best 
interests of DreamAhead, a Portfolio or the Account 
Owners. The risk of market loss, tax implications, 
penalties, and any other expenses, as a result of 
such an Account freeze or termination will be solely 
the Account Owner’s responsibility.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  21

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ The total fees charged for investing in 
DreamAhead

 ▸ The fees charged for Underlying Funds and 
program management of DreamAhead

 ▸ The cost of a $10,000 investment in 
DreamAhead

Fees

Fees Charged
The Committee has established Fees and other 
payments relating to DreamAhead, which it may 
change from time to time. Any changes to the Fees 
will be included in any subsequent Program Details 
Booklets or supplements. The Fees are described 
below and illustrated in the following tables.

Total Annual Asset-Based Fee
Each Portfolio has a Total Annual Asset-Based Fee, 
which includes both administrative and investment 
management costs. We deduct this Fee from the 
assets in each Portfolio. As an Account Owner, 
you indirectly bear a pro rata share of this Fee. You 
also indirectly bear a pro-rata share of the annual 
fees and expenses associated with the Underlying 
Funds in which each Portfolio held by your Account 
invests. This ultimately reduces the return you 
will receive from an investment in DreamAhead. 
The Total Annual Asset-Based Fee is distributed as 
follows:

•	 Underlying Fund Fee. The Underlying 
Fund Fee includes administrative and other 
expenses of the Underlying Funds.

•	 Service Fee. The Service Fee is paid to 
Sumday Administration for the Program 
Management Services that it provides to 
DreamAhead.

•	 State Administrative Fee. The State 
Administrative Fee is paid to the Committee to 
support the Committee’s administrative costs 
and expenses of operating DreamAhead.

Underlying Funds, asset allocation, and Underlying 
Fund Fees are subject to change at any time due to 
changes in the Fees charged by the fund companies 
or modifications in investment selection and/or 
overall Portfolio allocation.

Annual Account Maintenance Fee
Each Account is charged a $35 Annual Account 
Maintenance Fee to support the operations of the 
Program.  This fee is charged only at the Account 
level and is not affected by the Account having 
multiple Portfolio holdings. We deduct this fee 
from the assets in the Account on a quarterly basis 
in arears. The Annual Account Maintenance Fee is 
distributed between Sumday Administration ($30) 
and the Committee ($5).

Year of Enrollment Portfolio  
Fee Structure Table
The table on the following page shows total Fees 
charged to each Year of Enrollment Portfolio in 
DreamAhead. The Underlying Fund Fee, Service Fee 
and State Administrative Fee added together equal 
the Total Annual Asset-Based Fee.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  22

ANNUAL ASSET-BASED FEES ADDITIONAL 
EXPENSES

Year of Enrollment 
Portfolio

Estimated 
Underlying  
Fund Fee1

Service Fee2 State 
Administrative Fee3

Total Annual 
Asset-Based Fee4

Annual Account 
Maintenance Fee5

CONSERVATIVE YEAR OF ENROLLMENT PORTFOLIOS

2036 0.074% 0.12% 0.10% 0.294% $35
2034 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35
2032 0.074% 0.12% 0.10% 0.294% $35
2030 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35
2028 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35
2026 0.097% 0.12% 0.10% 0.317% $35
2024 0.103% 0.12% 0.10% 0.323% $35
2022 0.135% 0.12% 0.10% 0.355% $35
2020 0.135% 0.12% 0.10% 0.355% $35
2018 0.135% 0.12% 0.10% 0.355% $35

MODERATE YEAR OF ENROLLMENT PORTFOLIOS

2036 0.064% 0.12% 0.10% 0.284% $35
2034 0.065% 0.12% 0.10% 0.285% $35
2032 0.075% 0.12% 0.10% 0.295% $35
2030 0.075% 0.12% 0.10% 0.295% $35
2028 0.074% 0.12% 0.10% 0.294% $35
2026 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35
2024 0.079% 0.12% 0.10% 0.299% $35
2022 0.084% 0.12% 0.10% 0.304% $35
2020 0.096% 0.12% 0.10% 0.316% $35
2018 0.109% 0.12% 0.10% 0.329% $35

GROWTH YEAR OF ENROLLMENT PORTFOLIOS

2036 0.065% 0.12% 0.10% 0.285% $35
2034 0.065% 0.12% 0.10% 0.286% $35
2032 0.065% 0.12% 0.10% 0.285% $35
2030 0.065% 0.12% 0.10% 0.285% $35
2028 0.075% 0.12% 0.10% 0.295% $35
2026 0.075% 0.12% 0.10% 0.295% $35
2024 0.075% 0.12% 0.10% 0.295% $35
2022 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35
2020 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35
2018 0.109% 0.12% 0.10% 0.329% $35

Year of Enrollment Portfolio Fee Structure

1 Estimated Underlying Fund Fees reflect each Underlying Fund’s expense ratio disclosed in its most recent prospectus as of January 1, 2018, except for 
the Schwab Underlying Funds, which are as of February 28, 2018.  Expenses for multiple-fund Portfolios represent a weighted average of the expenses 
of the Portfolio’s Underlying Funds. The fees and expenses of the Underlying Funds may change. 
2,5 Sumday Administration receives the Service Fee and $30 of the Annual Account Maintenance Fee for the Program Management Services it provides 
to DreamAhead.
3,5 The Committee receives the State Administrative Fee and $5 of the Annual Account Maintenance Fee to support the Committee’s administrative 
costs and expenses of operating DreamAhead.
4This total is assessed against assets over the course of the year and includes the annualized Service Fee, the annualized Underlying Fund Fee, and the 
annualized State Administrative Fee, but does not include the Annual Account Maintenance Fee. Please refer to the tables beginning on page 24 that 
shows the total assumed investment cost over 1, 3, 5, and 10-year periods.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  23

Static Portfolio Fee Structure Table
The following table shows total Fees charged to each Static Portfolio in DreamAhead. The Underlying Fund 
Fee, Service Fee and State Administrative Fee added together equal the Total Annual Asset-Based Fee.

ANNUAL ASSET-BASED FEES ADDITIONAL 
EXPENSES

Static Portfolio
Estimated 
Underlying 
Fund Fee1

Service Fee2
State 

Administrative 
Fee3

Total Annual 
Asset-Based 

Fee4

Annual Account 
Maintenance 

Fee5

Growth Portfolio 0.056% 0.12% 0.10% 0.276% $35

Moderate Portfolio 0.075% 0.12% 0.10% 0.295% $35

Conservative Growth Portfolio 0.074% 0.12% 0.10% 0.294% $35

Balanced Portfolio 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35

Income & Growth Portfolio 0.073% 0.12% 0.10% 0.293% $35

Income Porfolio 0.102% 0.12% 0.10% 0.322% $35

Cash Preservation Portfolio 0.180% 0.12% 0.10% 0.400% $35

1 The annualized Underlying Fund Fee includes administrative and other expenses of the Underlying Funds, as of January 1, 2018, except for the 
Schwab Underlying Funds, which are as of February 28, 2018. 
2,5 Sumday Administration receives the Service Fee and $30 of the Annual Account Maintenance Fee for the Program Management Services it provides 
to DreamAhead.
3,5 The Committee receives the State Administrative Fee and $5 of the Annual Account Maintenance Fee to help cover the Committee’s administrative 
costs and expense of operating DreamAhead.
4This total is assessed against assets over the course of the year and includes the annualized Service Fee, the annualized Underlying Fund Fee, and the 
annualized State Administrative Fee, but does not include the Annual Account Maintenance Fee. Please refer to the table on page 25 that shows the 
total assumed investment cost over 1, 3, 5, and 10-year periods.

Service-based and Other Fees
We reserve the right to charge additional service-based and other Fees if we determine them to be 
necessary and reasonable. We may also impose certain transaction Fees for the transactions specified 
below.  We may deduct these fees and expenses directly from your Account.

Fee Amount1

Rollovers / Transfers out      $25

ACH Fail / Returned Check $25

Statement Delivery, per Account per year $10

Paper Check Disbursement $2.50

Overnight Delivery $15

Re-issue of disbursement checks $15

Outgoing Wires $15

Requests for paper historical statements  
and postage incurred, if required

$10

1 Subject to change without prior notice.

Static Portfolio Fee Structure



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  24

Approximate Cost for a $10,000 Investment
The following tables compare the approximate cost of investing in DreamAhead over different periods of 
time. These hypotheticals are not intended to predict or project investment performance. Past performance 
is no guarantee of future results. Your actual cost may be higher or lower. The tables are based on the 
following assumptions:
•	 A $10,000 contribution is invested for the time periods shown.
•	 A 5% annually compounded rate of return on the amount invested throughout the period.
•	 The Account balance at the end of the period shown is used to pay for Qualified Expenses (the table 

does not consider the impact of any potential state or federal taxes on the cost of investing).
•	 The total annual asset-based fee adjusts over time for the Year of Enrollment Portfolios as the asset 

mix changes.  The total annual asset-based fee remains the same for the Static Portfolios as that 
shown in the Static Portfolios Fee Structure Table. The actual total annual asset-based fee may be 
higher or lower.

•	 Each Account is charged the full Annual Account Maintenance Fee of $35.

Conservative Year of Enrollment Portfolios

APPROXIMATE COST OF A $10,000 INVESTMENT

Portfolio Option 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years
2036 $65.25 $196.48 $333.32 $704.78
2034 $65.19 $196.42 $333.18 $711.49
2032 $65.24 $196.40 $332.85 $719.53
2030 $65.18 $196.05 $336.94 $736.34
2028 $65.15 $200.09 $343.16 $751.94
2026 $67.58 $204.52 $352.20 $764.88
2024 $68.21 $209.40 $360.81 $773.32
2022 $71.51 $216.12 $367.50 $779.85
2020 $71.53 $216.16 $367.54 $779.89
2018 $71.53 $216.16 $367.54 $779.89

Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolios

APPROXIMATE COST OF A $10,000 INVESTMENT

Portfolio Option 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years
2036 $64.30 $195.21 $332.01 $702.81
2034 $64.30 $195.48 $332.55 $703.02
2032 $65.31 $196.75 $333.69 $705.50
2030 $65.31 $196.64 $333.45 $708.38
2028 $65.22 $196.43 $333.84 $714.60
2026 $65.19 $196.95 $335.69 $724.17
2024 $65.72 $198.69 $339.57 $732.92
2022 $66.33 $201.26 $345.07 $739.91
2020 $67.56 $205.19 $350.45 $745.18
2018 $68.86 $207.83 $353.07 $747.75



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  25

Growth Year of Enrollment Portfolios

APPROXIMATE COST OF A $10,000 INVESTMENT

Portfolio Option 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years
2036 $64.37 $195.45 $332.04 $702.41
2034 $64.37 $195.37 $331.87 $702.87
2032 $64.30 $195.21 $332.11 $703.19
2030 $64.30 $195.57 $332.74 $703.32
2028 $65.40 $196.92 $333.98 $703.97
2026 $65.31 $196.75 $333.59 $714.29
2024 $65.31 $196.55 $333.22 $723.81
2022 $65.19 $196.27 $337.33 $732.53
2020 $65.13 $200.22 $345.59 $740.63
2018 $68.89 $207.93 $353.24 $748.12

Static Portfolios

APPROXIMATE COST OF A $10,000 INVESTMENT

Portfolio Option 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years
Growth Portfolio $63.39 $194.03 $330.23 $698.76
Moderate Growth Portfolio $65.31 $196.75 $333.82 $704.87
Conservative Growth Portfolio $65.22 $196.46 $333.31 $703.75
Balanced Portfolio $65.19 $196.36 $333.15 $703.37
Income & Growth Portfolio $65.19 $196.35 $333.12 $703.31
Income Portfolio $68.18 $205.70 $349.36 $739.49
Cash Preservation Portfolio $76.15 $233.87 $399.39 $852.42



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  26

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ Key Risks

 ▸ Market Uncertainties

 ▸ Committee Discretion

 ▸ Impact on Financial Aid

Important Risks You Should Know About

Key Risk Factors of DreamAhead

You should carefully consider the information in 
this section, as well as the other information in 
this Program Details Booklet, before making any 
decisions about opening an Account or making 
any additional contributions. The contents of the 
Program Details Booklet should not be construed 
as legal, financial, or tax advice. You should consult 
an attorney, an investment advisor and a tax advisor 
with any legal, business, or tax questions you may 
have. In addition, investment recommendations or 
advice you receive from any investment advisor or 
any other person are not provided by, or on behalf 
of, the Program Administrators.

DreamAhead is an Investment Vehicle
Accounts in DreamAhead are subject to certain 
risks. In addition, certain Portfolios carry more 
and/or different risks than others. You should 
weigh these risks with the understanding that 
they could arise at any time during the life of 
your Account. For a discussion of the investment 
risks related to each Investment Option and their 
Underlying Funds, please see Portfolio Profiles 
starting on page 37.

Principal and Returns Not Guaranteed; No 
Insurance
We do not guarantee your contributions to an 
Account, nor any investment returns earned 
on your contributions. You could lose money 
(including your contributions) or not make any 
money by investing in DreamAhead.

An investment in DreamAhead is not a bank 
deposit, and it is not insured or guaranteed by the 
FDIC or any other government agency. Relative 
to investing for retirement, the holding period 
for college investors is very short (i.e., 5-20 years 
versus 30-60 years) and can be even shorter for 
K-12 Tuition savers. Also, the need for liquidity 
during the withdrawal phase (to pay for Qualified 
Education Expenses) generally is very important. 
You should strongly consider the level of risk you 
wish to assume and your investment time horizon 
prior to selecting an Investment Option.

Market Uncertainties
Due to market uncertainties, the overall market 
value of your Account is likely to be highly volatile 
and could be subject to wide fluctuations in 
response to factors such as regulatory or legislative 
changes, worldwide political uncertainties, and 
general economic conditions, including inflation 
and unemployment rates. All of these factors are 
beyond our control and may cause the value of your 
Account to decrease (realized or unrealized losses) 
regardless of our performance or any systematic 
investing, including AIP and payroll deduction on 
your part.

Inflation
Increases in the cost of living or the cost of 
education may reduce or eliminate the value of the 
returns of your Account.

Limited Investment Direction; Liquidity
Investments in a Qualified Tuition Program 
are considered less liquid than other types of 
investments (e.g., investments in mutual fund 
shares) because the circumstances in which you 
may withdraw money from a Qualified Tuition 
Program account without a penalty or adverse tax 
consequences are significantly more limited. Once 
you select a Portfolio for a particular contribution, 
Section 529 of the Code provides that you can 
transfer amounts invested in your Account among 
Portfolios up to two times per calendar year, or 
when you change the Beneficiary.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  27

Discretion of the Committee; Potential 
Changes to DreamAhead
The Committee has sole discretion to determine 
which Investment Options will be available in 
DreamAhead. For example, the Committee may:

•	 add, remove, or merge Portfolios;
•	 close a Portfolio to new investors;
•	 change the Program Manager or the 

Underlying Fund(s) of a Portfolio; and
•	 change DreamAhead’s Fees and charges. 

Depending on the nature of the change, we may 
require you to participate or we may prohibit you 
from participating in the change with respect to 
Accounts established before the change.

If we terminate DreamAhead, you may be required 
to take a Non-Qualified Distribution for which tax 
and penalties, including the Distribution Tax, may be 
assessed. If you established your Account prior to the 
time we make a change to DreamAhead available, 
we may require you to participate in those changes 
or we may prohibit you (according to the Code, 
Section 529 regulations or other guidance issued by 
the IRS) from participating in DreamAhead changes, 
unless you open a new Account. In addition, we may 
terminate DreamAhead by giving written notice to 
you. If this happens, we will distribute the assets in 
your Account to you. Any amounts distributed are 
subject to any charges due; to any charge, payment 
or penalty required by law to be withheld; and 
to allowances for any terminating or winding up 
expenses.

We may also change the Underlying Funds in 
DreamAhead. During the transition from one 
Underlying Fund to another Underlying Fund, a 
Portfolio or portion of a Portfolio may be temporarily 
un-invested and lack market exposure to an asset 
class. During a transition period, a Portfolio may 
temporarily hold a basket of securities if the original 
Underlying Fund chooses to satisfy the Portfolio’s 
redemption on an in-kind basis. In this case, we 
will seek to liquidate the securities received from 
the Underlying Fund as soon as practicable so that 
we can invest the proceeds in the replacement 
Underlying Fund. The transaction costs associated 
with any liquidation, as well as any market impact 
on the value of the securities being liquidated, will 
be borne by the Portfolio and Accounts invested in 
that Portfolio. The original Underlying Fund may 

impose redemption fees. In this event, the Portfolio 
and Accounts invested in that Portfolio will bear 
those redemption fees.

Suitability
We make no representation regarding the 
suitability or appropriateness of the Portfolios 
as an investment. There is no assurance that any 
Portfolio will be able to achieve its goals. Other 
types of investments may be more appropriate 
depending upon your financial status, tax situation, 
risk tolerance, age, investment goals, savings needs, 
and the investment time horizons of you or the 
Beneficiary.

You should consult a tax advisor and an 
investment advisor to seek advice concerning 
the appropriateness of this investment. There 
are programs and investment options other than 
DreamAhead available as education investment 
alternatives. They may entail tax and other fee or 
expense consequences and features different from 
DreamAhead, including, for example, different 
investments and different levels of account owner 
control. You should consider these alternatives 
prior to opening an Account.

DreamAhead Investment Options Not 
Designed for K-12 Tuition
We have not designed the Investment Options we 
offer through DreamAhead to assist you in reaching 
your K-12 Tuition savings goals.  Specifically, 
the Year of Enrollment Options are designed for 
Account Owners seeking to automatically invest 
in progressively more conservative investments 
as their Beneficiary approaches college age.  The 
Year of Enrollment Options time horizons and 
withdrawal periods may not match those needed 
to meet your K-12 Tuition savings goals, which 
may be significantly shorter.  In addition, if you 
are saving for K-12 Tuition and wish to invest in 
the Static Portfolios, please note that we have not 
structured these Portfolios to automatically invest 
in progressively more conservative investments 
as the Beneficiary approaches college age.  This 
means that your assets will remain invested in your 
selected Static Portfolio until you direct us to move 
them to a different Portfolio.   You should consult 
a tax advisor and an investment advisor about 
investing in DreamAhead in light of your personal 
circumstances.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  28

Meeting Education Expenses Not 
Guaranteed
Even if your Account(s) for a Beneficiary meet the 
Maximum Account Balance limit allowed under 
DreamAhead, we provide no assurance that the 
money in your Account will be sufficient to cover all 
the education expenses your Beneficiary may incur, 
or that the rate of return on your investment will 
match or exceed the rate at which higher education 
expenses or K-12 Tuition may rise each year.

IRS Regulations Not Final
As of the date of this Program Details Booklet, 
the IRS has not issued final tax regulations 
regarding Qualified Tuition Programs. In addition, 
DreamAhead has not sought, nor has it received, 
a private letter ruling from the IRS regarding the 
status of DreamAhead under Section 529 of the 
Code. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, 
determine to seek such a ruling in the future.

Effect of Future Law Changes
It is possible that future changes in federal or state 
laws or court or interpretive rulings could adversely 
affect the terms and conditions of DreamAhead 
or the value of your Account, or the availability of 
state tax deductions, even retroactively. Specifically, 
DreamAhead is subject to the provisions of and 
any changes to or revocation of the Enabling 
Legislation.

In addition, it is the Committee’s intention to 
take advantage of Section 529 of the Code, and, 
therefore, DreamAhead is vulnerable to tax law 
changes or court or interpretive rulings that might 
alter the tax considerations described in Important 
Federal Tax Information beginning on page 56.

Death of Account Owner
If a Successor Owner has not been named on an 
Account and the Account Owner dies, control and 
ownership of the Account will become subject to 
the estate laws of the state in which the Account 
Owner resided.

Tax Considerations
The federal and certain state tax consequences 
associated with participating in DreamAhead 
can be complex. Please see Important Federal Tax 
Information beginning on page 56. You should 
consult a tax advisor regarding the application of 
tax laws to your particular circumstances.

Securities laws
Units held by the Accounts in DreamAhead are 
generally considered municipal fund securities. 
The Units will not be registered as securities with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
or any state securities regulator. In addition, the 
Portfolios will not be registered as investment 
companies under the Investment Company Act 
of 1940. Neither the SEC nor any state securities 
commission has approved or disapproved the Units 
or passed upon the adequacy of the Program Details 
Booklet.

Financial Aid
A Beneficiary may wish to participate in federal, 
state, or institutional loan, grant, or other programs 
for funding higher education. An investment in 
DreamAhead may have an adverse impact on the 
Beneficiary’s eligibility to participate in need-based 
financial aid programs:
•	 In making decisions about eligibility for 

financial aid programs offered by the U.S. 
government and the amount of financial aid 
required, the U.S. Department of Education 
takes into consideration a variety of factors, 
including among other things, the assets 
owned by your Beneficiary and the assets 
owned by the Beneficiary’s parents. Generally, 
assets owned by a Beneficiary will have a 
greater impact on financial aid eligibility than 
assets owned by the Beneficiary’s parents.

•	 For federal financial aid purposes, Account 
assets will be considered:

 - assets of the Beneficiary’s parents, if the 
Beneficiary is a dependent student and 
the Account Owner is the parent or the 
Beneficiary; or 

 - assets of the Beneficiary, if the 
Beneficiary is the owner of the Account 
and not a dependent student.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  29

Assets owned by the parent of a Beneficiary who is 
not a dependent are not considered for purposes 
of the Free Application for Federal Student Aid 
(FAFSA).
•	 Since the treatment of Account assets on 

the FAFSA may have a material adverse 
effect on your Beneficiary’s eligibility to 
receive valuable benefits under financial aid 
programs, you or your Beneficiary should 
check:

 - the applicable laws or regulations;
 - with the financial aid office of an 

Eligible Educational Institution; and/or
 - with your tax advisor regarding the 

impact of an investment in DreamAhead 
on needs-based financial aid programs.

DreamAhead accounts may also be considered 
when determining eligibility for State financial 
aid programs. Check with the financial aid office 
of an Eligible Educational Institution for more 
information.

The federal and nonfederal financial aid program 
treatments of assets in the Program are subject to 
change at any time. You should, therefore, check 
and periodically monitor the applicable laws 
and other official guidance, as well as particular 
Program and institutional rules and requirements, 
to determine the impact of your Account on 
eligibility under particular financial aid programs.

Medicaid Eligibility
It is unclear how local and state government 
agencies will treat Qualified Tuition Program 
assets for the purpose of Medicaid eligibility. 
Although there are federal guidelines under Title 
XIX of the Social Security Act of 1965, each state 
administers its Medicaid program and rules could 
vary greatly from one state to the next. You should 
check with an attorney, a tax advisor, or your local 
Medicaid administrator regarding the impact of an 
investment in DreamAhead on Medicaid eligibility.

General Portfolio Risks
Each Portfolio has its own investment strategy 
and, as a result, its own risk and performance 
characteristics. In choosing the appropriate 
Portfolio(s) for your Account, you should consider 
your investment objectives, risk tolerance, time 
horizon, and other factors you determine to be 
important.

A Portfolio’s risk and potential return are functions 
of its relative weightings of stock, bond, and 
money market investments. In general, the greater 
a Portfolio’s exposure to stock investments, the 
higher its risk (especially short-term volatility) and 
its potential for superior long-term performance. 
The more exposure a Portfolio has to bond and 
money market investments, the lower its risk and 
its potential long-term returns. There are also 
variations in risk/return levels within the stock and 
bond categories. For example, international stocks 
typically have higher risk levels than domestic 
stocks.

Selecting a Portfolio emphasizing stocks is 
generally considered appropriate when the 
investment goal is many years away. As the goal 
becomes closer, an investor’s concern generally 
shifts from capital growth to capital preservation. 
Neither the Year of Enrollment Portfolios nor 
the Static Portfolios are protected from market 
volatility and there is no guarantee that Portfolios 
will not lose value, including principal.

In addition, there is no guarantee that the 
Underlying Funds will continue to be available for 
investment by the Portfolios or that the Committee 
will not decide to invest one or more Portfolios 
in different Underlying Funds with the same or 
different Investment Manager.

For additional information on the risks that 
may affect Portfolio performance, please read 
Investment Choices— Portfolio Profiles starting on 
page 37.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  30

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ The Investment Options offered by 
DreamAhead

 ▸ The Underlying Funds within each 
Investment Option 

 ▸ The principal risks associated with each 
Investment Option and Underlying Fund

 ▸ Additional Investment Information

Investment Choices

DreamAhead offers several Portfolios, including 
Year of Enrollment Portfolios and Static Portfolios. 
You should consider the information in this Section 
carefully before choosing to invest in one or more 
Portfolios. If you have questions about any of the 
investment-related information in this Section, 
you should contact an investment advisor prior to 
making an investment decision.

Investments Overview
Your Account assets are held in trust for your 
exclusive benefit and cannot be transferred or 
used by DreamAhead for any purpose other than 
those of the Program. Please keep in mind that 
you will not own shares of the Underlying Funds. 
You are purchasing Units of Portfolios held in 
trust by the Program. Those Portfolios invest your 
contributions in one or more of the Underlying 
Funds. 

You can choose among two investment approaches 
(Year of Enrollment and Static) at the time your 
Account is established and each time you make 
additional contributions. When determining 
whether to save for K-12 Tuition, note that the Year 
of Enrollment Portfolios are designed for college 
savings time horizons and withdrawal periods 
and not for elementary or secondary school time 
horizons which may be shorter.

We offer:
•	 Year of Enrollment Investment Option. 

This option offers Portfolios designed for 
different Enrollment Years (anticipated year of 
enrollment at college) in two-year increments. 
In addition, the Year of Enrollment 
Investment Option has three risk tolerances 
(Conservative, Moderate or Growth) to 
choose from. In each Portfolio, your money 
is moved automatically to progressively 
more conservative investments as your 
Beneficiary approaches the targeted Year of 
Enrollment. Each Portfolio invests in one or 
more Underlying Funds managed by Fidelity, 
JP Morgan, Schwab and/or Vanguard;

•	 Static Investment Option. This option offers 
seven (7) Portfolios.  Unlike the Portfolios 
in the Year of Enrollment Investment 
Option, if you invest in a Static Portfolio, 
the composition of investments within the 
Portfolio remains fixed over time, subject to 
periodic re-balancing back to the Portfolio 
guidelines and any changes in investment 
policy made by the Committee. Each Portfolio 
invests in one or more Underlying Funds, 
each of which is managed by either Fidelity, 
JP Morgan, Schwab and/or Vanguard.  If you 
invest in a Static Portfolio, your assets will not 
shift to more conservative investments over 
time unless you specifically direct us to move 
your assets to another Portfolio.

Investment Options:  Choose 
from the Year of Enrolment 

Portfolios that automatically 
become more conservative over 
time or the Static Portfolios that 
remain fixed over time. You can 

select multiple Portfolios.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  31

Year of Enrollment Investment 
Option
The Portfolios in the Year of Enrollment Investment 
Option are designed to take into account a 
Beneficiary’s age and your investing time horizon 
- i.e., the number of years before the Beneficiary 
is expected to attend an Eligible Educational 
Institution. In general, for younger Beneficiaries, 
the Portfolios will be invested more heavily in 
Underlying Funds that invest in stocks to capitalize 
on the longer investment horizon and to try to 
maximize returns. As time passes, assets are moved 
automatically to more conservative Underlying 
Funds in an effort to preserve capital as the time for 
distribution approaches. There is no assurance that 
any Portfolio will be able to reach its goal.

Determining the Appropriate Portfolio
Based on the age of your Beneficiary, we provide a 
suggestion for the Year of Enrollment Portfolio that 
most closely corresponds with the Beneficiary’s 
anticipated year of enrollment at an Eligible 
Educational Institution. You have the option to 
select the suggested Year of Enrollment Portfolio 
or another Year of Enrollment Portfolio of your 
choosing. There may be additional investment 
risks associated with selecting a Year of Enrollment 
Portfolio that does not match your Beneficiary’s 
expected year of enrollment.  Please consult with an 
investment advisor before making an investment 
decision.    

The table below identifies the Beneficiary age 
that corresponds with the appropriate Year of 
Enrollment Portfolio.

Age of Beneficiary Portfolio Name

0-1 Enrollment Date 2036

2-3 Enrollment Date 2034

4-5 Enrollment Date 2032

6-7 Enrollment Date 2030

8-9 Enrollment Date 2028

10-11 Enrollment Date 2026

12-13 Enrollment Date 2024

14-15 Enrollment Date 2022

16-17 Enrollment Date 2020

18+ Enrollment Date 2018

Here’s How it Works
With the exception of the Enrollment Date 
2018 Portfolio, Year of Enrollment Portfolios 
are designed to evolve over time—to transition 
from a heavier allocation to Underlying Funds 
that invest in equities (stocks) in earlier years 
to a more conservative Underlying Funds that 
invest in fixed income (bonds) and money market 
instruments (cash preservation) as the Beneficiary 
approaches college age. This change in allocations 
among Underlying Funds will take place at least 
every two years and in some cases on an annual 
basis. As a result, the risk profile of the Portfolio 
typically decreases over time, corresponding to 
its decreasing allocations to Underlying Funds 
invested in equities. This change in asset allocation 
over time is known as a “glide path” that helps 
smooth the shift from capital accumulation in the 
earlier years to capital preservation later on:

•	 Early years (0-9 years old) - In general, 
when the Beneficiary is younger, each Year 
of Enrollment Portfolio will hold Underlying 
Funds more heavily invested in equities to 
capitalize on the longer investment horizon 
and to try to maximize returns.

•	 Middle years (10-17 years old) - As time 
passes, Year of Enrollment Portfolio assets are 
increasingly reallocated to Underlying Funds 
investing in conservative investments, such as 
fixed income and money market instruments, 
in an effort to preserve capital as the time 
for distribution approaches. Portfolios with 
more Underlying Funds invested in fixed 
income instruments and other investments 
that seek capital preservation tend to be less 
volatile than those with a higher percentage 
of Underlying Funds invested in equities.

•	 College enrollment (18+) – At college age, 
the Year of Enrollment Portfolios seek to 
minimize risk. The asset allocation remains 
static because the Portfolio is already at its 
most conservative phase when Beneficiaries 
are currently attending college.  There is also 
a substantial cash component (Money Market 
Fund) in the Portfolios to meet college-related 
distribution needs. 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  32

Portfolios with more Underlying Funds invested 
in bonds and money market securities tend to be 
less volatile than those with higher percentage of 
Underlying Funds invested in stocks. Less-volatile 
Portfolios generally will not decline as far when 
stock markets go down, but they also generally 
will not appreciate in value as much when stock 
markets go up.

The following charts provide the “glide path” 
target allocations for each Portfolio within the 
Year of Enrollment Investment Option at each risk 
tolerance level. For purposes of this discussion, we 
assume that you will select the Year of Enrollment 
Portfolio that matches your Beneficiary’s expected 
year of enrollment. Note that the target allocations 
and Underlying Funds may change at any time 
without notice.

Portfolio Rebalancing
We perform systematic calculations to allocate 
daily cash flows to the Underlying Funds in an 
attempt to bring the Portfolios back to their target 
asset allocations. In addition, we will perform 
quarterly rebalancing to bring the Portfolios back to 
their target allocations.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  33

Fund 2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018
Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund 
Premium Class 15 13 12 9 7 4 3 2 0 0

Schwab Total Stock Market Index 
Fund® 14 13 11 9 6 4 2 1 0 0

Fidelity® International Index Fund 
Premium Class 19 18 16 12 8 5 4 2 0 0

Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund 
Premium Class 7 6 6 5 4 2 1 0 0 0

TOTAL STOCKS 55% 50% 49% 35% 25% 15% 10% 5% 0% 0%
Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund 
Premium Class 17 20 21 26 29 26 26 18 20 20

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares 18 20 22 26 30 27 27 18 21 21

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index 
Fund Admiral Shares 3 3 4 4 5 4 4 3 3 3

Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected 
Securities Index Fund 4 4 5 6 8 6 6 4 4 4

Vanguard Emerging Markets 
Government Bond Index Fund Admiral 
Shares

2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

TOTAL BONDS 44% 49% 55% 64% 74% 65% 65% 45% 50% 50%
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money 
Market Fund Capital Class 1 1 1 1 1 20 25 50 50 50

TOTAL CASH PRESERVATION 1% 1% 1% 1% 20% 20% 25% 50% 50% 50%

Current Conservative Year of Enrollment Underlying Fund Allocations (by percent)

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018

Conservative Year of Enrollment Asset Class Allocations

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Moderate Year of Enrollment Asset Class Allocations

Conservative Year of Enrollment Investment Option 
The Portfolios in the Conservative Year of Enrollment Investment Option begin with conservative 
allocations to U.S. and international equity Funds, and U.S. investment grade and international fixed 
income Funds. As the Beneficiary ages and approaches college age, the asset allocations shift away from 
equity Funds and into fixed-income Funds and the Money Market Fund. When the Beneficiary reaches age 
14, the allocation shifts into a 95% allocation to fixed-income Funds and the Money Market Fund, and a 5% 
allocation to equity index Funds.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  34

Current Moderate Year of Enrollment Underlying Fund Allocations (by percent)

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018

Conservative Year of Enrollment Asset Class Allocations

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Moderate Year of Enrollment Asset Class Allocations

Fund 2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018
Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund 
Premium Class 24 24 21 18 16 13 9 5 3 0

Schwab Total Stock Market Index 
Fund® 23 23 21 18 16 13 9 5 2 0

Fidelity® International Index Fund 
Premium Class 33 33 29 26 21 18 12 7 4 0

Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund 
Premium Class 10 10 9 8 7 6 5 3 1 0

TOTAL STOCKS 90% 90% 80% 70% 60% 50% 35% 20% 10% 0%
Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund 
Premium Class 3 3 6 10 15 20 24 27 27 27

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares 2 2 6 10 15 20 25 28 28 28

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index 
Fund Admiral Shares 1 1 2 3 3 3 4 5 5 5

Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected 
Securities Index Fund 2 2 3 4 4 4 5 8 8 8

Vanguard Emerging Markets 
Government Bond Index Fund Admiral 
Shares

1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

TOTAL BONDS 9% 9% 19% 29% 39% 49% 60% 70% 70% 70%
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money 
Market Fund Capital Class 1 1 1 1 1 1 5 10 20 30

TOTAL CASH PRESERVATION 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 5% 10% 20% 30%

Moderate Year of Enrollment Investment Option 
The Portfolios in the Moderate Year of Enrollment Investment Option begin with more moderate allocations 
to U.S. and international equity Funds, and U.S. investment grade and international fixed income Funds. As 
the Beneficiary ages and approaches college age, the asset allocations shift away from equity Funds and into 
fixed-income Funds and the Money Market Fund. When the Beneficiary turns age 18, the allocation shifts 
into a 70% allocation to fixed-income Funds and 30% in the Money Market Fund.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  35

Current Growth Year of Enrollment Underlying Fund Allocations (by percent)

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Cash
Preservation

Portfolio

Income
Portfolio

Income
& Growth
Portfolio

Balanced
Portfolio

Conservative
Growth

Portfolio

Moderate
Growth

Portfolio

Growth
Portfolio

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Growth Year of Enrollment Asset Class Allocations

Static Asset Class Allocations

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Fund 2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018
Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund 
Premium Class 25 25 24 24 22 21 18 13 8 3

Schwab Total Stock Market Index 
Fund® 24 24 23 23 22 21 18 13 7 2

Fidelity® International Index Fund 
Premium Class 35 35 33 33 31 29 26 18 11 4

Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund 
Premium Class 11 11 10 10 10 9 8 6 4 1

TOTAL STOCKS 95% 95% 90% 90% 85% 80% 70% 50% 30% 10%
Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund 
Premium Class 1 1 3 3 3 6 10 20 28 24

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares 1 1 2 2 4 6 10 20 28 24

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index 
Fund Admiral Shares 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 3 4 4

Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected 
Securities Index Fund 0 0 2 2 3 3 4 4 7 6

Vanguard Emerging Markets 
Government Bond Index Fund Admiral 
Shares

1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2

TOTAL BONDS 4% 4% 9% 9% 14% 19% 29% 49% 69% 60%
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money 
Market Fund Capital Class 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 30

TOTAL CASH PRESERVATION 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 30%

Growth Year of Enrollment Investment Option 
The Portfolios in the Growth Year of Enrollment Investment Option begin with a large allocation to U.S. and 
international equity Funds with a small allocation to U.S. investment grade and international fixed income 
Funds. As the Beneficiary ages and approaches college age, the asset allocations shift away from equity 
Funds and into fixed-income Funds and the Money Market Fund. When the Beneficiary turns age 18, the 
allocation shifts into a 10% allocation to equity Funds, 60% allocation to fixed-income Funds, and 30% in 
the Money Market Fund.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  36

Static Investment Option 
Unlike the Year of Enrollment 
Portfolios, Static Portfolios are not 
automatically reallocated to more 
conservative investments as the 
Beneficiary ages. Instead, Static 
Portfolio investments remain fixed, 
subject to periodic rebalancing back 
to the Portfolio guidelines and to 
any change by the Committee in the 
Portfolio investment guidelines. 

If you choose to invest in Static 
Portfolios that invest in Underlying 
Funds with a significant weighting in 
stocks, such as the Growth Portfolio 
and the Moderate Growth Portfolio, 
you should consider moving your 
assets to the more conservative Static 
Portfolios that invest more heavily in 
bond Funds and/or the Money Market Fund as your Beneficiary approaches college age. Please note that 
there are limitations on your ability to move assets from one Portfolio to another. (Please see Maintaining 
My Account starting on page 14.) The Static Portfolios consist of the following seven (7) Portfolios, each of 
which invest in multiple Underlying Funds as shown in the below table.

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2036 2034 2032 2030 2028 2026 2024 2022 2020 2018

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Cash
Preservation

Portfolio

Income
Portfolio

Income
& Growth
Portfolio

Balanced
Portfolio

Conservative
Growth

Portfolio

Moderate
Growth

Portfolio

Growth
Portfolio

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Growth Year of Enrollment Asset Class Allocations

Static Asset Class Allocations

Cash Preservation Bond Stock

Fund
Cash 

Preservation 
Portfolio

Income 
Portfolio

Income 
& Growth 
Portfolio

Balanced 
Portfolio

Conservative 
Growth 

Portfolio

Moderate 
Growth 

Portfolio

Growth 
Portfolio

Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund 
Premium Class 0 0 10 13 16 21 25

Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® 0 0 10 13 16 21 25

Fidelity® International Index Fund 
Premium Class 0 0 15 18 21 29 37

Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund 
Premium Class 0 0 5 6 7 9 12

TOTAL STOCKS 0% 0% 40% 50% 60% 80% 99%
Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium 
Class 0 30 24 20 15 6 0

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares 0 30 24 20 15 6 0

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index 
Fund Admiral Shares 0 5 4 3 3 2 0

Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected 
Securities Index Fund 0 8 5 4 4 3 0

Vanguard Emerging Markets Government 
Bond Index Fund Admiral Shares 0 2 2 2 2 2 0

TOTAL BONDS 0% 75% 59% 49% 39% 19% 0%
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money 
Market Fund Capital Class 100 25 1 1 1 1 1

TOTAL CASH PRESERVATION 100% 25% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

Current Static Underlying Fund Allocations (by percent)



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  37

Portfolio Profiles
The following profiles highlight the investment 
objective, strategy, and a summary of the main risks 
of each Portfolio. The Portfolios in DreamAhead are 
more likely to meet their goals if each Underlying 
Fund in which each Portfolio invests achieves its 
stated investment objectives. 

As with any investment, your investment in the 
Portfolios could lose money or the Portfolios’ 
performance could trail that of other investments. 
Each Portfolio has a different level of risk.  Each 
Underlying Fund’s current prospectus and statement 
of additional information contains information not 
summarized here and identifies additional risks that 
are not discussed below. 

The Funds comprising a Portfolio, and/or 
percentages of each Fund included in a Portfolio, 
may change at any time without notice.  The 
sponsors of the Underlying Funds have no legal 
obligation to provide financial support for their 
Funds, and you should not expect that a sponsor will 
provide financial support to a Fund at any time. 

You should speak to an investment advisor to 
understand the specific risks associated with each 
Portfolio. In particular, the risks related to a Year 
of Enrollment Portfolio are weighted in relation 
to the percentage of the Portfolio invested in each 
Underlying Fund. A discussion of the risk factors 
relating to each Portfolio and Underlying Funds can 
be found in Descriptions of Principal Risks by Fund 
Company starting on page 48.  

Year of Enrollment Portfolio Profiles

Conservative Year of Enrollment Investment 
Option Portfolios
Objective:
The Portfolios included in the Conservative Year 
of Enrollment Investment Option are designed for 
investors with a low tolerance for short-term market 
fluctuations who expect modest capital appreciation 
with limited risk to principal. 

Strategy:  
The Conservative Year of Enrollment Portfolios 
currently invest in the following Funds: Fidelity® 
Total Market Index Fund Premium Class, Schwab 
Total Stock Market Index Fund®, Fidelity® 
International Index Fund Premium Class, Fidelity® 

Emerging Markets Index Fund Premium Class, 
Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium Class, 
Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Admiral 
Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index 
Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class.

The Portfolios’ Underlying Funds include a wide 
spectrum of public, investment-grade, taxable, 
fixed income securities issued in the U.S. to provide 
potential income through interest payments. 
The Money Market Fund may add stability to the 
Portfolios by investing in cash equivalents, like U.S. 
Treasury bills, certificates of deposit and money 
market instruments. Also included in the Portfolios 
are smaller positions in U.S. Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities (TIPS), U.S. dollar-denominated 
bonds issued by governments and government-
related issuers in emerging market countries, and 
investments in debt issued by the U.S. Treasury 
(not including inflation-protected bonds) and U.S. 
government agencies, as well as corporate or dollar-
denominated foreign debt guaranteed by the U.S. 
government, with maturities greater than 10 years.

The stock investments in the Portfolios consist of 
indirect investments in mostly large-capitalization 
U.S. stocks and, to a lesser extent, mid-, small-, and 
micro-capitalization U.S. stocks; and international 
stocks.  

The Portfolios typically begin with a 55% allocation 
to U.S. and international equity Funds, 44% in 
the U.S. investment grade and international fixed 
income Funds and 1% in the Money Market Fund. 
As the Beneficiary ages and approaches college 
age, the asset allocations typically shift away from 
equity Funds and into fixed-income Funds and 
the Money Market Fund. During the college years, 
the Portfolio maintains a 50% allocation to fixed-
income Funds and 50% in the Money Market Fund.

Moderate Year of Enrollment Investment 
Option Portfolios
Objective:
The Portfolios included in the Moderate Year of 
Enrollment Investment Option are designed for 
investors with a modest tolerance for short-term 
market fluctuations who expect moderate capital 
appreciation. 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  38

Strategy:
The Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolios 
currently invest in the following Funds: Fidelity® 
Total Market Index Fund Premium Class, Schwab 
Total Stock Market Index Fund®, Fidelity® 
International Index Fund Premium Class, Fidelity® 
Emerging Markets Index Fund Premium Class, 
Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium Class, 
Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Admiral 
Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index 
Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class. 

The Portfolios’ Underlying Funds include stock 
investments consisting of indirect investments in 
mostly large-capitalization U.S. stocks and, to a 
lesser extent, mid-, small-, and micro-capitalization 
U.S. stocks; and international stocks.  

The bond Fund investments include a wide 
spectrum of public, investment-grade, taxable, 
fixed income securities issued in the U.S. to provide 
potential income through interest payments. 
The Money Market Fund may add stability to the 
Portfolio by investing in cash equivalents, like 
U.S. Treasury bills, certificates of deposit and 
Money Market instruments. Also included in the 
Portfolios are smaller positions in TIPS, U.S. dollar-
denominated bonds issued by governments and 
government-related issuers in emerging market 
countries, and investments in debt issued by the 
U.S. Treasury (not including inflation-protected 
bonds) and U.S. government agencies, as well as 
corporate or dollar-denominated foreign debt 
guaranteed by the U.S. government, with maturities 
greater than 10 years.

The Portfolios typically begin with a 90% allocation 
to U.S. and international equity Funds, 9% to U.S. 
investment grade and international fixed income 
Funds and 1% to the Money Market Fund. As the 
Beneficiary ages and approaches college age, the 
asset allocations typically shift away from equity 
Funds and into fixed-income Funds and the Money 
Market Fund. When the Beneficiary reaches age 18, 
the allocation shifts into a 70% allocation to fixed-
income Funds and 30% in the Money Market Fund.

Growth Year of Enrollment Investment Option 
Portfolios
Objective:
The Portfolios included in the Growth Year of 
Enrollment Investment Option are designed for 
investors with a very high tolerance for short-term 
market fluctuations who expect significant capital 
appreciation. 

Strategy:  
The Growth Year of Enrollment Portfolios currently 
invest in the following Funds: Fidelity® Total 
Market Index Fund Premium Class, Schwab Total 
Stock Market Index Fund®, Fidelity® International 
Index Fund Premium Class, Fidelity® Emerging 
Markets Index Fund Premium Class, Fidelity® 
U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium Class, Vanguard 
Total Bond Market Index Fund Admiral Shares, 
Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Admiral 
Shares, Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected 
Securities Index Fund, Vanguard Emerging Markets 
Government Bond Index Fund Admiral Shares and 
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market Fund 
Capital Class. Funds used in the Portfolio may 
change at any time without notice.

The Portfolios’ Underlying Funds include stock 
investments consisting of indirect investments in 
mostly large-capitalization U.S. stocks and, to a 
lesser extent, mid-, small-, and micro-capitalization 
U.S. stocks; and international stocks.  

The fixed income investments include a wide 
spectrum of public, investment-grade, taxable, 
fixed income securities issued in the U.S. to provide 
potential income through interest payments. 
The Money Market Fund may add stability to the 
Portfolios by investing in cash equivalents, like 
U.S. Treasury bills, certificates of deposit and 
money market instruments. Also included in the 
Portfolios are smaller positions in TIPS, U.S. dollar-
denominated bonds issued by governments and 
government-related issuers in emerging market 
countries, and investments in debt issued by the 
U.S. Treasury (not including inflation-protected 
bonds) and U.S. government agencies, as well as 
corporate or dollar-denominated foreign debt 
guaranteed by the U.S. government, with maturities 
greater than 10 years.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  39

The Portfolios typically begin with a 95% allocation 
to U.S. and international equity Funds, 4% to U.S. 
investment grade and international fixed income 
Funds and 1% to the Money Market Fund. As the 
Beneficiary ages and approaches college age, the 
asset allocations typically shift away from equity 
Funds and into fixed-income Funds and the Money 
Market Fund. When the Beneficiary reaches age 18, 
the allocation shifts into a 60% allocation to fixed-
income Funds, 30% in the Money Market Fund, and 
10% in stock Funds.

Static Investment Option Portfolio Profiles

Cash Preservation Portfolio
Objective: 
This Portfolio seeks to provide maximum safety 
and liquidity, and to provide a low rate of return 
consistent with limited risk. The Cash Preservation 
Portfolio is designed to preserve capital and 
to provide liquidity to meet typical immediate 
and short-term needs. The Portfolio is invested 
exclusively in high-quality, short-term money 
market instruments that aim to preserve capital, 
maintain liquidity and produce a competitive yield.

Strategy:  
The Portfolio is exclusively invested in the 
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market Fund. 
Under normal conditions, the Fund invests its 
assets exclusively in:
•	 debt securities issued or guaranteed by the 

U.S. government, or by U.S. government 
agencies or instrumentalities or Government-
Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs), and

•	 repurchase agreements fully collateralized by 
U.S. Treasury and U.S. government securities.

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 Interest Rate Risk; Credit Risk; General 

Market Risk; Mortgage-Related Securities 
Risk; Government Securities Risk; When-
Issued, Delayed Settlement and Forward 
Commitment Transactions Risk; Transactions 
Risk; Floating and Variable Rate Securities 
Risk; Net Asset Value Risk; Repurchase 
Agreement Risk; Risk Associated with the 
Fund Holding Cash; Interfund Lending 
Risk; Prepayment Risk; and State and Local 
Taxation Risk. 

Income Portfolio 
Objective: 
The Income Portfolio seeks to provide investors 
limited capital appreciation with minimal risk to 
principal. The Portfolio is designed for investors 
with a very low tolerance for short-term market 
fluctuations who want low risk to principal and 
have a high desire for current income with limited 
capital appreciation.  The Portfolio investments 
include a mix of fixed income investments with a 
significant cash (Money Market Fund) position.

Strategy:  
The Portfolio currently invests in the following 
Funds: Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium 
Class, Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury 
Index Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury 
Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class. 

The Portfolio’s main goal is to provide income 
by investing in broadly diversified fixed income 
Funds and the Money Market Fund. The Portfolio’s 
Underlying Funds primarily include a wide 
spectrum of public, investment-grade, taxable, 
fixed income securities issued in the U.S. to provide 
potential income through interest payments. 
The Money Market Fund may add stability to the 
Portfolio by investing in cash equivalents, like 
U.S. Treasury bills, certificates of deposit and 
money market instruments. Also included in the 
Portfolio are smaller positions in TIPS, U.S. dollar-
denominated bonds issued by governments and 
government-related issuers in emerging market 
countries, and investments in debt issued by the 
U.S. Treasury (not including inflation-protected 
bonds) and U.S. government agencies, as well as 
corporate or dollar-denominated foreign debt 
guaranteed by the U.S. government, with maturities 
greater than 10 years.

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 The Portfolio is primarily subject to low to 

moderate levels of Interest Rate Risk, Credit 
Risk, Income Risk, Call Risk, Prepayment Risk, 
and Extension Risk due to its investments in 
bond Funds. The Portfolio also has a moderate 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  40

level of Income Fluctuation Risk, low to 
moderate levels of Country/Regional Risk, 
Currency Hedging Risk, Non-diversification 
Risk, and low levels of Manager Risk, Index 
Sampling Risk and Derivatives Risk.

Income and Growth Portfolio 
Objective: 
The Income and Growth Portfolio seeks to 
conservatively grow the Portfolio with modest 
income at higher risk. The Portfolio is designed for 
investors with a moderate tolerance for short-term 
market fluctuations that who expect moderate 
capital appreciation and have a modest desire 
for income.  The Portfolio investments include 
exposure to a mix of bonds with a blend of globally 
diversified equity securities.

Strategy:  
The Portfolio currently invests in the following 
Funds: Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund Premium 
Class, Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund®, 
Fidelity® International Index Fund Premium Class, 
Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund Premium 
Class, Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium 
Class, Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury 
Index Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury 
Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class, resulting in an 
allocation of 40% of its assets to stocks, 59% to 
fixed income assets and 1% to the Money Market 
Fund. 

The Portfolio’s Underlying Funds primarily 
include a wide spectrum of public, investment-
grade, taxable, fixed income securities issued 
in the U.S. to provide potential income through 
interest payments. The short-term Money 
Market Fund may add stability to the Portfolio by 
investing in cash equivalents, like U.S. Treasury 
bills, certificates of deposit and money market 
instruments. Also included in the Portfolio are 
smaller positions in TIPS, U.S. dollar-denominated 
bonds issued by governments and government-
related issuers in emerging market countries, and 
investments in debt issued by the U.S. Treasury 
(not including inflation-protected bonds) and U.S. 
government agencies, as well as corporate or dollar-
denominated foreign debt guaranteed by the U.S. 
government, with maturities greater than 10 years.

The stock investments in the Portfolio consist of 
indirect investments mostly in large-capitalization 
U.S. stocks and, to a lesser extent, mid-, small-, and 
micro-capitalization U.S. stocks; and international 
stocks.  

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 Because it invests mainly in bond Funds, 

the Portfolio is primarily subject to low to 
moderate levels of Interest Rate Risk, Credit 
Risk, Income Risk, Call Risk, Prepayment Risk 
and Extension Risk. Through its stock Fund 
holdings, the Portfolio has a low to moderate 
level of Stock Market Risk.

•	 The Portfolio also has low to moderate levels 
of Country/Regional Risk, Currency Risk, 
Emerging Markets Risk, Currency Hedging 
Risk, Non-diversification Risk, Index 
Sampling Risk and Derivatives Risk.

Balanced Portfolio
Objective: 
The Balanced Portfolio seeks to provide a balanced 
mix of steady return and growth but comes with 
additional risk. The Portfolio is designed for 
investors with a modest tolerance for short-term 
market fluctuations and a desire for income and 
moderate capital appreciation.  The Portfolio 
investments include a balanced mix of bonds and 
globally diversified equity securities.

Strategy:  
The Portfolio currently invests in the following 
Funds: Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund Premium 
Class, Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund®, 
Fidelity® International Index Fund Premium Class, 
Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund Premium 
Class, Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium 
Class, Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury 
Index Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury 
Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class, resulting in an 
allocation of 50% of its assets in stocks, 49% in 
fixed income assets and 1% in the Money Market 
Fund. 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  41

The Portfolio’s Underlying Funds primarily 
include a wide spectrum of public, investment-
grade, taxable, fixed income securities issued 
in the U.S. to provide potential income through 
interest payments. The Money Market Fund may 
add stability to the Portfolio by investing in cash 
equivalents, like U.S. Treasury bills, certificates 
of deposit and money market instruments. Also 
included in the Portfolio are smaller positions in 
TIPS, U.S. dollar-denominated bonds issued by 
governments and government-related issuers in 
emerging market countries, and investments in 
debt issued by the U.S. Treasury (not including 
inflation-protected bonds) and U.S. government 
agencies, as well as corporate or dollar-
denominated foreign debt guaranteed by the U.S. 
government, with maturities greater than 10 years.

The stock investments in the Portfolio consist of 
indirect investments in mostly large-capitalization 
U.S. stocks and, to a lesser extent, mid-, small-, and 
micro-capitalization U.S. stocks; and international 
stocks.  

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 Because half of the Portfolio is invested 

in bond Funds, the Portfolio is primarily 
subject to low to moderate levels of Interest 
Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Income Risk, Call 
Risk, Prepayment Risk, and Extension Risk. 
Through its stock Fund holdings, the Portfolio 
has moderate level of Stock Market Risk.

•	 The Portfolio also has low to moderate levels 
of Country/Regional Risk, Currency Risk, 
Emerging Markets Risk, Currency Hedging 
Risk, Non-diversification Risk, Index 
Sampling Risk and Derivatives Risk.

Conservative Growth Portfolio
Objective: 
The Conservative Growth Portfolio seeks to grow 
the Portfolio moderately with low income but 
comes with increasing degree of risk. The Portfolio 
is designed for investors with a moderately high 
tolerance for short-term market fluctuations who 
expect significant capital appreciation and have a 
minimal desire for current income. The Portfolio 
investments include a blend of globally diversified 
equity securities with exposure to a mix of bonds.

Strategy:  
The Portfolio currently invests in the following 
Funds: Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund Premium 
Class, Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund®, 
Fidelity® International Index Fund Premium Class, 
Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund Premium 
Class, Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium 
Class, Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury 
Index Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury 
Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class, resulting in an 
allocation of 60% of its assets in stocks, 39% in fixed 
income assets and 1% in the Money Market Fund. 

The stock investments in the Portfolio consist of 
indirect investments mostly in large-capitalization 
U.S. stocks and, to a lesser extent, mid-, small-, and 
micro-capitalization U.S. stocks; and international 
stocks.  

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 Because it invests in stock Funds, the Portfolio 

is subject to Stock Market Risk. The Portfolio 
is also subject to high levels of Country/
Regional Risk, Currency Risk, and Emerging 
Markets Risk. The Portfolio also has low levels 
of Investment Style Risk, Index Sampling Risk 
and Derivatives Risk. 

•	 Because it invests in bond Funds, the Portfolio 
is primarily subject to low to moderate levels 
of Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Income Risk, 
Call Risk, Prepayment Risk, and Extension 
Risk. The Portfolio also has low to moderate 
levels of Country/Regional Risk, Currency Risk, 
Emerging Markets Risk, Currency Hedging 
Risk, Non-Diversification Risk, Index Sampling 
Risk and Derivatives Risk.

Moderate Growth Portfolio
Objective: 
The Moderate Growth Portfolio seeks capital 
appreciation but comes with high degree of risk.  
The Portfolio is designed for investors with a high 
tolerance for short-term equity market fluctuations 
who expect capital appreciation and have low desire 
for income.  The Portfolio investments are generally 
a blend of globally diversified equity securities.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  42

Strategy:  
The Portfolio currently invests in the following 
Funds: Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund Premium 
Class, Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund®, 
Fidelity® International Index Fund Premium Class, 
Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund Premium 
Class, Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund Premium 
Class, Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund 
Admiral Shares, Vanguard Long-Term Treasury 
Index Fund Admiral Shares, Schwab® Treasury 
Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund, Vanguard 
Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund 
Admiral Shares and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class, resulting in 
an allocation of 80% of its assets in stocks and 
approximately 20% in fixed income assets. 

The stock investments in the Portfolio consist of 
indirect investments mostly in large-capitalization 
U.S. stocks and, to a lesser extent, mid-, small-, and 
micro-capitalization U.S. stocks; and international 
stocks.  

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 Because it invests mostly in stock Funds, the 

Portfolio is primarily subject to high levels 
of Stock Market Risk. The Portfolio is also 
subject to high levels of Country/Regional 
Risk, Currency Risk, and Emerging Markets 
Risk. The Portfolio also has low levels of 
Investment Style Risk, Index Sampling Risk, 
and Derivatives Risk.

•	 Because it invests in bond Funds, the Portfolio 
is primarily subject to low to moderate levels 
of Interest Rate Risk, Credit Risk, Income Risk, 
Call Risk, Prepayment Risk, and Extension 
Risk. The Portfolio also has low to moderate 
levels of Country/Regional Risk, Currency Risk, 
Emerging Markets Risk, Currency Hedging 
Risk, Non-Diversification Risk, Index Sampling 
Risk and Derivatives Risk.

Growth Portfolio
Objective: 
The Growth Portfolio seeks to maximize growth 
but comes with the highest degree of risk.  The 
Portfolio is designed for investors with a very high 
tolerance for short-term equity market fluctuations 
who expect maximum capital appreciation and have 

no desire for income.  The Portfolio investments 
are generally a blend of globally diversified equity 
securities.

Strategy: 
The Portfolio currently invests in the following 
Funds: Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund Premium 
Class, Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund®, 
Fidelity® International Index Fund Premium 
Class, Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund 
Premium Class and JPMorgan U.S. Government 
Money Market Fund Capital Class, resulting in an 
allocation of 99% of its assets in stocks and 1% in 
the Money Market Fund. 

The stock investments in the Portfolio consist of 
indirect investments in mostly large-capitalization 
U.S. stocks and, to a lesser extent, mid-, small-, and 
micro-capitalization U.S. stocks; and international 
stocks.  

Risks:  
The Portfolio primarily may be subject to the 
following risks:
•	 Because it invests nearly all assets in stock 

Funds, the Portfolio is primarily subject to 
high levels of Stock Market Risk. The Portfolio 
is also subject to high levels of Country/
Regional Risk, Currency Risk, and Emerging 
Markets Risk. The Portfolio also has low levels 
of Investment Style Risk, Index Sampling 
Risk, and Derivatives Risk.

Underlying Fund Descriptions
The following profiles highlight the investment 
objective, strategy, and a summary of the main risks 
of each of the Underlying Funds in which both the 
Year of Enrollment and the Static Portfolios invest. 
The Portfolios in DreamAhead are more likely to 
meet their goals if each Underlying Fund in which 
each Portfolio invests achieves its stated investment 
objectives. 

The information provided in this Program Details 
Booklet and other information in the links below 
has been prepared by or on behalf of the applicable 
Underlying Fund by its Investment Manager and 
has been derived from the applicable Underlying 
Fund prospectuses.  The Program Administrators 
assume no responsibility for its accuracy or 
completeness.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  43

Fidelity Underlying Funds

Fidelity Total Market Index Fund - Premium 
Class
Ticker: FSTVX
Website: https://fundresearch.fidelity.com/
mutual-funds/summary/315911800

Investment Objective
The Fund seeks to provide investment results that 
correspond to the total return of a broad range of 
United States stocks.

Principal Investment Strategies
•	 Normally investing at least 80% of assets in 

common stocks included in the Dow Jones 
U.S. Total Stock Market IndexSM, which 
represents the performance of a broad range 
of U.S. stocks.

•	 Using statistical sampling techniques based 
on such factors as capitalization, industry 
exposures, dividend yield, price/earnings 
(P/E) ratio, price/book (P/B) ratio, and 
earnings growth to attempt to replicate the 
returns of the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock 
Market IndexSM using a smaller number of 
securities.

•	 Lending securities to earn income for the 
Fund.

Principal Investment Risks
•	 Stock Market Volatility; Issuer-Specific 

Changes; Correlation to Index; and Passive 
Management Risk

Fidelity International Index Fund - Premium 
Class
Ticker: FSIVX
Website: https://fundresearch.fidelity.com/
mutual-funds/summary/315911875

Investment Objective
The Fund seeks to provide investment results that 
correspond to the total return of foreign stock 
markets.

Principal Investment Strategies
•	 Normally investing at least 80% of assets in 

common stocks included in the MSCI EAFE 
Index, which represents the performance of 
foreign stock markets.

•	 Using statistical sampling techniques based 
on such factors as capitalization, industry 
exposures, dividend yield, price/earnings (P/E) 
ratio, price/book (P/B) ratio, earnings growth, 
and country weightings to attempt to replicate 
the returns of the MSCI EAFE Index.

•	 Lending securities to earn income for the Fund.

Principal Investment Risks
•	 Stock Market Volatility; Foreign Exposure; 

Issuer-Specific Changes; Correlation to Index; 
and Passive Management Risk

Fidelity Emerging Markets Index Fund – 
Premium Class
Ticker: FPMAX
Website: https://fundresearch.fidelity.com/
mutual-funds/summary/316146174

Investment Objective
The Fund seeks to provide investment results that 
correspond to the total return of emerging stock 
markets.

Principal Investment Strategies
•	 Normally investing at least 80% of assets in 

securities included in the MSCI Emerging 
Markets Index and in depository receipts 
representing securities included in the index.

•	 Using statistical sampling techniques based 
on such factors as capitalization, industry 
exposures, dividend yield, price/earnings (P/E) 
ratio, price/book (P/B) ratio, earnings growth, 
country weightings, and the effect of foreign 
taxes to attempt to replicate the returns of the 
MSCI Emerging Markets Index.

•	 Lending securities to earn income for the Fund.

Principal Investment Risks
•	 Stock Market Volatility; Foreign and Emerging 

Market Risk; Issuer-Specific Changes; 
Correlation to Index; and Passive Management 
Risk



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  44

Fidelity U.S. Bond Index Fund - Premium   
Class
Ticker: FSITX
Website: https://fundresearch.fidelity.com/
mutual-funds/summary/316146372

Investment Objective
The Fund seeks to provide investment results 
that correspond to the aggregate price and 
interest performance of the debt securities in the 
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index.

Principal Investment Strategies
•	 Normally investing at least 80% of the Fund’s 

assets in bonds included in the Bloomberg 
Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index.

•	 Using statistical sampling techniques 
based on duration, maturity, interest rate 
sensitivity, security structure, and credit 
quality to attempt to replicate the returns of 
the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond 
Index using a smaller number of securities.

•	 Engaging in transactions that have a 
leveraging effect on the Fund, including 
investments in derivatives - such as swaps 
(interest rate, total return, and credit default), 
options, and futures contracts - and forward-
settling securities, to adjust the Fund’s risk 
exposure.

•	 Investing in Fidelity’s central funds 
(specialized investment vehicles used by 
Fidelity® funds to invest in particular security 
types or investment disciplines).

Principal Investment Risks
•	 Interest Rate Changes; Foreign Exposure; 

Prepayment; Issuer-Specific Changes; 
Correlation to Index; Passive Management 
Risk; and Leverage Risk

Vanguard Underlying Funds 

Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond 
Index Fund – Admiral Shares
Ticker: VGAVX
Website: https://personal.vanguard.com/us/
funds/snapshot?FundId=0520&FundIntExt=I
NT&funds_disable_redirect=true

Investment Objective
The Fund seeks to track the performance of a 
benchmark index that measures the investment 
return of U.S. dollar-denominated bonds issued by 
governments and government-related issuers in 
emerging market countries.

Principal Investment Strategies 
The Vanguard Emerging Markets Government 
Bond Index Fund employs an indexing investment 
approach designed to track the performance of 
the Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets 
Government RIC Capped Index. This index includes 
U.S. dollar-denominated bonds that have maturities 
longer than one year and that were issued by 
emerging market governments and government-
related issuers. The index is capped, which means 
that its exposure to any particular bond issuer is 
limited to a maximum of 20% and its aggregate 
exposure to issuers that individually constitute 5% 
or more of the index is limited to 48%. If the index, 
as constituted based on market weights, exceeds 
the 20% or 48% limits, the excess is reallocated to 
bonds of other issuers represented in the index. 

The Fund invests by sampling the index, meaning 
that it holds a range of securities that, in the 
aggregate, approximates the full index in terms of 
key risk factors and other characteristics. All of the 
Fund’s investments will be selected through the 
sampling process, and under normal circumstances 
at least 80% of the Fund’s assets will be invested in 
bonds included in the index. The Fund maintains a 
dollar-weighted average maturity consistent with 
that of the index, which generally ranges between 
10 and 15 years and, as of October 31, 2017, was 10.1 
years. 

Principal Risks 
•	 Country/regional risk; Emerging markets risk; 

Non-diversification risk; Credit risk; Liquidity 
risk; Interest rate risk; Income risk; Index 
sampling risk; Call risk; and Extension risk 

A Note on Risk: Many investors invest in bonds 
and bond funds in an attempt to lower the overall 
risk of their portfolios. This strategy makes sense 
when the bonds owned are U.S. bonds because U.S. 
bond returns typically are not highly correlated 
with, and are far less volatile than, stock returns. 
The strategy is less likely to be effective, however, 
when the bonds owned are emerging market bonds. 
Returns of emerging market bonds, even dollar-



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  45

denominated bonds like those owned by the Fund, 
can be quite volatile and tend to correlate more 
closely with U.S. and foreign stock returns than 
with U.S. bond returns. Consequently, if your goal is 
to lower risk and volatility, this Fund may not be an 
appropriate investment.

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund – 
Admiral Shares
Ticker: VBTLX
Website: https://personal.vanguard.com/us/
funds/snapshot?FundId=0584&FundIntExt=I
NT&funds_disable_redirect=true

Investment Objective
Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund seeks to 
track the performance of a broad, market-weighted 
bond index.

Principal Investment Strategies
The Fund employs an indexing investment 
approach designed to track the performance of the 
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Float Adjusted 
Index. This index represents a wide spectrum of 
public, investment-grade, taxable, fixed income 
securities in the United States—including 
government, corporate, and international dollar-
denominated bonds, as well as mortgage-backed 
and asset-backed securities—all with maturities of 
more than 1 year.

The Fund invests by sampling the index, meaning 
that it holds a broadly diversified collection of 
securities that, in the aggregate, approximates the 
full index in terms of key risk factors and other 
characteristics. All of the Fund’s investments will be 
selected through the sampling process, and at least 
80% of the Fund’s assets will be invested in bonds 
held in the index. The Fund maintains a dollar-
weighted average maturity consistent with that of 
the index, which generally ranges between 5 and 10 
years and, as of December 31, 2016, was 8.3 years.

Principal Risks
•	 Interest rate risk; Income risk; Prepayment 

risk; Extension risk; Call risk; Credit risk; 
Index sampling risk; and Liquidity risk

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund – 
Admiral Shares
Ticker: VLGSX
Website: https://personal.vanguard.com/us/
funds/snapshot?FundId=1944&FundIntExt=IN
T&funds_disable_redirect=true

Investment Objective
Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund seeks 
to track the performance of a market-weighted 
Treasury index with a long-term dollar-weighted 
average maturity.

Principal Investment Strategies
The Fund employs an indexing investment 
approach designed to track the performance of 
the Bloomberg Barclays US Long Treasury Bond 
Index. This index includes fixed income securities 
issued by the U.S. Treasury (not including inflation- 
protected bonds), with maturities greater than 10 
years.

The Fund invests by sampling the index, meaning 
that it holds a range of securities that, in the 
aggregate, approximates the full index in terms 
of key risk factors and other characteristics. 
All of the Fund’s investments will be selected 
through the sampling process, and under normal 
circumstances, at least 80% of the Fund’s assets 
will be invested in bonds included in the index. The 
Fund maintains a dollar- weighted average maturity 
consistent with that of the index, which was 24.8 
years as of August 31, 2017.

Principal Risks
•	 Interest rate risk; Income risk; Credit risk; and 

Index sampling risk

Schwab Underlying Funds

Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund
Ticker: SWTSX
Website: https://www.schwabfunds.com/
public/csim/home/products/mutual_funds/
summary.html?symbol=SWTSX

Investment Objective
The Fund’s goal is to track the total return of the 
entire U.S. stock market, as measured by the Dow 
Jones U.S. Total Stock Market IndexSM.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  46

Principal Investment Strategies
To pursue its goal, the Fund generally invests in 
stocks that are included in the Dow Jones U.S. 
Total Stock Market Index.  It is the Fund’s policy 
that under normal circumstances it will invest 
at least 80% of its net assets (including, for this 
purpose, any borrowings for investment purposes) 
in these stocks; typically, the actual percentage 
is considerably higher. The Fund will notify its 
shareholders at least 60 days before changing this 
policy.

The Fund generally gives the same weight to a 
given stock as the index does. However, when the 
investment adviser believes it is in the best interest 
of the Fund, such as to avoid purchasing odd-lots 
(i.e., purchasing less than the usual number of 
shares traded for a security), for tax considerations, 
or to address liquidity considerations with respect 
to a stock, the investment adviser may cause the 
Fund’s weighting of a stock to be more or less than 
the index’s weighting of the stock. The Fund may 
sell securities that are represented in the index in 
anticipation of their removal from the index or buy 
securities that are not yet represented in the index 
in anticipation of their addition to the index. 

The Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index 
includes all publicly traded stocks of companies 
headquartered in the United States for which 
pricing information is readily available – 3,767 
stocks as of December 31, 2017. The index is a float-
adjusted market capitalization weighted index that 
reflects the shares of securities actually available to 
investors in the marketplace.

Because it may not be possible or practical to 
purchase all of the stocks included in the index, the 
investment adviser seeks to track the total return 
of the index by using sampling techniques. These 
techniques involve investing in a limited number 
of index securities which, when taken together, 
are expected to perform similarly to the index as 
a whole. These techniques are based on a variety 
of factors, including capitalization, performance 
attributes, dividend yield, price/earnings ratio, risk 
factors, industry factors and other characteristics. 
The Fund generally expects that its portfolio 
will include the largest 2,000 to 2,800 U.S. 
stocks (measured by the float-adjusted market 
capitalization), and that its industry weightings, 
dividend yield and price/earnings ratio will be 
similar to those of the index.

Principal Risks
•	 Market Risk; Equity Risk; Investment Style 

Risk; Tracking Error Risk; Sampling Index 
Tracking Risk; Concentration Risk; Market 
Capitalization Risk; Large-Cap Company Risk; 
Mid-Cap Company Risk; Small-Cap Company 
Risk; Derivatives Risk; Liquidity Risk; and 
Securities Lending Risk

Schwab Treasury Inflation Protected  
Securities Index Fund
Ticker: SWRSX
Website: https://www.schwabfunds.com/
public/csim/home/products/mutual_funds/
summary.html?symbol=SWRSX

Investment Objective
The Fund’s goal is to track as closely as possible, 
before fees and expenses, the price and yield 
performance of the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. 
Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) Index 
(Series-L)SM. The Fund’s investment objective is 
not fundamental and therefore may be changed by 
the Fund’s board of trustees without shareholder 
approval.

Principal Investment Strategies 
To pursue its goal, the Fund generally invests 
in securities that are included in the index. The 
index includes all publicly-issued TIPS that have 
at least one year remaining to maturity, are rated 
investment grade and have $250 million or more of 
outstanding face value. The TIPS in the index must 
be denominated in U.S. dollars and must be fixed-
rate and non-convertible.

It is the Fund’s policy that, under normal 
circumstances, it will invest at least 90% of its net 
assets (net assets plus borrowings for investment 
purposes) in securities included in the index.

Principal Risks
•	 Market Risk; Investment Style Risk; Inflation 

Protected Security Risk; Interest Rate Risk; 
Credit Risk; Liquidity Risk; Prepayment and 
Extension Risk; Sampling Index Tracking 
Risk; Tracking Error Risk; and Money Market 
Fund Risk



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  47

JP Morgan Underlying Fund

JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market  
Fund Capital Class 
Ticker: OGVXX
Website: https://am.jpmorgan.com/us/en/
asset-management/gim/liq/products/d/
jpmorgan-u-s-government-money-market-
fund-capital-4812c0670#/overview

Investment Objective
The Fund seeks high current income with liquidity 
and stability of principal.

Main Investment Strategy 
Under normal conditions, the Fund invests its 
assets exclusively in:
•	 debt securities issued or guaranteed by the 

U.S. government, or by U.S. government 
agencies or instrumentalities or GSEs, and

•	 repurchase agreements fully collateralized by 
U.S. Treasury and U.S. government securities.

The Fund is a money market fund managed in the 
following manner:
•	 The Fund seeks to maintain a net asset value 

(“NAV”) of $1.00 per share.
•	 The dollar-weighted average maturity of the 

Fund will be 60 days or less and the dollar-
weighted average life to maturity will be 120 
days or less.

•	 The Fund will only buy securities that have 
remaining maturities of 397 days or less 
or securities otherwise permitted to be 
purchased because of maturity shortening 
provisions under applicable regulation.

•	 The Fund invests only in U.S. dollar-
denominated securities.

•	 The Fund seeks to invest in securities that 
present minimal credit risk.

The Fund may invest significantly in securities 
with floating or variable rates of interest. Their 
yields will vary as interest rates change. The Fund 
will generally hold a portion of its assets in cash, 
primarily to meet redemptions.

The Fund intends to continue to qualify as a 
“government money market fund,” as such term 
is defined in or interpreted under Rule 2a-7 under 

the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended 
(“Investment Company Act”). “Government money 
market funds” are required to invest at least 99.5% 
of their assets in (i) cash, (ii) securities issued or 
guaranteed by the United States or certain U.S. 
government agencies or instrumentalities and/or 
(iii) repurchase agreements that are collateralized 
fully, and are exempt from requirements that 
permit money market funds to impose a liquidity 
fee and/or temporary redemption gates. While the 
Fund’s board of trustees may elect to subject the 
Fund to liquidity fee and gate requirements in the 
future, the board has not elected to do so at this 
time. A government money market fund may also 
include investments in other government money 
market funds as an eligible investment for purposes 
of the 99.5% requirement above.

The Fund may enter into lending agreements under 
which the Fund would lend money for temporary 
purposes directly to another J.P. Morgan Fund 
through a credit facility, subject to meeting the 
conditions of an SEC exemptive order granted to 
the Fund permitting such interfund lending.

The Fund may trade securities on a when-issued, 
delayed settlement or forward commitment basis. 

The Fund’s adviser seeks to develop an appropriate 
portfolio by considering the differences in yields 
among securities of different maturities, market 
sectors and issuers.

Principal Risks
•	 Interest Rate Risk; Credit Risk; General 

Market Risk; Mortgage Related and Other 
Asset Backed Securities Risk; Government 
Securities Risk; Municipal Obligations 
Risk; When Issued, Delayed Settlement 
and Forward Commitment Transactions 
Risk; Transactions Risk; Concentration 
Risk; Foreign Securities Risk; Industry and 
Sector Focus Risk; Floating and Variable 
Rate Securities Risk; Net Asset Value Risk; 
Repurchase Agreement Risk; Risk Associated 
with the Fund Holding Cash; Interfund 
Lending Risk; Prepayment Risk; and Privately 
Placed Securities Risk



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  48

Descriptions of Principal Risks by 
Fund Company

The following descriptions of the principal risks 
of the Underlying Funds has been prepared by 
or on behalf of the applicable Underlying Fund’s 
Investment Manager and has been derived from 
each applicable Underlying Fund prospectus.  The 
Program Administrators assume no responsibility 
for its accuracy or completeness. 

Descriptions of Principal Risks of the 
Fidelity Underlying Funds

Stock Market Volatility  
Stock markets are volatile and can decline 
significantly in response to adverse issuer, political, 
regulatory, market, or economic developments. 
Different parts of the market, including different 
market sectors, and different types of securities can 
react differently to these developments.

Issuer-Specific Changes
The value of an individual security or particular 
type of security can be more volatile than, and can 
perform differently from, the market as a whole. 
Changes in the financial condition of an issuer or 
counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer or other borrower 
in a securities lending transaction) can increase the 
risk of default by an issuer or counterparty, which 
can affect a security’s or instrument’s value or result 
in delays in recovering securities and/or capital 
from a counterparty. 

Correlation to Index
The performance of the Fund and its index may 
vary somewhat due to factors such as fees and 
expenses of the Fund, transaction costs, sample 
selection, regulatory restrictions, and timing 
differences associated with additions to and 
deletions from its index.

Passive Management Risk
The Fund is managed with a passive investment 
strategy, attempting to track the performance of 
an unmanaged index of securities, regardless of 
the current or projected performance of the Fund’s 
index or of the actual securities included in the 
index. This differs from an actively managed fund, 
which typically seeks to outperform a benchmark 
index. As a result, the Fund’s performance could be 

lower than actively managed funds that may shift 
their portfolio assets to take advantage of market 
opportunities or lessen the impact of a market 
decline or a decline in the value of one or more 
issuers.

Foreign Exposure
Foreign markets can be more volatile than the 
U.S. market due to increased risks of adverse 
issuer, political, regulatory, market, or economic 
developments and can perform differently from 
the U.S. market. Foreign exchange rates also can be 
extremely volatile. 

Foreign and Emerging Market Risk
Foreign markets, particularly emerging markets, 
can be more volatile than the U.S. market due 
to increased risks of adverse issuer, political, 
regulatory, market, or economic developments 
and can perform differently from the U.S. market. 
Emerging markets can be subject to greater social, 
economic, regulatory, and political uncertainties 
and can be extremely volatile. Foreign exchange 
rates also can be extremely volatile.

Interest Rate Changes
Interest rate increases can cause the price of a debt 
security to decrease.

Prepayment
The ability of an issuer of a debt security to repay 
principal prior to a security’s maturity can cause 
greater price volatility if interest rates change.

Leverage Risk
Leverage can increase market exposure, magnify 
investment risks, and cause losses to be realized 
more quickly.

Descriptions of Principal Risks of the 
Vanguard Underlying Funds

Country/regional risk
The chance that world events—such as political 
upheaval, financial troubles, or natural disasters—
will adversely affect the value and/or liquidity 
of securities issued by foreign governments, 
government agencies, and government-owned 
corporations. Because the Fund may invest a 
large portion of its assets in bonds of issuers 
located in any one country or region, the Fund’s 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  49

performance may be hurt disproportionately by the 
poor performance of its investments in that area. 
Country/regional risk is especially high in emerging 
markets.

Emerging markets risk
The chance that the bonds of governments, 
government agencies, and government-owned 
corporations located in emerging market 
countries will be substantially more volatile, 
and substantially less liquid, than the bonds 
of governments, government agencies, and 
government-owned corporations located in 
more developed foreign markets because, among 
other factors, emerging market countries can 
have greater custodial and operational risks; less 
developed legal, tax, regulatory, and accounting 
systems; and greater political, social, and economic 
instability than developed markets. 

Non-diversification risk
The chance that the Fund’s performance may be 
hurt disproportionately by the poor performance of 
bonds issued by just a few issuers or even a single 
issuer. The Fund is considered non-diversified, 
which means that it may invest a significant 
percentage of its assets in bonds issued by a small 
number of issuers.

Credit risk
The chance that a bond issuer will fail to pay 
interest or principal in a timely manner or that 
negative perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make 
such payments will cause the price of that bond to 
decline. 

Liquidity risk
The chance that the Fund may not be able to sell a 
security in a timely manner at a desired price. 

Interest rate risk
The chance that bond prices will decline because of 
rising interest rates. 

Income risk
The chance that the Fund’s income will decline 
because of falling interest rates. 

Index sampling risk
The chance that the securities selected for the 
Fund, in the aggregate, will not provide investment 
performance matching that of the Fund’s target 
index. 

Call risk
The chance that during periods of falling interest 
rates, issuers of callable bonds may call (redeem) 
securities with higher coupon rates or interest 
rates before their maturity dates. The Fund would 
then lose any price appreciation above the bond’s 
call price and would be forced to reinvest the 
unanticipated proceeds at lower interest rates, 
resulting in a decline in the Fund’s income. Such 
redemptions and subsequent reinvestments would 
also increase the Fund’s portfolio turnover rate. 

Prepayment risk
The chance that during periods of falling 
interest rates, homeowners will refinance their 
mortgages before their maturity dates, resulting 
in prepayment of mortgage-backed securities 
held by the Fund. The Fund would then lose any 
price appreciation above the mortgage’s principal 
and would be forced to reinvest the unanticipated 
proceeds at lower interest rates, resulting in a 
decline in the Fund’s income. Such prepayments 
and subsequent reinvestments would also increase 
the Fund’s portfolio turnover rate.

Extension risk
The chance that during periods of rising interest 
rates, certain debt securities will be paid off 
substantially more slowly than originally 
anticipated, and the value of those securities may 
fall. For Funds that invest in mortgage-backed 
securities, extension risk is the chance that during 
periods of rising interest rates, homeowners will 
repay their mortgages at slower rates.

Description of Principal Risks of the 
Underlying Schwab Funds

Market Risk
Financial markets rise and fall in response to 
a variety of factors, sometimes rapidly and 
unpredictably. As with any investment whose 
performance is tied to these markets, the value of 
an investment in the Fund will fluctuate, which 
means that an investor could lose money over short 
or long periods.

Equity Risk
The prices of equity securities rise and fall daily. 
These price movements may result from factors 
affecting individual companies, industries or the 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  50

securities market as a whole. In addition, equity 
markets tend to move in cycles, which may cause 
stock prices to fall over short or extended periods of 
time.

Investment Style Risk
The Fund is not actively managed. Therefore, the 
Fund follows the securities included in the index 
during upturns as well as downturns. Because of its 
indexing strategy, the Fund does not take steps to 
reduce market exposure or to lessen the effects of a 
declining market. In addition, because of the Fund’s 
expenses, the Fund’s performance may be below 
that of the index.

Tracking Error Risk
As an index fund, the Fund seeks to track the 
performance of its comparative index, although it 
may not be successful in doing so. The divergence 
between the performance of the Fund and its index, 
positive or negative, is called “tracking error.” 
Tracking error can be caused by many factors and it 
may be significant.

Sampling Index Tracking Risk
The Fund does not fully replicate its comparative 
index and may hold securities not included in the 
index. As a result, the Fund is subject to the risk 
that the investment adviser’s investment strategy, 
the implementation of which is subject to a number 
of constraints, may not produce the intended 
results. Because the Fund utilizes a sampling 
approach, it may not track the return of the index 
as well as it would if the Fund purchased all of the 
securities in the index.

Concentration Risk
To the extent that the Fund’s or the index’s portfolio 
is concentrated in the securities of issuers in a 
particular market, industry, group of industries, 
sector or asset class, the Fund may be adversely 
affected by the performance of those securities, 
may be subject to increased price volatility and may 
be more susceptible to adverse economic, market, 
political or regulatory occurrences affecting that 
market, industry, group of industries, sector or asset 
class.

Market Capitalization Risk
Securities issued by companies of different 
market capitalizations tend to go in and out of 
favor based on market and economic conditions. 
During a period when securities of a particular 

market capitalization fall behind other types of 
investments the Fund’s performance could be 
impacted.

Large-Cap Company Risk
Large-cap companies are generally more mature 
and the securities issued by these companies may 
not be able to reach the same levels of growth as the 
securities issued by small- or mid-cap companies.

Mid-Cap Company Risk
Mid-cap companies may be more vulnerable to 
adverse business or economic events than larger, 
more established companies and the value of these 
securities may move sharply.

Small-Cap Company Risk
Securities issued by small-cap companies may be 
riskier than those issued by larger companies, and 
their prices may move sharply, especially during 
market upturns and downturns.

Derivatives Risk
The Fund’s use of derivative instruments involves 
risks different from, or possibly greater than, the 
risks associated with investing directly in securities 
and other traditional investments. The Fund’s use 
of derivatives could reduce the Fund’s performance, 
increase the Fund’s volatility, and could cause the 
Fund to lose more than the initial amount invested. 
In addition, investments in derivatives may 
involve leverage, which means a small percentage 
of assets invested in derivatives can have a 
disproportionately large impact on the Fund.

Liquidity Risk
The Fund may be unable to sell certain securities, 
such as illiquid securities, readily at a favorable 
time or price, or the Fund may have to sell them at 
a loss.

Securities Lending Risk
Securities lending involves the risk of loss of rights 
in, or delay in recovery of, the loaned securities if 
the borrower fails to return the security loaned or 
becomes insolvent.

Inflation Protected Security Risk
The value of inflation-protected securities, 
including TIPS, generally will fluctuate in response 
to changes in “real” interest rates, generally 
decreasing when real interest rates rise and 
increasing when real interest rates fall. Real interest 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  51

rates represent nominal (or stated) interest rates 
reduced by the expected impact of inflation. In 
addition, interest payments on inflation-indexed 
securities will generally vary up or down along with 
the rate of inflation.

Interest Rate Risk
The Fund’s investments in fixed-income securities 
are subject to the risk that interest rates rise and 
fall over time. As with any investment whose yield 
reflects current interest rates, the Fund’s yield will 
change over time. During periods when interest 
rates are low, the Fund’s yield (and total return) 
also may be low. Changes in interest rates also may 
affect the Fund’s share price: a rise in interest rates 
could cause the Fund’s share price to fall. The longer 
the Fund’s portfolio duration, the more sensitive to 
interest rate movements its share price is likely to 
be. A change in a central bank’s monetary policy 
or improving economic conditions, among other 
things, may result in an increase in interest rates.

Credit Risk
The Fund is subject to the risk that a decline in 
the credit quality of a portfolio investment could 
cause the Fund to lose money or underperform. The 
Fund could lose money if the issuer or guarantor 
of a portfolio investment fails to make timely 
principal or interest payments or otherwise honor 
its obligations.

Prepayment and Extension Risk
The Fund’s portfolio investments are subject to the 
risk that the securities may be paid off earlier or 
later than expected. Either situation could cause 
the Fund to hold securities paying lower-than-
market rates of interest, which could hurt the 
Fund’s yield or share price.

Sampling Index Tracking Risk
To the extent the Fund uses sampling techniques, 
the Fund will not fully replicate the index and 
may hold securities not included in the index. As 
a result, the Fund will be subject to the risk that 
the investment adviser’s investment management 
strategy, the implementation of which is subject 
to a number of constraints, may not produce the 
intended results. If the Fund uses a sampling 
approach it may not track the return of the index 
as well as it would if the Fund purchased all of the 
equity securities in the index.

Money Market Fund Risk
The Fund may invest in underlying money market 
funds that either seek to maintain a stable $1 net 
asset value (“stable share price money market 
funds”) or that have a share price that fluctuates 
(“variable share price money market funds”). 
Although an underlying stable share price money 
market fund seeks to maintain a stable $1 net asset 
value, it is possible to lose money by investing in 
such a money market fund. Because the share price 
of an underlying variable share price money market 
fund will fluctuate, when the fund sells the shares it 
owns they may be worth more or less than what the 
fund originally paid for them. In addition, neither 
type of money market fund is designed to offer 
capital appreciation. Certain underlying money 
market funds may impose a fee upon the sale of 
shares or may temporarily suspend the ability 
to sell shares if such fund’s liquidity falls below 
required minimums.

Description of Principal Risks of the 
Underlying JP Morgan Fund

Interest Rate Risk
The Fund’s investments in bonds and other debt 
securities will change in value based on changes 
in interest rates. If rates increase, the value of 
these investments generally declines. Securities 
with greater interest rate sensitivity and longer 
maturities generally are subject to greater 
fluctuations in value. The Fund may invest in 
variable and floating rate securities. Although these 
instruments are generally less sensitive to interest 
rate changes than fixed rate instruments, the value 
of floating rate and variable securities may decline 
if their interest rates do not rise as quickly, or as 
much, as general interest rates. Given that the 
Federal Reserve has begun to raise interest rates, 
the Fund may face a heightened level of interest 
rate risk.

Credit Risk
The Fund’s investments are subject to the risk 
that issuers and/or counterparties will fail to 
make payments when due or default completely. 
Prices of the Fund’s investments maybe adversely 
affected if any of the issuers or counterparties it 
is invested in are subject to an actual or perceived 
deterioration in their credit quality. Credit spreads 
may increase, which may reduce the market values 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  52

of the Fund’s securities. Credit spread risk is the risk 
that economic and market conditions or any actual 
or perceived credit deterioration may lead to an 
increase in the credit spreads (i.e., the difference in 
yield between two securities of similar maturity but 
different credit quality) and a decline in price of the 
issuer’s securities.

General Market Risk
Economies and financial markets through-out the 
world are becoming increasingly interconnected, 
which increases the likelihood that events or 
conditions in one country or region will adversely 
impact markets or issuers in other countries or 
regions. Securities in the Fund’s portfolio may 
underperform in comparison to securities in 
general financial markets, a particular financial 
market or other asset classes, due to a number 
of factors, including inflation (or expectations 
for inflation), interest rates, global demand for 
particular products or resources, natural disasters 
or events, terrorism, regulatory events and 
government controls.

Mortgage-Related Securities Risk
Mortgage-related securities are subject to certain 
other risks, including prepayment and call 
risks. During periods of difficult or frozen credit 
markets, significant changes in interest rates, or 
deteriorating economic conditions, mortgage-
related securities may decline in value, face 
valuation difficulties, become more volatile and/
or become illiquid. When mortgages and other 
obligations are prepaid and when securities are 
called, the Fund may have to reinvest in securities 
with a lower yield or fail to recover additional 
amounts (i.e., premiums) paid for securities with 
higher interest rates, resulting in an unexpected 
capital loss and/or a decrease in the amount of 
dividends and yield. In periods of rising interest 
rates, the Fund may be subject to extension risk, 
and may receive principal later than expected. As a 
result, in periods of rising interest rates, the Fund 
may exhibit additional volatility.

Government Securities Risk
The Fund invests in securities issued or guaranteed 
by the U.S. government or its agencies and 
instrumentalities (such as securities issued by 
the Government National Mortgage Association 
(Ginnie Mae), the Federal National Mortgage 
Association (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) or other 

Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs)). U.S. 
government securities are subject to market risk, 
interest rate risk and credit risk. Securities, such 
as those issued or guaranteed by Ginnie Mae or 
the U.S. Treasury, that are backed by the full faith 
and credit of the United States are guaranteed only 
as to the timely payment of interest and principal 
when held to maturity and the market prices for 
such securities will fluctuate. Notwithstanding 
that these securities are backed by the full faith 
and credit of the United States, circumstances 
could arise that would prevent the payment of 
interest or principal. This would result in losses to 
the Fund. Securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. 
government related organizations, such as Fannie 
Mae and Freddie Mac, are not backed by the full 
faith and credit of the U.S. government and no 
assurance can be given that the U.S. government 
will provide financial support. Therefore, U.S. 
government related organizations may not have 
the funds to meet their payment obligations in 
the future. U.S. government securities include 
zero coupon securities, which tend to be subject to 
greater market risk than interest-paying securities 
of similar maturities.

When-Issued, Delayed Settlement and Forward 
Commitment Transactions Risk
The Fund may purchase or sell securities which it is 
eligible to purchase or sell on a when-issued basis, 
may purchase and sell such securities for delayed 
delivery and may make contracts to purchase or 
sell such securities for a fixed price at a future 
date beyond normal settlement time (forward 
commitments). When-issued transactions, delayed 
delivery purchases and forward commitments 
involve the risk that the security the Fund buys will 
lose value prior to its delivery. There also is the risk 
that the security will not be issued or that the other 
party to the transaction will not meet its obligation. 
If this occurs, the Fund loses both the investment 
opportunity for the assets it set aside to pay for the 
security and any gain in the security’s price.

Transactions Risk
The Fund could experience a loss and its liquidity 
may be negatively impacted when selling securities 
to meet redemption requests by shareholders. The 
risk of loss increases if the redemption requests 
are unusually large or frequent or occur in times 
of overall market turmoil or declining prices. 
Similarly, large purchases of Fund shares may 
adversely affect the Fund’s performance to the 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  53

extent that the Fund is delayed in investing new 
cash and is required to maintain a larger cash 
position than it ordinarily would.

Floating and Variable Rate Securities Risk
Floating and variable rate securities provide for a 
periodic adjustment in the interest rate paid on the 
securities. The rate adjustment intervals maybe 
regular and range from daily up to annually, or may 
be based on an event, such as a change in the prime 
rate. Floating and variable rate securities may be 
subject to greater liquidity risk than other debt 
securities, meaning that there may be limitations 
on the Fund’s ability to sell the securities at any 
given time. Such securities also may lose value.

Net Asset Value Risk
There is no assurance that the Fund will meet its 
investment objective of maintaining a net asset 
value of $1.00 per share on a continuous basis. 
Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the 
Fund’s affiliates will purchase distressed assets 
from the Fund, make capital infusions, enter into 
capital support agreements or take other actions 
to ensure that the Fund maintains a net asset value 
of $1.00 per share. In the event any money market 
fund fails to maintain a stable net asset value, 
other money market funds, including the Fund, 
could face a universal risk of increased redemption 
pressures, potentially jeopardizing the stability 
of their net asset values. In general, certain other 
money market funds have in the past failed to 
maintain stable net asset values and there can 
be no assurance that such failures and resulting 
redemption pressures will not occur in the future.

Repurchase Agreement Risk
There is a risk that the counter-party to a 
repurchase agreement will default or otherwise 
become unable to honor a financial obligation and 
the value of your investment could decline as a 
result.

Risk Associated with the Fund Holding Cash
The Fund will generally hold a portion of its assets 
in cash, primarily to meet redemptions. Cash 
positions may hurt performance and may subject 
the Fund to additional risks and costs, such as 
increased exposure to the custodian bank holding 
the assets and any fees imposed for large cash 
balances.

Interfund Lending Risk
A delay in repayment to the Fund from a borrowing 
fund could result in lost opportunity costs. Inter-
fund loans are subject to the risk that the borrowing 
fund could be unable to repay the loan when due. In 
the case of a default by a borrowing fund and to the 
extent that the loan is collateralized, the Fund could 
take possession of collateral that the Fund is not 
permitted to hold and, therefore, would be required 
to dispose of such collateral as soon as possible, 
which could result in a loss to the Fund.

Prepayment Risk
The issuer of certain securities may repay principal 
in advance, especially when yields fall. Changes 
in the rate at which prepayments occur can affect 
the return on investment of these securities. When 
debt obligations are pre-paid or when securities are 
called, the Fund may have to reinvest in securities 
with a lower yield. The Fund also may fail to 
recover additional amounts (i.e., premiums) paid 
for securities with higher coupons, resulting in an 
unexpected capital loss. 

State and Local Taxation Risk
The Fund may invest in securities whose interest 
is subject to state and local income taxes. Consult 
your tax professional for more information.

Additional Investment Information

Assets Held in Trust
Your Account assets are held in trust by the 
Committee, a public instrumentality of the State 
of Washington. We hold your Account for your 
exclusive benefit and we may not transfer or use it 
for any purpose other than those of the Program. 
Please keep in mind that you will not own shares 
of the Underlying Funds. You are purchasing Units 
in the Program’s Portfolios, which invest your 
contributions in one or more of the Underlying 
Funds.

The Unit Value of each Portfolio is normally 
calculated as of the close of the NYSE each Business 
Day. If securities held by an Underlying Fund are 
traded in other markets on days when the NYSE 
is closed, a Portfolio’s value may fluctuate on days 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  54

when you do not have access to your Portfolio to 
purchase or redeem Units. If events that are expected 
to materially affect the value of securities traded 
in other markets occur between the close of those 
markets and the close of business of the NYSE, those 
securities may be valued at their fair value.

Treatment of Dividends and Capital Gains
The Underlying Funds distribute dividends and 
capital gains because they are required to do so 
under the current provisions of the Code in order to 
maintain their tax status as regulated investment 
companies. The Portfolios are not considered mutual 
funds. Therefore, the Portfolios are not required to 
comply with these requirements. Any reinvested 
dividends and capital gains from the Underlying 
Funds will become assets of the Portfolios. Although 
the Underlying Funds may distribute dividends 
and/or capital gains, the Portfolios, rather than 
distributing earnings, reflect changes in value 
from income and gains and losses on the sale of the 
Underlying Funds solely by increasing or decreasing 
their Unit Value.

The Target Indexes of Certain of the 
Underlying Funds May Change
Certain products of the Underlying Funds are 
index funds or are funds that invest in index funds. 
Each index Fund reserves the right to substitute a 
different index for the index it currently tracks. This 
could happen if the current index is discontinued, 
if the index Fund’s agreement with the sponsor of 
its current index is terminated, or for any other 
reason determined in good faith by the index Fund’s 
board of trustees. In any such instance, a substitute 
index would measure substantially the same market 
segment (e.g., large-, mid-, or small-capitalization) as 
the current index.

Portfolio Changes
We may (i) change the asset allocations, policies, 
objectives, and guidelines of the Portfolios, (ii) 
change the selection of Underlying Funds in which 
each Portfolio invests, and (iii) modify, add, and 
close Portfolios, each at any time and without prior 
notice. If we make changes to the Portfolios, your 
contributions may be reinvested in a Portfolio that 
is different from your original Portfolio. Neither 
you, your Beneficiary, nor any contributor to 
your Account may direct the investments of the 
Underlying Funds of a Portfolio.

Requesting additional Information about 
the Underlying Funds
We will invest your contributions to the Portfolios 
in one or more of the Underlying Funds. Please 
keep in mind that you will not own shares of the 
Underlying Funds. Instead, you will own interests 
in the trust established by the Enabling Legislation.

Additional information about the investment 
strategies and risks of each Underlying Fund is 
available in its current prospectus and Statement of 
Additional Information. You can request a copy of 
the current prospectus, the Statement of Additional 
Information, or the most recent semi-annual or 
annual report of any Underlying Fund by contacting 
the following:

Investment Direction and Control by 
Account Owner
Investment Selection. For each new contribution, 
you can select from any of the Portfolios when 
you make your contribution. The minimum 
allocation per selected Investment Option is $5 of 
the contribution amount. You should periodically 
assess, and if appropriate, adjust your investment 
choices with your time horizon, risk tolerance and 
investment objectives in mind.

Changing Portfolios. Once you select your 
Portfolio for a particular contribution, IRS rules 
provide that you can move money or transfer 
from one Portfolio to another up to two times per 
calendar year for the same Beneficiary. You can 
change the allocation of your future contributions 
at any time.

Fidelity
https://www.fidelity.com/mutual-funds/overview

1-800-972-2155

J.P. Morgan
https://am.jpmorgan.com/us/en/asset-

management/gim/liq/home
1-900-766-7722

Schwab
https://www.schwabfunds.com/public/csim/home

1-866-855-9102

Vanguard
https://personal.vanguard.com

1-877-308-8411



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  55

Investment Performance
The Portfolios commenced operations in April 2018 
and no performance information for the Portfolios 
is yet available. However, we will make certain 
Portfolio price and performance information 
available approximately 90 days after the Portfolios 
commence operations on www.dreamahead.
wa.gov. Alternatively, you can call a Customer 
Service Representative at 1-844-529-5845 to inquire 
about this information.

The performance of the Portfolios will differ from 
the performance of the Underlying Funds. Because 
the Portfolios have higher expense ratios than those 
of the Underlying Funds, over comparable periods 
of time, all other things being equal, a Portfolio 
would have lower performance than its comparable 
Underlying Fund. (Of course, the Underlying 
Funds do not offer the same tax advantages as 
the Portfolios.) Performance differences also are 
caused by differences in the trade dates of Portfolio 
purchases. When you invest money in a Portfolio, 
you will receive Units as of the trade date noted 
under Contributing To My Account beginning on 
page 8. 

The Portfolio will use your money to purchase 
shares of an Underlying Fund. Depending on the 
amount of cash flow into or out of the Portfolio 
and whether the Underlying Fund is going up or 
down in value, this timing difference may cause the 
Portfolio’s performance either to trail or exceed the 
Underlying Fund’s performance.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  56

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ Section 529 of the Internal Revenue Code

 ▸ Federal tax treatment of transfers and 
rollovers

 ▸ Federal tax treatment of distributions

Important Federal Tax Information

Federal Tax Information
General
This Section describes some of the federal tax 
considerations you should be aware of when 
investing in DreamAhead, is for information 
purposes only, and is based on relevant provisions 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 
(Code), proposed regulations issued by the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS), relevant legislative history, 
and official interpretations of applicable federal law 
as of the date of this Program Details Booklet.

The federal tax consequences associated with 
an investment in DreamAhead can be complex. 
This discussion is by no means exhaustive and is 
not meant as tax advice, so you should not rely 
upon it but instead consult an independent tax 
advisor regarding the application of tax laws to 
your particular circumstances. You should not use 
DreamAhead for the purposes of evading federal 
tax or tax penalties. 

Some states may impose taxes and/or penalties on 
investments in or withdrawals from a Qualified 
Tuition Program offered by other states. These 
penalties and taxes may, in certain cases, have the 
effect of offsetting some or all of the federal tax 
benefits discussed below.

Risk of Tax Law Changes
The IRS has issued only proposed regulations and 
certain other guidance under Section 529. Final 
regulations could affect the tax considerations or 
require changes in the terms of DreamAhead.

Federal Tax-Deferred Earnings
Any earnings on contributions are tax-deferred, 
which means your Account assets grow free of 
current federal income tax and are not subject to 
federal income tax if withdrawn to pay for Qualified 
Education Expenses, as described below.

Federal Gift/Estate Tax
If your contributions, together with any other gifts 
to the Beneficiary (over and above those made to 
your Account), do not exceed $15,000 per year 
($30,000 for married couples making a proper 
election), those contributions will qualify for the 
annual exclusion from gift tax for that year. Gifts 
of up to $75,000 can be made in a single year 
($150,000 for married couples making a proper 
election) for a Beneficiary and you may elect to 
apply the contribution against the annual exclusion 
equally over a five-year period. This allows you to 
move assets into tax-deferred investments and out 
of your estate more quickly. 

If you die with assets still remaining in your 
Account, the Account’s value will generally not 
be included in your estate for federal estate tax 
purposes, unless you elect the five-year averaging 
and die before the end of the fifth year. If your 
Beneficiary dies, and assets remain in your 
Account, the value of your Account may be 
included in the Beneficiary’s estate for federal tax 
purposes. Further rules regarding gifts and the 
generation-skipping transfer tax may apply in the 
case of distributions, changes of Beneficiaries, and 
other situations. The state law treatment of gift and 
estate taxes varies so you should check with your 
tax advisor for the specific effect of federal and state 
(if any) gift tax and generation skipping transfer tax 
on your situation.

Transfers and Rollovers
Where a distribution is placed in another Account 
or another Qualified Tuition Program within sixty 
(60) days of the distribution date, you may avoid 
incurring federal income tax or a Distribution Tax. 
You can transfer assets for the same Beneficiary 
from another Qualified Tuition Program to your 
Account without adverse tax consequences only 
if no other such rollovers have occurred within 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  57

the prior twelve (12) months. Changes in your 
Beneficiary could potentially cause gift and/or 
generation-skipping transfer tax consequences 
to you and your Beneficiary. Because gift and 
generation-skipping transfer tax issues are 
complex, you should consult with your tax advisor.

ABLE Rollover Distributions
You may roll over all or part of the balance of 
your DreamAhead Account into a Qualified ABLE 
Program account within 60 days of withdrawal 
without incurring any federal income tax or the 
Distribution Tax if:

1. The rollover is to an account for the same 
Beneficiary; or

2. The rollover is for a new beneficiary who is a 
Member of the Family of the prior Beneficiary.

Changes in your Beneficiary could potentially 
cause gift and/or generation-skipping transfer tax 
consequences to you and your Beneficiary. Because 
gift and generation-skipping transfer tax issues are 
complex, you should consult with your tax advisor.

Transfers from the GET Program for the 
Same Beneficiary
Under Section 529, you can transfer assets directly 
between the GET Program and DreamAhead for the 
same Beneficiary. GET to DreamAhead rollovers 
must be for the entire GET balance. This transfer of 
assets would be considered a rollover for federal tax 
purposes and is therefore subject to the restrictions 
described above under Transfers and Rollovers, 
beginning on page 56.

Coverdell Education Savings Accounts 
(ESA)
Generally, contributions may be made to both 
an ESA (defined in Section 530 of the Code) and 
a Qualified Tuition Program in the same year on 
behalf of the same Beneficiary. However, the same 
educational expenses cannot be claimed for a tax-
exempt distribution from both the ESA and the 
Qualified Tuition Program.

Education Tax Credits
You and your Beneficiary, if eligible, can take 
advantage of American Opportunity and Lifetime 
Learning Tax Credits without affecting your 
participation in DreamAhead or its benefits. 
American Opportunity and Lifetime Learning 
Credits can be claimed in the same year that a 
tax-exempt distribution is taken from a Qualified 
Tuition Program provided the distribution is not 
used for the same educational expenses.

All Distributions
Distributions may be comprised of: (1) principal, 
which is not taxable when distributed, and (2) 
earnings, if any, which may be subject to federal 
income tax. We determine the earnings portion 
based on IRS rules and report to the IRS and the 
recipient. However, we do not report whether 
the distribution is a Qualified Distribution, Non-
Qualified Distribution, Other Distribution or 
Refunded Distribution. You are responsible for 
preparing and filing the appropriate forms when 
completing your federal income tax return and for 
paying any applicable tax directly to the IRS.

Qualified Expense Distributions
If you take a distribution from your Account to pay 
for Qualified Expenses, your Beneficiary generally 
does not have to include as income any earnings 
distributed for the applicable taxable year if the 
total distributions for that year are less than or 
equal to the total Qualified Expenses for that year 
minus any tax-free educational assistance and 
expenses considered in determining any American 
Opportunity or Lifetime Learning Credits claimed 
for that taxable year.

You, or your Beneficiary, as applicable, are 
responsible for determining the amount of the 
earnings portion of any distribution from your 
Account that may be taxable and are responsible 
for reporting any earnings that must be included in 
taxable income. You should consult with your tax 
advisor for further information.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  58

Other Distributions
For federal income tax purposes, you, or the 
Beneficiary, may be subject to federal and state 
income tax on the earnings portion of a distribution 
in the event of a distribution on account of the 
death or Disability of a Beneficiary, the receipt by 
the Beneficiary of a scholarship, grant, or other tax-
free educational assistance, attendance at certain 
specified U.S. service academies, or use of American 
Opportunity or Lifetime Learning Credits. The 
distributions discussed in this paragraph are not 
subject to the Distribution Tax.

Refunded Distribution
You may avoid incurring federal income tax 
or a Distribution Tax if you receive a Refunded 
Distribution. 

Non-Qualified Distributions
You, or the Beneficiary, as applicable, are subject to 
federal and state income tax and the Distribution 
Tax on the earnings portion of any distribution that 
is not exempt from tax as described above.

Determination of Taxable Earnings
The principal and earnings portions of a 
distribution for federal tax purposes are 
determined by a formula reflecting the proportion 
of contributions to the overall market value of 
your accounts in all Qualified Tuition Programs 
sponsored by the State for the same Beneficiary. 
If the distribution is subject to federal income tax 
and/or a Distribution Tax, the tax is applied to the 
earnings portion. Due to the IRS rules regarding 
aggregation of Accounts, the taxable earnings may 
be more or less than the actual earnings on any 
particular Account or Accounts.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  59

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ Rights and Obligations of Your Account

 ▸ Changes to Your Account, This Document 
and Laws

 ▸ Laws and Claims Regarding Your Account

General Information

Your Account
Your Enrollment or Enrollment Form, when 
executed by you, and the Program Details Booklet, 
which is incorporated into the Enrollment Form, 
constitute the entire contract between you and 
the Committee with respect to your Account. By 
completing your Enrollment, you are requesting 
that the Committee establish an Account for the 
benefit of the Beneficiary you designate during 
Enrollment. Your Account, the Program Details 
Booklet and your signed Enrollment Form are 
subject to the Enabling Legislation and any rules or 
policies the Committee has adopted or may adopt 
under the Enabling Legislation. We will hold your 
Account assets, subject to the Enabling Legislation 
and the Code, the Program Details Booklet, and 
your signed Enrollment Form, for the exclusive 
benefit of you and the Beneficiary.

Customer Identification Verification
Federal law requires all financial institutions 
to obtain, verify and record information that 
identifies each person who opens an Account. 
When completing your Enrollment, we will ask for 
your name, street address, date of birth, and Social 
Security number or tax identification number (and 
any person(s) opening an Account on behalf of an 
Account Owner, such as a Custodian, agent under 
a power of attorney, trustee or corporate officers). 
This information is necessary to properly verify the 
identity of the person(s) opening the Account. If 
we do not receive all of the required information, 
there could be a delay in opening your Account or 
we may not open an Account for you. We will use 
this information to verify your identify and if, after 
making reasonable efforts, we are unable to verify 
your identity, the U.S.A. Patriot Act allows us to take 
any action permitted by law, without prior notice to 
you, including rejecting contribution and transfer 

requests, suspending Account services, or closing 
the Account and refunding the Account at the Unit 
Value calculated the day the Account is closed. 
Any refund made under these circumstances may 
be considered a Non-Qualified Distribution. The 
risk of market loss, tax implications, and any other 
expenses as a result of the liquidation, will be solely 
your responsibility.

Suspension of Services
We reserve the right to (a) refuse, change, 
discontinue, or temporarily suspend Account 
services, including accepting contributions and 
processing distribution requests, for any reason, 
and (b) suspend the processing of distribution 
requests or postpone sending out the proceeds of 
a withdrawal request when the NYSE is closed for 
any reason other than its usual weekend or holiday 
closings, when trading is restricted by the SEC, or 
under any emergency circumstances.

Changes to an Account
We are not responsible for the accuracy of the 
documentation you submit to us to make changes 
to your Account, whether submitted online or in 
paper form. If acceptable to us, notices, changes, 
options, and elections relating to your Account will 
take effect within a reasonable amount of time after 
we have received the appropriate documentation in 
good order, unless we agree otherwise. We do not 
promise that changes to your Account will occur 
within a specific time frame

Keep Legal Documents for Your Records
You should retain this Program Details Booklet 
for your records. We may make modifications to 
DreamAhead in the future. If so, we may send a 
supplement to the Program Details Booklet to your 
address of record or send notice to you by e-mail if 
you choose to receive documents electronically. If 
we make material modifications to DreamAhead, 
we may send a revised Program Details Booklet or 
supplement to your address of record or send notice 
to you by e-mail if you choose to receive documents 
electronically. In these cases, the new supplement 
and/or Program Details Booklet will supersede 
all prior versions. Please note that we periodically 
match and update the addresses of record against a 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  60

change of address database maintained by the U.S. 
Postal Service to reduce the possibility that items 
sent First Class Mail, such as Account statements, 
will be undeliverable.

Changes to the Program Details Booklet
We may update or amend the terms of the Program 
Details Booklet from time to time to comply with 
changes in DreamAhead, the law or regulations 
or if we determine it is in DreamAhead’s best 
interest to do so. However, we do not intend to but 
do not guaranteed that we will not retroactively 
modify existing terms and conditions applicable 
to an Account in a manner adverse to you or your 
Beneficiary except to the extent necessary to ensure 
compliance with applicable state and federal laws 
or regulations or to preserve the favorable tax 
treatment to you, your Beneficiary, the Committee, 
or DreamAhead.

Changes to State Statutes; adoption of 
Rules
The Washington State Legislature may, from 
time to time, pass legislation which may directly 
or indirectly affect the terms and conditions of 
DreamAhead and this Program Details Booklet. 
Also, the Committee may adopt rules and/or 
policies pursuant to the provisions of the Enabling 
Legislation, which may directly or indirectly affect 
the terms and conditions of DreamAhead and the 
Program Details Booklet. See Important Risks You 
Should Know About – Effect of Future Law Changes 
on page 28.

Determination of Maximum Account 
Balance Limits
The Committee, or a designee, generally evaluates 
the Maximum Account Balance limit annually. The 
Committee may increase the Maximum Account 
Balance limit or, if it determines that a lower limit is 
required for DreamAhead to qualify under Section 
529 of the Code, decrease it.

Guide to Interpretation
DreamAhead is intended to qualify for the 
tax benefits of Section 529 of the Code. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Program Details 
Booklet to the contrary, the terms and conditions 
applicable to your Account will be interpreted and/
or amended to comply with the requirements of 
that section and applicable regulations.

Continuing Disclosure
Certain financial information and operating data 
relating to DreamAhead may be filed by or on behalf 
of the Program in electronic form with the Electronic 
Municipal Market Access system maintained by the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB). 

Custodial Arrangements
The Bank of New York Mellon (BNY Mellon) is 
DreamAhead’s custodian. As such, BNY Mellon is 
responsible for maintaining DreamAhead’s assets.

Creditor Protections
Bankruptcy legislation protects certain assets in 
federal bankruptcy proceedings that have been 
contributed to a 529 Plan account. However, 
bankruptcy protection for 529 Plan assets is limited 
and has certain conditions. To be protected, your 
Beneficiary must be a child, stepchild, grandchild, 
or step-grandchild of the individual who files for 
bankruptcy protection. In addition, contributions 
made to all 529 Plan accounts for the same 
Beneficiary are protected subject to the following 
limits:
•	 Contributions made less than 365 days before 

the bankruptcy filing are not protected. 
•	 Contributions made between 365 and 720 days 

before the bankruptcy filing are protected up to 
$6,425 (as adjusted for inflation). 

•	 Contributions made more than 720 days before 
the bankruptcy filing are fully protected. 

In addition, under current Washington state law 
(RCW 6.15.010 and RCW 28B.95.125), contributions 
to an Account made more than two years prior to 
the date of a bankruptcy filing or court judgment 
are exempt from execution, attachment, and 
garnishment.

This	information	is	not	meant	to	constitute	individual	advice	
or	bankruptcy	advice.	You	should	consult	a	legal	advisor	
regarding	the	application	of	this	specific	law	to	your	particular	
circumstances	and	for	a	determination	of	whether	State	or	
federal	law	applies	to	your	situation.

Representation
All factual determinations regarding your or your 
Beneficiary’s residency, Disabled status, and any 
other factual determinations regarding your Account 
will be made by the Committee or their designee 
based on the facts and circumstances of each case.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  61

Severability
In the event that any clause or portion of the 
Program Details Booklet or the Enrollment Form, 
including your representations, warranties, 
certifications, and acknowledgements, is found to 
be invalid or unenforceable by a valid court order, 
that clause or portion shall be severed from the 
Program Details Booklet or the Enrollment Form, 
as applicable, and the remainder of the Program 
Details Booklet or Enrollment Form, as applicable, 
shall continue in full force and effect as if such 
clause or portion had never been included.

Precedence
In the event of inconsistencies between the 
Program Details Booklet, the Management 
Agreement, policies or rules adopted by the 
Committee, and the Code or Washington State 
statutes, the provisions of the Washington State 
statutes or the Code, as applicable, shall govern. 
To the extent permitted by Washington State 
law, the Code shall govern in the event of any 
inconsistencies between Washington State statutes 
and the Code.

Washington State Law
DreamAhead is created under the laws of the State 
(Chapter RCW 28B.95). It is governed by, construed, 
and administered in accordance with the laws 
of the State. The venue for disputes and all other 
matters relating to DreamAhead will only be in the 
State.

Claims; Disputes
All decisions and interpretations by the Program 
Administrators in connection with the operation 
of DreamAhead will be final and binding upon you, 
the Beneficiary and any other person affected. The 
obligations of DreamAhead with respect to your 
Account are limited to distributions you request 
from your Account (or as otherwise provided in 
this Program Details Booklet).  Those distributions 
are limited to contributions to your Account, as 
increased or decreased by earnings and/or losses 
and any applicable fees charged to your Account.  

Neither you nor your Beneficiary will have recourse 
against the Program Administrators, collectively 
or individually, in connection with any right or 
obligations arising out of an Account. Assets in 
your Account are not an obligation of the State, 

are not insured or guaranteed by the State, and 
neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing 
power of the State can be pledged to the payment of 
education expenses, including Qualified Expenses. 
Establishment of an Account does not guarantee 
that a Beneficiary will be admitted to an Eligible 
Educational Institution or a K-12 School or be 
allowed to continue enrollment at or graduate 
from an Eligible Educational Institution or a K-12 
School after admission. Establishing an Account 
does not establish Washington state residence for 
a Beneficiary. The State does not guarantee that 
amounts saved in an Account will be sufficient to 
cover the Qualified Expenses of a Beneficiary. All 
obligations under your Account, the Enrollment 
Form, and the Program Details Booklet are legally 
binding contractual obligations of the Program 
only.

Lawsuits Involving Your Account
By opening an Account, you are submitting (on 
behalf of yourself and your Beneficiary) to the 
exclusive jurisdiction of courts in Washington 
State for all legal proceedings arising out of or 
relating to your Account. The Committee, the 
Program Administrators or other service providers 
to DreamAhead may apply to a court at any time 
for judicial resolution of any matter involving 
your Account. If the Committee, the Program 
Administrators or other service providers to 
DreamAhead does so, they must give you or your 
Beneficiary the opportunity to participate in the 
court proceeding, but they also can involve other 
persons. Any expense incurred by the Program 
Administrators in legal proceedings involving your 
Account, including attorney’s fees and expenses, 
are chargeable to your Account to the full extent 
permitted by law and payable by you or your 
Beneficiary if not paid from your Account.

Binding Nature
The Program Details Booklet and your agreement 
to participate in DreamAhead are binding upon 
the parties and their respective heirs, successors, 
beneficiaries and permitted assigns.

By completing your Enrollment, you agree that all 
of your representations and obligations are for the 
benefit of the Program Administrators, all of whom 
can rely upon and enforce your representations 
and obligations contained in the Program Details 
Booklet and the Enrollment Form.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  62

At a Glance 
In this section, you will learn more about

 ▸ The Committee

 ▸ Assets Held in Trust

 ▸ The Program Manager

Plan Administration

DreamAhead
DreamAhead is intended to operate as a Qualified 
Tuition Program and is operated under the 
Enabling Legislation. The Enabling Legislation 
authorizes the Committee to establish and 
administer Qualified Tuition Programs and gives 
the Committee power to develop and implement 
DreamAhead through the establishment of rules, 
guidelines, procedures, or policies. In addition, 
the Committee is provided discretion with regard 
to the formation of DreamAhead, including the 
retention of professional services necessary to 
assist in the administration of DreamAhead. 
DreamAhead is administered by the Committee as 
an instrumentality of the State.

Other Qualified Tuition Programs 
Administered by the Committee
The Committee also administers the Guaranteed 
Education Tuition (GET) Program. This Program 
Details Booklet relates only to DreamAhead. Go 
to www.get.wa.gov for information and materials 
about the GET Program.

The Committee on Advanced Tuition 
Payment and College Savings (Committee)
As required by the Enabling Legislation, the 
Committee provides oversight of DreamAhead and 
the GET Program. The Committee meets at least 
quarterly to discuss legislative activities, review 
program policies and investments, and make 
program decisions. The five-member Committee 
consists of the executive director of the Washington 
Student Achievement Council, the State 
Treasurer, the Director of the Office of Financial 
Management, and two citizen representatives. 
Committee members receive no compensation for 
their services to GET; however, they are entitled 

to reimbursement for expenses incurred in the 
performance of their duties. The Committee 
has general and fiduciary responsibility for the 
Program. There are vacancies on the Committee 
from time to time. The Committee also acts as the 
distributor of DreamAhead.

Washington Student Achievement Council 
(WSAC)
The Washington Student Achievement Council 
supports DreamAhead and the GET Program, 
based on the Committee’s direction. Established 
as a cabinet-level state agency on July 1, 2012, the 
Washington Student Achievement Council provides 
strategic planning, oversight, and advocacy to 
support increased student success and higher levels 
of educational attainment in Washington. 

Assets Held in Trust
Pursuant to the Enabling Legislation, assets in 
the Program are held in trust. Assets held in 
trust consist of the investments and earnings on 
investments of funds received by DreamAhead as 
contributions to Accounts.

Program Manager
Sumday Administration serves as the Program 
Manager of DreamAhead. Sumday Administration 
and its affiliates have overall responsibility 
for DreamAhead’s day-to-day operations, 
including recordkeeping, customer service 
and administrative services. Pursuant to the 
Management Agreement, Lockwood provides 
investment advisory services for DreamAhead. The 
Management Agreement between the Committee 
and Sumday Administration expires in 2028, unless 
extended for up to an additional two (2) two-year 
terms in the discretion of the Washington Student 
Achievement Council.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  63

Defined Terms
Terms used in this Program Details Booklet have the 
following meanings:

529 Plan or Qualified Tuition Program: A college 
savings plan generally set up by a state government 
pursuant to Section 529 of the Code to allow you to 
contribute to an account established for paying a 
Beneficiary’s Qualified Expenses. 

ABLE Rollover Distribution: A distribution to 
an account in a Qualified ABLE Program for the 
same Beneficiary or a Member of the Family of 
the Beneficiary.  Any distribution must be made 
before January 1, 2026 and cannot cause the amount 
contributed to the account in the Qualified ABLE 
Program to exceed the annual $15,000 contribution 
limit prescribed by Section 529A(b)(2)(B)(i) of the Code.

Account:  An account in DreamAhead established by 
an Account Owner for a Beneficiary.

Account Owner or you or your: An individual 18 
years or older, a trust, an estate, a partnership, an 
association, a company, a corporation, a limited 
liability company, a Custodian or any other legal entity, 
who or which signs an Enrollment Form establishing 
an Account. In certain cases, the Account Owner and 
Beneficiary may be the same person. 

AIP or Automatic Investment Plan: A service in 
which an Account Owner authorizes DreamAhead 
to transfer money, on a regular and predetermined 
basis, from a bank or other financial institution to an 
Account in DreamAhead.

Annual Account Maintenance Fee: An annual fee 
charged to each Account as described under Fees on 
page 21.

Automated Clearing House or ACH: An electronic 
network for financial transactions in the United States.

Beneficiary: The individual designated by an Account 
Owner, generally the student (or future student) for 
whom the Account is intended to provide benefits. 
The designated Beneficiary can be changed to a 
Member of the Family after an Account is opened 
and participation in DreamAhead begins. If a state or 
local government or certain tax-exempt organizations 

purchase an interest in DreamAhead as part of a 
scholarship program, the Beneficiary is the person 
who receives the interest as a scholarship.

BNY Mellon:  The Bank of New York Mellon acts as 
custodian and fund accountant for the Program.

Business Day: A day on which the New York Stock 
Exchange is open for trading.

Code: Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
There are references to various sections of the
Code throughout this Program Details Booklet, 
including Section 529 as it currently exists and as 
it may subsequently be amended, and regulations 
promulgated thereunder.

Committee: The Committee on Advanced 
Tuition Payment and College Savings established 
by the Enabling Legislation as administrator of 
DreamAhead.  The Committee also acts as distributor 
of DreamAhead.

Custodian: The individual who opens an Account 
on behalf of a minor Beneficiary with assets from 
an UGMA/UTMA account. Generally, the Custodian 
will be required to perform all duties of the Account 
Owner with regard to the Account until the Account 
Owner attains the age of majority, is otherwise 
emancipated, or the Custodian is released or replaced 
by a valid court order. The Custodian of an Account 
funded from an UGMA/UTMA account may not 
change the Account Owner or Beneficiary.

Disabled or Disability: Condition of a Beneficiary 
who is unable to do any substantial gainful activity 
because of any medically determinable physical or 
mental impairment which can be expected to result 
in death or to be of long-continued and indefinite 
duration. Please see IRS Publication 970 available at 
www.irs.gov/publications/p970/ for further details. 

Distribution Tax: A federal surtax required by the 
Code that is equal to 10% of the earnings portion of a 
Non-Qualified Distribution.

DreamAhead or the Program: The DreamAhead 
College Investment Plan, a qualified tuition program 
sponsored and distributed by the Committee.

Glossary



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  64

EFT or Electronic Funds Transfer: A service in 
which an Account Owner authorizes DreamAhead 
to transfer money from a bank or other financial 
institution to an Account in DreamAhead.

Eligible Educational Institution: For purposes of 
a 529 Plan, any college, university, vocational school, 
or other postsecondary educational institution 
eligible to participate in a student aid program 
administered by the U.S. Department of Education. 
It includes virtually all accredited public, nonprofit, 
and proprietary (privately owned profit-making) 
postsecondary institutions. Certain educational 
institutions located outside the United States also 
participate in the U.S. Department of Education’s 
Federal Student Aid (FSA) programs. You generally 
can determine if a school is an Eligible Educational 
Institution by searching for its Federal School Code 
(identification number for schools eligible for Title IV 
financial aid programs) at www.fafsa.ed.gov.

Enabling Legislation: The law that established 
DreamAhead (Chapter 28B.95 RCW).

Enrollment Form or Enrollment: A participation 
agreement between an Account Owner and the 
Program, establishing the obligations of each 
and prepared in accordance with the provisions 
of DreamAhead.  An Enrollment Form may be 
completed online or in paper form.

Fees: The Annual Account Maintenance Fee, 
Total Annual Asset-Based Fee (which includes the 
Underlying Fund Fee, the Service Fee and the State 
Administrative Fee), and any other fees, costs, 
expenses, and charges associated with DreamAhead.

Fidelity: Fidelity Investments.

GET Program or GET: Washington’s prepaid college 
tuition program, known as the Advanced College 
Tuition Payment Program, and commonly referred 
to as the Guaranteed Education Tuition Program, as 
authorized by Chapter 28B.95 RCW.

IRS: Internal Revenue Service.

Investment Manager: Fidelity, J.P. Morgan, Schwab 
and Vanguard provide investment management 
services for the Underlying Funds that make up the 
Portfolios.

Investment Option: One of three (3) Year of 
Enrollment Options for a particular assumed year of 
college enrollment of the Beneficiary and seven (7) 
Static Investment Options available for investment in 
DreamAhead.

J.P. Morgan: J.P. Morgan Asset Management.  

K-12 Tuition: Expenses for tuition, as defined in the 
Code, in connection with enrollment or attendance at 
a K-12 School.

K-12 School: An elementary or secondary public, 
private or religious school, as used in Section 529 of 
the Code.

Lockwood: Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  Lockwood 
provides investment advisory services to the 
Committee with respect to DreamAhead. Lockwood 
is a BNY Mellon Company.

Management Agreement: An agreement between 
the Committee and Sumday Administration as 
the Program Manager to provide DreamAhead 
with recordkeeping and administrative services, 
Account servicing, and, through Lockwood, certain 
investment advisory services. The agreement 
between the Committee and the Program Manager 
is now effective and will terminate in 2028 unless 
otherwise extended according to its terms. 

Maximum Account Balance: The maximum 
aggregate balance of all accounts for the same 
Beneficiary in Qualified Tuition Programs sponsored 
by the State of Washington, as established by the 
Committee, from time to time, which, if reached, will 
limit the amount of additional contributions that 
may be made to Accounts for any one Beneficiary, 
as required by Section 529 of the Code. The current 
Maximum Account Balance limit is $500,000.

Member of the Family: As defined in Section 529(e)
(2) of the Code, an individual who is related to the 
Beneficiary as follows:
•	 a son, daughter, stepson or stepdaughter, or a 

descendant of any such person;
•	 a brother, sister, stepbrother, or stepsister;
•	 the father or mother, or an ancestor of either;
•	 a stepfather or stepmother;
•	 a son or daughter of a brother or sister;
•	 a brother or sister of the father or mother;



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  65

•	 a son-in-law, daughter-in-law, father-in-law, 
mother- in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law;

•	 the spouse of the Beneficiary or the spouse of 
any individual described above; or

•	 a first cousin of the Beneficiary.

For purposes of determining who is a Member of the 
Family, a legally adopted child or a foster child of an 
individual is treated as the child of that individual by 
blood. The terms “brother” and “sister” include half- 
brothers and half-sisters.

Non-Qualified Distributions: A distribution from 
an Account that is not one of the following:
•	 A Qualified Distribution;
•	 An Other Distribution; 

Other Distribution: A distribution from an Account 
that is:
•	 A distribution paid to a beneficiary of the 

Beneficiary (or the estate of the Beneficiary) on 
or after the death of the Beneficiary;

•	 A distribution by reason of the Disability of the 
Beneficiary;

•	 A distribution included in income because the 
Beneficiary received (i) a tax-free scholarship or 
fellowship; (ii) Veterans’ education assistance; 
(iii) Tuition Assistance; or (iv) any other 
nontaxable (tax-free) payments (other than 
gifts or inheritances) received as education 
assistance;

•	 A distribution by reason of the Beneficiary’s 
attendance at certain specified U.S. service 
academies; 

•	 A distribution resulting from the use of 
American Opportunity or Lifetime Learning 
Credits as allowed under federal income tax 
law;

•	 A Refunded Distribution; 
•	 A Rollover Distribution to another Qualified 

Tuition Program, with appropriate 
documentation; or

•	 An ABLE Rollover Distribution.

Portfolio: One of the Year of Enrollment or 
Static Portfolios available to Account Owners in 
DreamAhead. 

Program Administrators: The State, the 
Committee, WSAC, any other agency of the State, 
Sumday, Lockwood, Fidelity, J.P. Morgan, Schwab, 
Vanguard, and any other counsel, advisor, or 
consultant retained by, or on behalf of, those entities 
and any affiliate, employee, officer, official, or agent 
of those entities.

Program Management Services: The services 
provided to DreamAhead by the Program Manager. 
These services include recordkeeping, customer 
service, account administration, and certain 
investment advisory services.

Program Manager: Sumday Administration, 
LLC, which has been engaged by the Committee to 
provide, directly or through subcontractors, Program 
Management Services to DreamAhead.

Qualified ABLE Program:  A program designed to 
allow individuals with disabilities to save for qualified 
disability expenses. Qualified ABLE Programs 
are sponsored by states or state agencies and are 
authorized by Section 529A of the Code.

Qualified Distribution: A distribution from an 
Account that is used to pay Qualified Expenses of the 
Beneficiary.

Qualified Expenses: “Qualified higher education 
expenses” as defined in the Code, related to 
enrollment or attendance at an Eligible Educational 
Institution. Generally, these include the following:
•	 Tuition, fees, and the costs of textbooks, 

supplies, and equipment required for the 
enrollment or attendance of a Beneficiary at an 
Eligible Educational Institution;

•	 Certain costs of room and board of a Beneficiary 
for any academic period during which the 
Beneficiary is enrolled at least half-time at an 
Eligible Educational Institution; and

•	 Expenses for “special needs” services needed by 
a special needs Beneficiary must be incurred in 
connection with their enrollment or attendance 
at an Eligible Educational Institution; and

•	 Computer or peripheral equipment, computer 
software, or Internet access and related services 
if it’s to be used primarily by the Beneficiary 
during any of the years the Beneficiary is 
enrolled at an Eligible Educational Institution.  

Qualified Expenses also include K-12 Tuition (up to an 
annual $10,000 limit).



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  66

Refunded Distribution: A distribution which is 
later refunded by an Eligible Educational Institution 
and recontributed to a 529 Plan that meets the 
following requirements:
•	 The re-contribution must not exceed the 

amount of the refund from the Eligible 
Educational Institution;

•	 The re-contribution must not exceed the 
amount of distributions previously taken to pay 
the Qualified Higher Education Expenses of the 
beneficiary;

•	 The re-contribution must be made to an 
account in a 529 Plan for the same beneficiary 
to whom the refund was made; and

•	 The funds must be recontributed to a 529 Plan 
within 60 days of the date of the refund from 
the Eligible Educational Institution. 

A Refunded Distribution will not be subject to federal 
income tax or the Distribution Tax. 

Rollover Distribution: A distribution resulting from 
a change of Beneficiary to another Beneficiary who is 
a Member of the Family, either within DreamAhead 
or between Qualified Tuition Programs, or a rollover 
of assets between Qualified Tuition Programs for 
the same Beneficiary, provided another rollover or 
transfer for the same Beneficiary has not occurred in 
the previous twelve (12) months.

Schwab: Charles Schwab Investment Management, 
Inc.
 
State: The State of Washington.

Static Portfolio: DreamAhead Portfolios that invest 
in the specified asset allocation.  If you invest in a 
Static Portfolio, your assets will remain invested 
in that Portfolio until you direct us to move those 
assets to a different Portfolio. Each Portfolio invests 
in multiple Underlying Funds, each of which is 
managed by either Fidelity, JP Morgan, Schwab and/
or Vanguard.

Successor Owner: The person named in the 
Enrollment Form or otherwise in writing to 
DreamAhead by the Account Owner, who may 
exercise the rights of the Account Owner under 
DreamAhead if the Account Owner dies. The 
Successor Owner may be the Beneficiary if the 
Beneficiary is 18 years or older.

Sumday Administration: Sumday Administration 
is used to refer to Sumday Administration, LLC and 
its subcontracted affiliates.

Tuition Assistance: A benefit earned by certain 
individuals employed by Eligible Educational 
Institutions whereby family members who attend 
these Eligible Educational Institutions may receive 
partial or full waivers of payment of Qualified 
Expenses.

Underlying Fund Fee: The investment advisory 
fees and administrative and other expenses of the 
Underlying Funds in the Portfolios as described 
under Fees on page 21.

Underlying Funds or Funds: The mutual funds 
or other investments that are invested in by the 
Portfolios.

UGMA/UTMA: Uniform Gifts to Minors Act/
Uniform Transfers to Minors Act.

Unit: The measurement of your interest in a 
Portfolio. 

Unit Value: The value per Unit in a Portfolio. 

Vanguard: The Vanguard Group, Inc.

Washington State Resident: An Account Owner or 
Beneficiary who has registered a Washington State 
address with DreamAhead.

Washington Student Achievement Council 
(WSAC): The State agency that administers 
DreamAhead and the GET Program, based on the 
Committee’s direction.

We, us or our: DreamAhead, the Committee and/or 
the State, as applicable.

Year of Enrollment Portfolio: DreamAhead 
Portfolios where your money is moved automatically 
to progressively more conservative investments as 
the targeted Year of Enrollment approaches. Each 
Portfolio invests in multiple Underlying Funds 
managed by Fidelity, JP Morgan, Schwab and/
or Vanguard.  For each target year, there is a Year 
of Enrollment Portfolio for three different risk 
tolerances (Conservative, Moderate or Growth) to 
choose from.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  67

Indemnity 
As an Account Owner, I agree to and acknowledge 
the following:

1. I am opening an Account in the Program 
based upon my statements, agreements, 
representations, warranties, and covenants as 
set forth in the Program Details Booklet and 
the Enrollment Form.

2. I, through my Enrollment and this 
Agreement, indemnify and hold harmless the 
Program Administrators from and against 
any and all loss, damage, liability, penalty, 
tax, or expense, including costs of reasonable 
attorneys’ fees, which they incur by reason 
of, or in connection with, any misstatement 
or misrepresentation that is made by me 
or my Beneficiary, any breach by me of the 
acknowledgements, representations, or 
warranties in the Program Details Booklet 
or the Enrollment Form, or any failure by me 
to fulfill any covenants or agreements in the 
Program Details Booklet, or the Enrollment 
Form.

Representations, Warranties and 
Acknowledgements
I, as Account Owner, represent and warrant to, 
and acknowledge and agree with the Committee 
regarding the matters set forth in the Program 
Details Booklet and the Enrollment Form including 
that:

1. I have received, read, and understand the 
terms and conditions of the Program Details 
Booklet and Enrollment Form and any 
additional information provided to me by any 
of the Program Administrators with respect to 
DreamAhead.

2. I certify that I am a natural person, at least 
18 years of age and a citizen or a resident of 
the United States of America, who resides 
in the United States of America or, that I 
have the requisite authority to enter into 
this participation agreement and to open an 

Agreement
In	this	section,	we	ask	you	to	indemnify	the	Program	Administrators,	to	make	certain	representations	to	us	and	to	
acknowledge	your	responsibilities.

Account on behalf of the Beneficiary. I also 
certify that the person named as Beneficiary 
of the Account is a citizen or a resident of the 
United States of America.

3. I understand that DreamAhead is intended to 
be used only to save for Qualified Expenses of 
the Beneficiary.

4. If I am establishing an Account as a 
custodian for a minor under UGMA/UTMA, 
I understand and agree that I assume 
responsibility for any adverse consequences 
resulting from the establishment, 
maintenance, or termination of the Account.

5. If I am establishing an Account as a 
trustee for a trust, I represent that (i) I am 
duly authorized to act for the trust; (ii) I 
understand that the Program Details Booklet 
may not discuss tax consequences and 
other aspects of DreamAhead of particular 
relevance to the trust and individuals having 
an interest in the trust; and (iii) I, as trustee, 
for the benefit of the trust, have consulted 
with and relied on a professional advisor, as 
deemed appropriate on behalf of the trust.

6. I have been given an opportunity to ask 
questions and receive answers concerning the 
terms and conditions of DreamAhead and the 
Program Details Booklet.

7. I understand that DreamAhead assets may be 
allocated among equity Funds, fixed-income 
Funds, cash management Funds, funding 
agreements, and other investments.

8. In making my decision to open an Account 
and completing my Enrollment Form, I 
have not relied upon any representations 
or other information, whether written or 
oral, other than as set forth in the Program 
Details Booklet, and I have considered the 
availability of alternative education savings 
and investment programs, including other 
Qualified Tuition Programs.

9. I understand that I am solely responsible for 



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  68

determining which Qualified Tuition Program 
is best suited to my needs and objectives. 
I understand that each of the Investment 
Options within DreamAhead may not be 
suitable, and that DreamAhead may not 
be suitable, for all investors as a means of 
saving and investing for higher education 
costs. I have determined that an investment 
in DreamAhead is a suitable investment for 
me as a means of saving for the Qualified 
Expenses of the Beneficiary.

10. I have been given an opportunity to obtain 
any additional information needed to 
complete my Enrollment Form and/or verify 
the accuracy of any information I have 
furnished. I certify that all of the information 
that I provided in the Enrollment Form and 
any other documentation subsequently 
furnished in connection with the opening 
or maintenance of, or any withdrawals from, 
my Account is and shall be accurate and 
complete, and I agree to notify the Committee 
or DreamAhead promptly of any material 
changes in such information.

11. The value of my Account depends upon the 
performance of the Portfolios. I understand 
that at any time the value of my Account 
may be more or less than the amounts 
contributed to the Account. I understand that 
all contributions to my Account are subject to 
investment risks, including the risk of loss of 
all or part of the contributions and any return 
or interest earned. I understand that the value 
of the Account may not be adequate to fund 
actual Qualified Expenses.

12. I understand that the Portfolios are not 
designed to assist me in saving for K-12 
Tuition.

13. I understand that although I own trust 
interests in a Portfolio, I do not have a 
direct beneficial interest in the Funds and 
other investment products approved by 
the Committee from time to time, and 
therefore, I do not have the rights of an 
owner or shareholder of those Funds or 
other investments. I further understand 
that I received no advice or investment 
recommendation from, or on behalf of, the 
Program Administrators.

14. I understand that after I make a contribution 
to a specific Investment Option, I will be 
allowed to direct the further investment of 
that contribution and earnings thereon no 
more than two times per calendar year, unless 
I change the Beneficiary.

15.  I cannot use my Account as collateral for any 
loan. I understand that any attempt to use my 
Account as collateral for a loan would be void. 
I also understand that DreamAhead will not 
lend any assets to my Beneficiary or to me.

16. I understand that the Program Manager has 
the right to provide an investment advisor 
identified by me to DreamAhead with access 
to financial and other information regarding 
my Account.

17. I understand that none of the Program 
Administrators are providing me with 
investment advisory services in connection 
with my participation in DreamAhead and 
that if I so choose I may contract separately 
with an investment advisor or investment 
advisor to advise me on my investment in 
DreamAhead.

18. Except as described in this Program Details 
Booklet, I will not assign or transfer any 
interest in my Account. I understand that, 
except as allowed by law, any attempt to 
assign or transfer that interest is void.

19. I acknowledge that DreamAhead intends to 
qualify for favorable federal tax treatment 
under the Code. Because this qualification 
is vital to DreamAhead, the Committee may 
modify DreamAhead or amend this Program 
Details Booklet at any time if the Committee 
decides that the change is needed to meet the 
requirements of the Code or the regulations 
administered by the IRS pursuant to the Code, 
State law or regulations, or to ensure the 
proper administration of DreamAhead.

20. I understand that my Account(s), including 
assets and records, may be serviced 
by a different program manager at the 
Committee’s direction in the event of a change 
in Program Manager and that the Underlying 
Funds in the Portfolios in my Account, 
and their Investment Managers, may be 
changed as a result of decisions made by the 
Committee in its discretions.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  69

21.  The Program Administrators, individually 
and collectively, do not guarantee that my 
Beneficiary: will be accepted as a student by 
any institution of higher education, other 
institution of post-secondary education or a 
K-12 School; if accepted, will be permitted to 
continue as a student; will be treated as a state 
resident of any state for tuition purposes; 
will graduate from any institution of higher 
education, other institution of post-secondary 
education, or a K-12 School; or will achieve 
any particular treatment under any applicable 
state or federal financial aid programs.

22. The Program Administrators, individually 
and collectively, do not guarantee any rate of 
return or benefit for contributions made to my 
Account or guarantee the amount of tuition 
and fees that may be charged by an Eligible 
Educational Institution.

23. The Program Administrators, individually and 
collectively, are not:

a. liable for a failure of DreamAhead to 
qualify or to remain a Qualified Tuition 
Program under the Code including 
any subsequent loss of favorable tax 
treatment under state or federal law;

b. liable for any loss of funds contributed 
to my Account or for the denial to me of 
a perceived tax or other benefit under 
DreamAhead, the Program Details 
Booklet or the Enrollment Form; or

c. liable for loss caused directly or 
indirectly by government restrictions, 
exchange or market rulings, suspension 
of trading, war, acts of terrorism, 
strikes, or other conditions beyond their 
control.

24.  I understand that under Washington 
State law, Washington State residency is 
not established for the Beneficiary merely 
because I have designated him or her as the 
Beneficiary of the Account.

25. My statements, representations, warranties, 
and covenants will survive the termination of 
my Account.



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  70

This page intentionally left blank



  dreamahead.wa.gov |  71

This page intentionally left blank



Dream big. Plan ahead.

DreamAhead is sponsored by the State of Washington and administered by the Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings. Sumday Administration, LLC 
provides program management, recordkeeping and administrative support services for DreamAhead. [Fidelity], [JP Morgan], [Schwab] and The Vanguard Group, Inc. each 
serve as investment managers for the underlying mutual funds comprising DreamAhead’s Portfolios. The Portfolios are not mutual funds, although they invest in mutual 
funds.  When you invest in DreamAhead, you are purchasing Portfolio units issued by the Program. Investment returns are not guaranteed and will vary depending upon the 
performance of the Portfolios you choose. You could lose money by investing in DreamAhead.

Neither the State nor the Committee insures or guarantees accounts or investment returns on accounts. Investment returns are not guaranteed. Your account may lose value.

© 2018 DreamAhead. All rights reserved.

www.dreamahead.wa.gov

Phone (toll-free)
1-844-529-5845   
1-844-888-2253 (TTY)
Monday – Friday, 6am – 5pm PT

Regular Mail
DreamAhead College Investment Plan
P.O. Box 9661
Providence, RI 02940-9661

Overnight Delivery
DreamAhead College Investment Plan
4400 Computer Drive
Westborough, MA 01581


	GET Committee Member Meeting Packet 4.25.18
	GET Committee Meeting Agenda_4.25.18
	Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee Meeting

	GET Committee Meeting 4.25.18
	GET Committee Meeting
	Welcome
	Director’s Report
	Director’s Report
	Director’s Report
	Director’s Report
	GET Investment Report�April 25, 2018
	GET Market Values, Asset Allocation, Targets and Ranges�March 31, 2018
	GET Net Contributions and Growth of Assets�March 31, 2018
	GET Performance�March 31, 2018
	Contact Information
	DreamAhead Update
	DreamAhead Update
	DreamAhead Update
	DreamAhead Update
	DreamAhead Overview
	SB 6087 Discussion
	SB 6087 Discussion
	SB 6087 Discussion
	SB 6087 Discussion
	SB 6087 Implementation
	SB 6087 Discussion
	Public Comment
	Next Regular Meeting
	Adjournment

	GET Committee Meeting Minutes_1.17.18_final
	GET Special Committee Meeting Minutes_03.19.18_final
	Special GET Committee Meeting Minutes_04.10.18_final
	GET Q4_17
	GET Q1_18
	cover- GET.pdf
	GET Prepaid College Tuition Program
	Quarterly Report – March 31, 2018




	program-details-booklet

